# Development of *Myrothecium verrucaria* as a mycopesticide for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects

A Thesis submitted to the University of Pune For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy In Microbiology

By Medha Prashant Kulkarni

Division of Biochemical Sciences National Chemical Laboratory Pune-411 008, India February 2007

Sr.No.	Contents	Page No
	List of tables	7-8
	List of figures	9-10
	Acknowledgement	11
	Declaration	12
	List of abbreviations	13
	Abstract	14-23
1.	Chapter 1 Introduction	24-72
1.1	Introduction	25
1.1.1	Pests and pathogens in agriculture	25
1.2	Control of fungal pathogens and insect pests	27
1.2.1	Chemical pest control	27
1.2.1.1	Fungicides	27
1.2.1.2	Insecticides	29
1.2.1.3	Disadvantages of insecticides	31
1.2.2	Biological control agents	32
1.2.2.1	Viruses as biological control agents	33
1.2.2.2	Bacteria as biocontrol agents	34
1.2.2.3	Fungi as biocontrol agents	36
1.3	Host-pathogen interaction	40
1.3.1	Structure of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle	40
1.3.2	Fungus-fungus interaction	43
1.3.3	Fungus-insect interaction	44
1.3.4	Killing components	45
1.3.4.1	Mycolytic and cuticle degrading enzyme complexes	45
1.3.4.2	Antibiotics and toxins	47
1.4	Development of mycopesticide	49
1.4.1	Strain	49
1.4.1.1	Isolation	49
1.4.1.2	Habitat association	51
1.4.1.3	Criteria for strain selection	52

# Table of contents

1.4.1.4	Strain improvement	53
1.4.1.5	Preservation of fungi	54
1.4.2	Production of fungal biocontrol agents	54
1.4.2.1	Living propagules	54
1.4.2.2	Fungal metabolites	57
1.4.3	Formulation	62
1.4.3.1	Types of formulations	62
1.4.3.2	Storage and shelf life	65
1.4.4	Application	65
1.4.5	Risk assessment	67
1.4.6	Registration and commercialization	68
1.5	Present investigations and thesis organization	69
1.5.1	Myrothecium verrucaria	69
1.5.2	Objectives of this study	70
1.5.3	Thesis organization	71
2.	Chapter 2 Materials and methods	73-92
2.1	Materials	74
2.2	Organisms	74
2.2.1	Media	75
2.2.2	Maintenance	76
2.2.3	Growth of <i>M. verrucaria</i> on different media	76
2.3	Hypha-yeast transition in <i>M. verrucaria</i>	77
2.3.1	Morphological triggers	77
2.3.2	Spore germination under yeast- and hypha-favouring	77
	conditions	
2.4	Aerial conidia production using solid- state fermentation	78
2.5	Cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex of <i>M</i> .	78
	verrucaria	
2.5.1	Shake flask studies	78
2.5.2	Fermenter studies	78
2.5.3	Concentration of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme	79
	complex	
2.6	Plate assays to study antagonistic interaction	79

2.6.1	Dual culture plate assay	79
2.6.2	Viability of sclerotia	80
2.6.3	Effect of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation	80
	on germination of conidia	
2.6.4	Peanut germination trial	81
2.7	Sudan black B staining of yeast-like cells	81
2.8	Enzyme assays	81
2.8.1	Chitinase	81
2.8.2	In situ estimation of endochitinase and N-	82
	acetylglucosaminidase	
2.8.3	Chitosanase assay	83
2.8.4	Protease assay	83
2.8.5	Lipase assay	83
2.8.6	β-1,3-Glucanase assay	84
2.8.7	Mannanase assay	84
2.8.8	Amylase assay	84
2.8.9	Cellulase assay	85
2.8.10	NAD(P)-glutamate dehydrogenase assay	85
2.8.11	Nitrate reductase assay	85
2.8.12	Mandelonitrile lyase assay	86
2.9	Estimation of reducing sugars	86
2.10	Protein estimation	87
2.11	Thin layer chromatography	87
2.12	Native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and activity	87
	staining of NAD- and NADP- glutamate dehydrogenases	
2.13	18s rRNA gene sequence analysis	88
2.14	Immobilization of yeast-like cells in alginate beads	88
2.15	Formulation of conidia with different carriers	89
2.16	Biocontrol of fungal pathogens of plants (Pot	89
	experiments)	
2.17	Insect bioassay	90
2.18	Field trial	92

3.	Chapter 3 Morphological, cultural, biochemical and	93-119
	molecular characterization of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	
3.1	Introduction	94
3.2	Results and discussion	95
3.2.1	Morphological and cultural characteristics of <i>M</i> .	95
	verrucaria	
3.22	Morphological transition in <i>M. verrucaria</i>	98
3.2.2.1	Nature of unicellular growth	98
3.2.2.2	H-Y reversible transition	100
3.2.2.3	Morphological triggers	102
3.2.2.4	Y-H transition in <i>M. verrucaria</i>	109
3.2.2.5	Spore germination under H and Y form triggering conditions	111
3.2.3	Biochemical characterization of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	111
3.2.3.1	Endochitinase and N-acetylglucosaminidase	111
3.2.3.2	NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases and	114
	nitrate reductase	
3.2.4	Molecular characterization of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	117
4.	Chapter 4 Mycopesticide production	120-147
<b>4</b> A	Production of living propagules, conidia and yeast-like	121
	cells of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	
4A.1	Introduction	121
4A.2	Results and discussion	122
4A.2.1	Production of conidia using solid-state fermentation	122
4A.2.1.1	Selection of the solid substrate	122
4A.2.1.2	Effect of water content	124
4B.2.1.3	Effect of incubation temperature	125
4A.2.1.4	Effect of an inoculum	126
4A.2.2	Production of yeast-like cells of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	128
4A.2.2.1	Effect of nature of inoculum	128
4A.2.2.2	Production of mycolytic enzymes using yeast-like cells	129
4 B	Production of cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzyme	132
	complex of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	
4 <b>B</b> .1	Introduction	132

4B.2	Results and discussion	133
4B.2.1	Shake flask studies	133
4B.2.1.1	Effect of different chitin sources	133
4B.2.1.2	Effect of corn steep liquor and molasses	133
4B.2.1.3	Effect of controlled pH	134
4B.2.1.4	Effect of an inoculum	135
4B.2.1.5	Effect of agitation	137
4B.2.1.6	Effect of cultivation volume	138
4B.2.1.7	Time course for production of cuticle degrading/mycolytic	139
	enzyme complex in shake flask	
4B.2.2	Fermenter studies	141
4B.2.2.1	Effect of agitation	141
4B.2.2.2	Effect of aeration	143
4B.2.2.3	Time course for production of cuticle degrading/mycolytic	145
	enzyme complex by <i>M. verrucaria</i>	
5.	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and	148-167
5.	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and	148-167
5.	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests	148-167
5. 5.1	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests Introduction	<b>148-167</b> 149
5. 5.1 5.2	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests Introduction Results and discussion	<b>148-167</b> 149 150
5. 5.1 5.2 5.2.1	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests Introduction Results and discussion Formulation studies	148-167 149 150 150
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests Introduction Results and discussion Formulation studies Conidial formulation	148-167 149 150 150 150
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of <i>M. verrucaria</i> against fungal and insect pests Introduction Results and discussion Formulation studies Conidial formulation Yeast-like cells formulation	148-167 149 150 150 150 152
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanut	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsinsect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanutPlate assays	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155 155
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2.2</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsinsect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanutPlate assaysPot experiments	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155 155 157
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.2</li> <li>5.2.3</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanutPlate assaysPot experimentsControl of insect pests	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155 155 157 160
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2.2</li> <li>5.2.3</li> <li>5.2.3.1</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal and insect pestsinsect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanutPlate assaysPot experimentsControl of insect pestsInsect bioassays	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155 155 155 157 160 160
<ul> <li>5.</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.2.1</li> <li>5.2.1.2</li> <li>5.2.1.3</li> <li>5.2.2</li> <li>5.2.2.1</li> <li>5.2.2.2</li> <li>5.2.3</li> <li>5.2.3.1</li> <li>5.2.3.2</li> </ul>	Chapter 5 Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules andenzymic components of M. verrucaria against fungal andinsect pestsIntroductionResults and discussionFormulation studiesConidial formulationYeast-like cells formulationCuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparationControl of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanutPlate assaysPot experimentsLontrol of insect pestsInsect bioassaysField trial	148-167 149 150 150 150 152 154 155 155 155 157 160 160 160 165

Α	Appendix 1 Development of a new method for estimation	168-175
	of chitinase	
A 1	Introduction	169
A 2	Results and discussion	169
A 2.1	Substrate preparation	169
A 2.2	Effect of substrate concentration	170
A 2.3	Effect of incubation time	171
A 2.4	Effect of enzyme concentration	171
A 2.5	Thin layer chromatography	172
A 2.6	Definition of unit	174
A 2.7	Validation and specificity of the assay	174
6.	Chapter 6 Conclusion	176-180
7.	Chapter 7 References	181-199
8.	List of publications, patents and presentation	200-201

# List of tables

Sr.No.	Titles	Page No.
1.1	Major fungal pathogens and insect pests of cash crops	26
1.2	Fungi as biocontrol agents against plant pathogenic fungi and insect pests	38
1.3	Production of fungal chitinases	60
2.1	Sources of chemicals and materials	74
2.2	List of organisms used	75
2.3	Media	75
3.1	Effect of carbon source on H-Y transition in M. verrucaria	102
3.2	Effect of nitrogen source on H-Y transition in M. verrucaria	104
3.3	Effect of initial pH of the medium on morphology of <i>M</i> . <i>verrucaria</i>	107
3.4	Effect of continuous maintenance of initial pH on H-Y transition in <i>M. verrucaria</i>	108
3.5	Differential expression of NADP- and NAD-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases and nitrate reductase during H-Y reversible transition in <i>M. verrucaria</i>	115
4.1	Production of <i>M. verrucaria</i> conidia on various solid substrates	123
4.2	Effect of nature of inoculum on the production of <i>M. verrucaria</i> yeast-like cells	129
4.3	Production of mycolytic enzymes using different morphologies of <i>M. verrucaria</i> as inoculum	130
4.4	Effect of addition of corn steep liquor and molasses in medium on chitinase production by <i>M. verrucaria</i>	134
5.1	Concentration of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation using different methods	154
5.2	Control of pre-emergence rot in peanut using various formulations containing <i>M. verrucaria</i> conidia or yeast-like cells	158
5.3	Control of pre-emergence rot in peanut using mycolytic enzyme preparation of <i>M. verrucaria</i>	160

5.4	Effect of <i>M. verrucaria</i> cuticle degrading enzyme preparation on 3 <sup>rd</sup> instar larvae of <i>H. armigera, S. litura</i> and <i>P. xylostella</i>	161
5.5	Effect of <i>M. verrucaria</i> cuticle degrading enzyme preparation on <i>C. lanigera</i>	161
5.6	Use of entomopathogenic fungi and cuticle degrading enzyme preparation of <i>M. verrucaria</i> singly or in combination against $3^{rd}$ instar <i>H. armigera</i> larvae	164
A 1	Effect of the substrate concentrations on the chitinase activity	170
A 2	Effect of incubation time on dye and <i>N</i> -acetylglucosamine released from Red-chitin	171
A 3	Effect of different enzymes on colloidal Red-chitin	174

#### Sr.No. Titles Page No. 1.1 Structure of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle 42 1.2 Approach and strategy for the development of 50 mycopesticide 3.1 Cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* on various media 97 3.2 99 Sudan black B staining of yeast cells and chlamydospores 3.3 H-Y reversible transition in M. Verrucaria 101 3.4 Effect of nitrogen source and pH on Y-H transition of 110 *M. verrucaria* M. verrucaria spore germination on H and Y form 3.5 112 favouring media Intracellular chitinolytic activities of M. verrucaria during 3.6 113 dimorphic transition 3.7 Activity staining of NADP- and NAD-dependent 117 glutamate dehydrogenases in M. verrucaria 3.8 Myr 18s: AY129004, the sequence of Myrothecium 118 verrucaria 18s rRNA gene and Myr ITS1:AY129005, the sequence of ITS1 region 4.1 Effect of initial water content on M. verrucaria conidia 124 production under solid-state fermentation conditions 4.2 Effect of incubation temperature on M. verrucaria conidia 125 production under solid-state fermenation conditions 4.3 Effect of inoculum concentration on growth and 127 sporulation of *M. verrucaria* on sorghum grains 4.4 Effect of controlled pH on chitinase production by M. 135 verrucaria 4.5 Effect of mycelial inoculum density on chitinase 136 production by *M. verrucaria* 4.6 Effect of agitation on chitinase production by M. 138 verrucaria

### List of figures

4.7	Effect of cultivation volume on chitinase production by <i>M. verrucaria</i>	139
4.8	The production profile of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex by <i>M. verrucaria</i> under shake flask conditions	140
4.9	Variation in biomass, extracellular protein and chitinase production with agitation rate	142
4.10	Time course of chitinase production using <i>M. verrucaria</i> under different aeration rates	143
4.11	Time course of DO level under different aeration rates during chitinase production using <i>M. verrucaria</i>	144
4.12	Time course for cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex production in stirred tank fermenter	145
4.13	Productivity of different cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzymes under shake flask and fermenter (15 l) levels	146
5.1	Effect of temperature on viability of <i>M. verrucaria</i> conidia formulated with different carriers	151
5.2	Effect of temperature on viability of yeast-like cells entrapped in alginate beads with or without chitin	153
5.3	Effect of mycolytic enzyme complex of <i>M. verrucaria</i> on the viability of sclerotia under plate assay conditions	156
5.4	Residual chitinase activity in soil after weekly soil application with mycolytic enzyme preparation for the control of pre-emergence rot in peanut	159
5.5	Effect of cuticle drgrading enzyme preparation of <i>M. verrucaria</i> on insect pests	162
5.6	Efficacy, pod damage and yield of different treatments against <i>H. armigera</i> infestation on chickpea under field conditions	166
A 1	Correlation between absorbance at 530 nm with the <i>N</i> -acetylglucosamine produced during chitinase assay	172
A 2	Thin layer chromatogram showing <i>N</i> -acetyl glucosamine released from labeled and unlabeled chitin substrate	173

#### Acknowledgement

I am indeed lucky to have Dr. M. V. Deshpande as my guide and express my sincere gratitude for his motivation, inspiring guidance, constructive criticism and support during the present work. His words of encouragement and unconditional dedication to science will always be cherished.

I would like to thank senior scientists Dr. A. Natu, Dr. Gokhale, Dr. A. Lachke, Dr. S. Gaikwad for their help, discussions and suggestions.

It's my pleasure to offer my thanks to Dr. Jogdand (Chemical Engineering and Process Development, NCL) for his help in concentration of M. verrucaria enzyme preparation by ultrafiltration and spray drying. Thanks are also due to Dr. Y. Shauche (National Center for Cell Sciences) for helping me with the studies on 18s rRNA gene sequence analysis of M. verrucaria.

I would particularly like to thank my colleagues and friends Vandana, Manisha Chitnis, Reeta, Namita, Pallavi, Priya, Santosh Chavan, Santosh Vyas, Chetan, Sriniwas, Rajkumar, Mahesh Kulye, Ashok, Ashwini, Gouri, Mahesh Khot, Fazal, Govinder, Shuklangi, Pradnya, Meghraj, Vishwajit, Rajendran, Manisha Kapoor and Aishwarya for their co-operation, helpful suggestions and maintaining good cheer in the laboratory. The co-operation of all other colleagues at the Department, constant motivation and cheer also deserves a special mention.

My parents and in-laws have been the main motivators and have always been with me. Their encouragement and adjustment on several fronts has made it possible for me to complete this work. Prashant, my husband has been extremely co-operative, considerate and patient with me. His constant support holds a special place in the making of this thesis.

I am also grateful to head of the Divison of Biochemical sciences and Directors of NCL, Pune for giving me the opportunity to work in this institute and making all the facilities available for my research work.

Medha Kulkarni

# Certificate

Certified that the work incorporated in the thesis entitled "**Development of** *Myrothecium verrucaria* as a mycopesticide for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects." submitted by Mrs. Medha Prashant Kulkarni was carried out under my supervision. Such material as has been obtained from other sources has been acknowledged in the thesis.

> (M. V. Deshpande) Research Guide

### List of abbreviations

EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid		
GlcNAc	N-Acetylglucosamine		
4-MU-(GlcNAc)	$\label{eq:second} 4-methylumbelliferyl-\beta-D-\textit{N-acetyl-glucosaminide}$		
4-MU(GlcNAc) <sub>3</sub>	4-methylumbelliferyl- $\beta$ -D- $N$ - $N$ triacetyl chitotrioside		
μg	Microgram		
μΙ	Microliter		
mM	Milimole		
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide		
NADP	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate		
nM	Nanomole		
TCA	Trichloro acetic acid		
w/v	Weight by volume		

### Abstract

India is one of the world's largest countries dependent on agriculture. The 1012.4 million population use agricultural commodities from 124.07 million hectares cropped area. Since early 1980's, improved irrigation, introduction of chemical fertilizers and use of high yielding crop varieties have led to a phenomenal growth in food grain production in the country (Wahab, 2004). However, on the other hand intensive and extensive cultivation of high yielding crop varieties, new cropping sequences, especially mono-cropping along with indiscriminate use of pesticides resulted in many problems of insect pests and diseases caused by fungi, bacteria, viruses and others.

The plant pathogenic fungi inflict considerable losses in harvestable yield; reduce aesthetic value and storage life of agricultural crops. Yield losses due to fungal diseases causing wilts, rots, cankers, rusts, smuts and mildews vary depending on the crop and region. While 200 major insect pests are of economic importance. Crop losses due to *Helicoverpa armigera*, a dreadful pest of cotton, pigeon pea, chickpea, peanut, sorghum, pearl millet, tomato, etc. have been estimated to be Rs. 10 million per year in India.

Biological control of plant fungal pathogens and pests involves the use of microbial antagonists such as bacteria, viruses, fungi and/or their products like enzymes, enzyme inhibitors and antibiotics. The viral and bacterial preparations are effective after ingestion while the fungal agents act by contact. The biocontrol of root infecting fungi was successfully achieved using the mycoparasitic fungi like *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Gliocladium virens* (Goldman and Goldman, 1998). The mycoparasitic fungi, secrete hydrolytic enzymes (mycolytic enzymes, ME) to degrade the main chemical constituents of the fungal cell wall, i.e., chitin, glucans

and proteins. Similarly, chitinase, protease and lipase, main components of a cuticle degrading enzyme complex (CDE) facilitated the penetration of entomopathogenic fungi like *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* into the insect body (Krieger de Moraes *et al*, 2003; St. Leger *et al*, 1986). Thus, the major interest in the present studies was to understand whether a fungus secreting high amounts of CDE/ME can be used to develop a biocontrol formulation with dual action, against fugal pathogens and insect pests. *M. verrucaria*, a saprophytic fungus known to produce high amounts of CDE/ME activities was selected for the present studies. Attempts were made to develop mycopesticide comprising of living propagules or CDE/ME components of *M. verrucaria* to control fungal pathogens and insect pests.

An extensive literature survey on development of mycopesticide for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insect pests has been illustrated in the **Introduction (Chapter 1)**. Emphasis has been given to fungal pathogens and insect pests in agriculture, current biocontrol strategies, market status, production, formulation and application of fungal biocontrol agents, use of different fungal propagules and their enzymic and non-enzymic components in biocontrol, Integrated Pest Management and possible future strategies.

The **Materials and methods (Chapter 2)** utilized in the course of these investigations include details of growth and maintenance of *M. verrucaria* and plant pathogenic fungi such as *S. rolfsii* and *F. oxysporum*, shake flask and solid state fermentation experiments for the production of conidia and yeast like cells and hydrolytic enzymes and their formulations prepared for field trials using different agricultural wastes as carriers have been described. Assays for enzymes like chitinase, chitosanase, chitin deacetyalse,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, alkaline protease, lipase, NAD- and NADP- dependent glutamate dehydrogenases, nitrate reductase and nitrilase have also been included. A novel spectrophotometric method

developed for chitinase assay was also included. The biochemical techniques include ultrafiltration and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Molecular techniques including isolation of genomic DNA, PCR, DNA sequencing and analysis have also been given. The plate assays, pot experiments and field experiments have been given in this chapter.

**Morphological, cultural, biochemical and molecular characterisation of** *M. verrucaria* (Chapter 3) was carried out. Morphological and cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* were studied to develop a medium supporting good vegetative growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria*. The maximum growth and sporulation were observed on potato dextrose agar (PDA), bean pod extract agar, carrot agar and maltose containing medium within 7 d incubation at 28°C.

For the first time it was observed that on a synthetic medium containing sucrose and ammonium sulphate, pH 4.0, *M. verrucaria* grew in an unicellular yeast like cells. On agar medium, cream coloured, mucoid colonies with grainy appearance were seen. Sudan black B staining to detect storage lipids revealed that the unicellular form of *M. verrucaria* resembled the actively metabolizing yeast cells rather than the resting chlamydospores. In a medium containing sodium nitrate, at pH 6.0, yeast like cells changed to hyphal form. The morphological transition in *M. verrucaria* was freely reversible. The conidia of *M. verrucaria* also displayed the dimorphic response during germination in presence of morphological triggers. Under the conditions favouring yeast form, conidia germinated into yeast cell while under hypha favouring conditions germ tube formation was observed.

A number of biochemical events precede to the morphological transition in fungi. Various biochemical correlates of the fungal morphogenesis were extensively reviewed by Deshpande (1998a). One of the significant biochemical

correlate, the chitinase complex comprising of endochitinase and *N*-acetylglucosaminidase played a significant role in several aspects of life cycle of fungi, such as hyphal tip growth, spore germination, cell separation etc. (Patil *et al*, 2000). The chitnolytic activities were estimated *in situ* using 4-methylumbelliferyl labeled fluorogenic substrates with permeabilised yeast-like cells/hyphae of *M. verrucaria*. During Y-H transition, the endochitinase activity increased 5.5 fold within first 12h of transition. Increase in endochitinase activity observed during the Y-H transition was attributed to its role in weakening the cell wall (Ghormade *et al*, 2000). *N*-Acetylglucosaminidase activity was also increased steadily throughout the Y-H transition. The reverse trend was noted during H-Y transition.

It has been reported that NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases have biochemical correlation with the morphological outcome (Amin *et al*, 2004; Ghormade *et al*, 2005a, b). In case of *M. verrucaria* the similar observation has been noted. For instance the relative proportion of NAD- and NADP-GDHs measured as the NADP-/NAD-GDH ratio was higher in the yeast form ( $7.7 \pm 0.4$ ) produced in the medium containing ammonium sulphate than in the hyphal cells ( $3.8 \pm 0.2$ ) produced in the medium containing sodium nitrate. The relationship between nitrate reductase involved in nitrate assimilation and NAD(P)-GDHs has been studied.

The sequence analysis of ribosomal DNA has been widely utilized for molecular systematics and identification of microorganisms (Mitchell *et al*, 1995; Sugita *et al*, 2002). The analysis of ITS (internal transcribed spacer) regions has been carried out mainly to identify or differentiate closely related species of pathogenic yeast (Chen *et al*, 2000; Gupta *et al*, 2000; Lott *et al*, 1998). To identify the genomic marker which can differentiate the *M. verrucaria* strain exhibiting

higher production of CDE/ME complex and hypha-yeast transition from other isolates of *M. verrucaria*, 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequence analysis was carried out. The genomic DNA was isolated from *M. verrucaria* mycelium using the DNA extraction protocol of Wendland *et al* (1996). Nuclear 18s rRNA gene and ITS 1 sequences were amplified using primers NS1 and ITS1, respectively. The sequence data was analyzed using NCBI server (http//:www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST). The 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequences were found highly homologous across the species. The analysis of genes or regions that have greater divergence may prove helpful in developing a genomic marker for *M. verrucaria* strain. The Genbank accession number for the 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequences reported in the thesis are: Myr 18s:AY129004 and Myr ITS1: Ay129005.

The characterisation studies were followed by studies on **Mycopesticide production (Chapter 4)**. Most of the fungal biocontrol formulations used conidia, while structures like blastospores, zygospores, chlamydospores, yeast cells and mycelia were also used (Deshpande, 1999). The aerial conidia of *M. verrucaria* were successfully used for the seed dressing, to control the infection of *Derechslera teres*, in barley (Mostafa *et al*, 1993). In present investigations it was seen that sorghum and pearl millet grains supported the highest production of conidia (1.3-1.6 x 10<sup>9</sup> conidia/g of substrate) as compared to rice, beaten rice and wheat ( $10^5 - 10^6$  conidia/g of substrate). Wheat bran, rice bran and prawn shell waste did not support sporulation. Other biochemical and biophysical parameters were optimized for the production of *M. verrucaria* conidia (**Chapter 4A**).

The extracellular CDE/ME complex was produced by growing *M. verrucaria*, in chitin containing medium using chitin (0.5% w/v) as a sole source of carbon. *M. verrucaria* produced high levels of chitinase ( $1.8 \pm 0.2$  U/ml), chitosanase ( $1.6 \pm 0.2$ U/ml), lipase ( $1.5 \pm 0.2$  U/ml),  $\beta$ -1,3 glucanase ( $0.23 \pm 0.003$  U/ml), mannanase (0.019± 0.004 U/ml) and alkaline protease (0.013 ± 0.004 U/ml), under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C for 7 d. Attempts were also made to produce CDE/ME complex in 15 l capacity stirred tank fermenter. Increase in the rate of aeration as well as agitation resulted in increase in foaming. The chitin particles entrapped in foam accumulate above the liquid surface making the substrate inaccessible to the growing mycelium of *M. verrucaria*. The fermentation was carried out at aeration rate of 0.5 vvm and agitation rate of 300 rpm, at 28°C for 5 d. The proper mixing of chitin particles in culture broth was observed under these conditions. High chitinase (2680 U/10L/day) activity was produced along with  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase (260 U/10L/day), protease (23 U/10L/day) and lipase (1890 U/10L/day in stirred tank fermenter **(Chapter 4B)**.

Chapter 5 (Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic components of *M. verrucaria* against fungal and insect pests) describes the studies on formulation, mode of application of different preparations and their efficacy to control pre-emergence rot of peanut caused by *S. rolfsii* under green house conditions. While biocontrol efficacy of different preparations against insect pests, *H. armigera*, *S. litura*, *P. xylostella* and *C. lanigera* was tested under laboratory and/or field conditions.

The conidia obtained by solid-state fermentation were harvested using 0.01% Tween 80. The conidial suspension  $(1 \times 10^{10} \text{ conidia/ml})$  was used to develop biocontrol formulation containing organic carriers like rice bran, wheat bran, prawn shell waste and conventionally used carriers like charcoal powder or precipitated silica powder. The preparations were stored in sealed plastic bags, at room temperature. *M. verrucaria* conidia in organic carriers wheat and rice bran with and without chitin supplement (2 g chitin per 100 g wheat or rice bran formulation) retained >80% viability when stored at 4°C and 54-62% viability

after 18 months storage at room temperature. When prawn shell waste, charcoal powder and precipitated silica were used as carriers, the TVC after 18 months were 10, 22, 18 %, respectively). The rice bran formulation of conidia with and without chitin supplement was used for soil application to control the *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut.

*M. verrucaria* yeast-like cells were immobilised in alginate beads with and without 0.5% chitin. The air dried beads were then stored in air tight sterile plastic vials. *M. verrucaria* yeast like cells were stable in alginate beads with or without chitin (>80% TVC after 3 months storage) at room temperature. However, high chitinase (0.9 U/ml) activity was produced when chitin containing *M. verrucaria* beads were used as inoculum for chitinase production as compared to the beads without chitin.

Attempts were made to concentrate CDE /ME preparation, using polysulphone hollow fiber membrane of 10 kDa molecular weight cut-off. This was further concentrated using spray drying or freeze drying. The maximum recovery of chitinase activity (71.3%) was noted after concentration of enzyme preparation by freeze drying. While concentration by spray drying was found unsuitable as resulted in 67.2% loss in the recovery of chitinase activity.

The soil application with rice bran + chitin formulation of conidia and yeastlike cells immobilized in alginate with chitin was found to protect the seeds from the infection with *S. rolfsii*. The disease control was attributed to the slow release of mycolytic enzymes by vegetative cells of *M. verrucaria* in soil.

The pot experiment was carried out to study the effect of mycolytic enzyme preparation on the control of *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut. The CDE/ME preparation (chitinase 5-20 U/pot) was used for soil irrigation at a weekly interval. The treatment

with 10 and 20 U chitinase/pot, up to 3 weeks resulted in 40 and 70% increase in seed germination, respectively. Chitinase retained >80% activity in soil after 24 h.

The bioassays were carried out to check the effect of CDE complex on the insects, *H.armigera*, *S. litura*, and *P. xylostella* with appropriate controls. *P. xylostella* larvae were found to be most susceptible to enzyme preparation containing 2.0 U/ml chitinase (37% mortality within 72 h), while the same concentration of CDE preparation resulted in abnormal morphologies in *S. litura* during larval-pupal ecdysis. The 90, 80 and 73.33 % mortality of *P. xylostella*, *S. litura* and *H. armigera*, respectively was seen within 72 h when treated with CDE preparation containing 6.0 U/ml chitinase activity.

The effect of CDE preparation on the control of sugarcane woolly aphid, *Ceratovacuna lanigera* was studied under laboratory conditions. *C. lanigera* cuticle contains chitin and lipoproteins which was covered with woolly mass comprised of wax and lipids. The wooly mass was hydrolysed in the presence of CDE preparation containing 2 U/ml lipase. The mortality of *C. lanigera* nymphs and adults increased from 64 to 88% when the concentration of CDE preparation was increased from 1.0 to 6.0 U/ml chitinase. ME components of the enzyme preparation also affected the germination of fungal pathogen, *Capnodium* sp. causing secondary infection to sugarcane leaves.

The insect pathogenic fungi are being extensively used to control insect pests (Nahar *et al*, 2004). The major concern is of the possible change of the ecological balance of soil flora due to these exotic strains (Cook *et al*, 1996). The effect of enzyme preparation in combination with *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* or *N. reliyi* conidia to control *H. armigera* in pulses was studied. *M. verrucaria* CDE preparation (chitinase 2 U/ml) in combination with the entomopathogenic fungi, reduced the

dose of entomopathogenic fungi by 100 times to achieve >70% mortality. Furthermore, the enzyme complex did not affect the viability of conidia.

The efficacy of CDE preparation of *M. verrucaria* to control *H. armigera* infestation in chickpea was studied in field in a randomized block design. The % efficacy of enzyme preparation 500 l/ha  $(3x10^6 \text{ U chitinase})$  was 60.94, the reduction in pod damage over untreated control was 56.49% and the increase in yield was 37.60%. The field trial results showed that the efficacy of CDE treatment for the control of *H. armigera* was at par with that of conventionally used chemical (endosulfan) or biological control agents (HaNPV).

Many plants produce cyanogenic glycosides, which may have role in defense against phytopathogens. These cyanoglycosides were oxidized by oxygenases to cyanohydrins, which were further converted to an aldehyde and HCN by oxynitrilases (hydroxynitrile lyases). This type of enzymatic system was found in many plants and insects but almost unknown in microorganisms. However, *M. verrucaria* is known to utilize nitrile compounds with the help of nitrilases (Maier-Greiner *et al*, 1991). In extracts of yeast/hyphal cells and conidia of *M. verrucaria* as well as in CDE/ME preparation, mandelonitrile lyase (oxynitrilase) activity required to produce HCN was not detected. This indicated its non-toxic nature, in general too.

A rapid and sensitive method was developed for the quantitative estimation of chitinase using the colloidal chitin prepared from Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin (**Appendix 1**). The method was found suitable for the screening of chitinolytic organisms.

Thus present studies revealed that *M. verrucaria*, organism itself and extracellular hydrolytic enzymes can be effectively used to control fungal plant pathogens as well as insect pests (**Chapter 6 Conclusion**). The use of enzyme mixture in combination with an insect pathogenic fungus will be useful in an

integrated approach to control insect pests. Of course, the increased shelf-life and cost effective production of the enzyme mixture are the major concerns.

The **Reference** list is given in the **Chapter 7**.

Chapter 1

**Introduction** 

#### **1.1 Introduction**

India is one of the world's largest agrarian countries. Total cultivable land area is 124.07 mha, major part of it falling under tropical climate. A variety of cereals, oil seeds, pulses, vegetables and horticultural crops are cultivated in India (Reddy and Zehr, 2004). Since the Green Revolution of 1980s, improved irrigation, introduction of chemical fertilizers and use of high yielding crop varieties have led to >30% increase in food grain production in the country (http://edugreen.teri.res.in/explore/bio/green.htm). This boost in agricultural produce and revenue made farmer happy because of his improved monetary condition giving favourable signals to the national economy. This seemingly favourable situation unfortunately did not last long. The fertile land slowly lost its texture, quality and fertility resulting in low levels of agricultural production. Many factors were responsible for this such as an intensive cultivation of high vielding crop varieties, change in cropping pattern, mono-cropping, extensive use of chemical fertilizers to name a few. Over and above excessive and indiscriminate use of chemical pesticides by farmers with lack of proper training and education made the situation worst. This resulted in many problems of insect pests and diseases caused by fungi, bacteria, viruses and others (Gupta, 2004; Wahab, 2004).

### 1.1.1 Pests and pathogens in agriculture

The fungal diseases such as wilt, rots, cankers, rusts, smuts and mildews cause considerable losses in yield, reduce the aesthetic value and storage life of agricultural commodities. Infection by fungal pathogens in the field or in post-harvest storage also affects the health of humans and livestock, especially when the contaminating organism produces toxic residues in or on consumable products (Cheeke, 1995; Diekman and Green, 1992; Nelson *et al*, 1993). There are 200 major varieties of pests of economic importance belonging to insect orders Coleoptera, Diptera, Hemiptera, Lepidoptera, Orthoptera, Thysanoptera and Acarina. Crop losses due to *Helicoverpa armigera*, a dreadful pest of cotton, pigeon pea, chickpea, peanut, sorghum, pearl millet, tomato, etc. have been estimated to be over Rs. 10 billion per year in India. Number of fungal pathogens and insect pests of cash crops are depicted in Table 1.1.

Crop	Fungal pathogen	Loss in	Insect pest	Loss in
		yield		yield
		(%)		(%)
Wheat	Puccinia	15-17	Mythemna	20-42
	recondiata,		separata	
	Helminthosporium			
	sativum			
Rice	Magnaporthe	20-21	Dicladispa	24 - 45
	grisea, Rhizoctonia solani		armigera	
Pulses: Chickpea,	Fusarium udum	20-24	Helicoverpa	28-30
Pigeon pea			armigera	
Cotton	Phytophthora sp.	5-7%	Helicoverpa	18-31
			armigera,	
			Bemisia tabaci	
Mustard	Alternaria brasicae	28-30	Plutella	20-35
			xylostella	
Peanut	Sclerotium rolfsii	35-50	Spodoptera	60-71
	0		litura	
Sugarcane	Colletotricum	14-20	Ceratovacuna	26-30
	falcatum		lanigera	
V 11 011		15 50		20.52
Vegetables: Cabbage,	Phytophthora	15-50	Plutella	20-52
Cauliflower,	capsici		xylostella,	
Chilli			Spoaoptera	
			iitura	

Table 1.1 Major fungal pathogens and insect pests of cash crops

\* Compiled from: Alexander and Viswanathan, 1996; Babujee and Gananamanickam, 2000; Grover and Pental, 2003; Joshi and Viraktmath, 2004; Kumar, 2005; Mallikarjuna *et al*, 2004; Patibanda *et al*, 2002; Rangeshwaran *et al*, 2001; Reddy and Zehr, 2004.

When viewed with a wide angle, the problem of insect pests and fungal pathogens of crop plants is quite complicated due to heavy losses to agricultural production of the country, directly or indirectly disturbing the national economy. This becomes an important topic of the day for research and needs multidisciplinary approach and efforts to solve it.

#### 1.2 Control of fungal pathogens and insect pests

### **1.2.1** Chemical pest control

In modern agriculture, the use of chemical fungicides and insecticides has a short history. However, they received a major position in routine agricultural practices due to their rapid action and low cost. Average use of herbicides in the world is about 45% followed by insecticides 36%, fungicides 17% and other chemicals 2%. While insecticides are used to a large extent, about 80% in India followed by fungicides 10%, herbicides 7% and other chemicals 3% (Wahab, 2004). Among the total pesticides used in the country, more than 60% of the pesticides, worth of nearly USD 630 million are consumed annually in the agriculture sector (Reddy and Zehr, 2004).

#### 1.2.1.1 Fungicides

The discovery of Bordeaux mixture by P.M.A. Millardet (1878) is considered to be the first important landmark in the history of chemical disease control. This mixture was found effective in controlling the downy mildew of grapes caused by a fungus *Plasmopara viticola*. Other first generation fungicides are inorganic chemicals like copper and tin derivatives. The second generation of fungicides is of organic chemicals. These include Organotins, Quinines, Thiocarbamates (dialkyldithiocarbamates and monoalkyldithiocarbamates), Captan and related compounds, Chlorothalonil and Pentachloronitrobenzene (De Waard *et al*, 1993). These compounds are surface protectants like inorganic fungicides and are effective as a preventive measure. The development of resistance in target fungi led to the discovery of new fungicide molecules. Third generation fungicides are also organic but penetrated the plant tissue and controlled established infections. These systemic fungicides were Carboxamides, 2-Aminopyrimidines, Benzimidazoles or Benzimidazole generating compounds, Phenylamides, Fosetyl-Al, Azoles and related compounds and Morpholines. Triazole fungicides, Etaconazole, Flusilazole, Myclobutanil, Penconazole, Triademefon and Triademenol were effectively used for the control of powdery mildew of grapes caused by Uncinula necator (Pearson et al, 1994). The designing of fourth generation of fungicides was governed by features viz. biodegradability in natural situations and selectivity in mode of action to reduce non-target effect (Leroux, 1996, 2003; Gullino et al, 2000). Howard and Valent (1996) reported that fungicides like Capropamid did not inhibit vegetative hyphal growth of *Magnaporthe grisea* but specifically interfere with melanin deposition in appresoria, an essential step for efficient pathogenecity of rice blast fungus. Quinoxyfen, a potent protectant fungicide against powdery mildew, prevents appressoria formation and host penetration. Sterol biosynthesis inhibitors (SBIs) that are active against ergosterol biosynthesis, a component of fungal cell membrane are being successfully used as fungicides (Beffa, 2004). Strobilurin group of fungicides is excellent inhibitors of fungal spore germination. However, the same mode of action shared by them led to the development of cross-resistance to other Strobilurin products. Consequently, the use of Strobilurins in the disease control programmes has to be managed to reduce the risk of resistance by other pathogens.

#### **1.2.1.2 Insecticides**

The earliest insecticide in the world was reported in France in 1763 with nicotine as an active ingredient. The mixture of lime and tobacco was used to control aphids (Zang *et al*, 2001). During 1800-1850, Pyrethrum a natural insecticide obtained from dried and crushed chrysanthemum flowers; having neurotoxic effects on insects was used in some areas of middle Asia. Pesticide research experienced very fast

development since the 1940s. At that time a number of new classes of pesticides with different structures were produced. Examples are Organochlorines, Organophosphates and Carbamates. DDT (dichloro diphenyl trichloroethane), BHC (benzene hexa-chloride), Strobane, Chlordane, Aldrin and Heptachlor are some of the examples of Organochlorine insecticides. Pesticide use in India began in 1948 when DDT was imported for the malaria control and BHC for locust control (Gupta, 2004). DDT was then used on more than three hundred different agricultural commodities as a general insecticide. Amongst the inorganic pesticides, DDT enjoyed a product life of 50 years all over the world before it got banned as a result of its harmful effects (Prasad, 2004).

Organophosphates like Diazinon, Chlorpyriphos, Endrin, Parathion and Terbufos were developed in early 1950s while Carbamates like Carbaryl, Propoxur, etc. were developed in late 1950s to early 1960s. The primary action of Organophosphates as well as Carbamates involves the inhibition of cholinesterase, an important enzyme in the nervous system. While Organophosphates, Kitazin-P, Parathion, Sulfenimide and Captan selectively prevent chitin formation in insects by inhibiting chitin synthase activity (Deshpande, 1998b). Carbaryl, the largest spectrum insecticide with the capacity of controlling 565 species of pests in 141 crops became the most popular insecticide in 1950s and today is still being widely used (Zang et al, 2001). Insecticides like Diazinon, Ethoprop, Trichlorfon, Bendiocarb, Halofenozide and Carbaryl are used as curative treatment for white grubs (muextension.missouri.edu/xplor). Fadare and Amusa (2003) reported the use of Carbaryl, Endosulfan and Monocrotophos for the control of cotton bollworm complex (H. armigera Hübner, Earias insulana Boisd, E. biplaga Wlk. and Sylepta derogata F.) in Southwestern Nigeria. For the control of recent outbreaks of Ceratovacuna lanigera Zehnter in sugarcane in Maharashtra and Karnataka, chemical insecticides such as Endosulfan, Phosalone, Monocrotophos,

Dimethoate and Metasystox sprays and Acephate and Methyl parathion dust were recommended (Joshi and Viraktmath, 2004).

Synthetic Pyrethroids, a new class of insecticides with neurotoxic effects on insects was introduced in late 1970s (Tikar *et al*, 2004). Examples of synthetic Pyrethroids are Allethrin, Syfluthrin, Cypermethrin, Deltamethrin and Fenvalerate. The Synthetic Pyrethroids contribute 25% of the total pesticides marketed in India (Verma and Singh, 2000). They are used mainly for the control of Organophosphate resistant populations of *P. xylostella* in crucifers and *H. armigera* in cotton and pulses.

To reduce the non-target effects of chemical insecticides a new class of pesticides was discovered, Insect Growth Regulators (IGRs). These were synthetically produced hormones of some insects. IGRs disrupt a number of normal processes in growth and development of insects; however, they did not kill the targeted pest. Juvenoids like Hydroprene and Fenoxycarb hamper the development of sexual organs of insects making them unable to reproduce. Buprofezin, a chitin synthesis inhibiting growth regulator along with Pyriproxyfen, a juvenile hormone analog have been used effectively to control white flies, *Bemisia tabaci* and *B. argentifolii* on cotton and other crops (Dennehy and Williams, 1997; Horowitz and Ishaaya, 1992). Diflubenzuron alone and in combination with Alphacypermethrin and Profenophos reduced the bollworm infestation in cotton significantly (Srinivasan and Uthamsamy, 2001). IGRs provide an ecofriendly alternative for the control of pests of stored grains like Rice moth, *Corcyra cephalonica* Stainton. Diflubenzuron reduced pupation, adult emergence and reproductive potentiality (fecundity, egg viability and longevity of adult) of *C. cephalonica* (Sharma and Bhargava, 2004).

#### **1.2.1.3 Disadvantages of chemical pesticides**

The excessive and indiscriminate use of chemical fungicides and insecticides led to several short term and long term adverse effects. The major problems faced by the agronomists were the large-scale destruction of natural enemies of pests and the development of resistance in target insect pests or fungal pathogens (Pawar, 2004). Thus, the product life of any pesticide is now reduced to 3-5 years increasing the burden on farmers for pest control as it involves the cost of development of new pesticide molecule (Prasad, 2004). Moreover, the human health effects such as immune suppression, hormone disruption, diminished intelligence, reproductive abnormalities and cancer are increasingly linked to the long term, low dose exposure to the toxic residues of pesticides (De Waard *et al*, 1993). In addition to these adverse effects, workers were exposed to occupational hazards in industrial settings and operational hazards during distribution and use in fields (Nigam *et al*, 1993). Pesticides also account for small but significant fraction of acute human and animal poisonings.

According to All India co-ordinated Research Project on Pesticide Residues under the Indian Council of Agricultural Research, 51% of food commodities were found contaminated with pesticide residues and out of these 20% had pesticide residues above maximum residue level (MRL) values as compared to 21% contamination with only 2% above MRL on worldwide basis. The export of several agricultural commodities like cotton, rubber, spices and several fruits like mango, apple, citrus, etc. was affected due to the pesticide residues, for the last few years (Dethe, 2001; Wahab, 2004). Thus to reduce the use of chemical pesticides and risk, alternative biological strategies for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insect pests quickly emerged as an important topic of research in this field.

#### 1.2.2 Biological control agents

Use of biopesticides for crop protection is one of the key elements for the sustainable agriculture. The biopesticides are classified mainly in two groups as biochemicals and microbials. The molecules, structurally and/or functionally related to the molecules of pests with a non-toxic mode of action are used as biochemical pesticides, e.g. pheromones, naturally occurring chemicals that insects use to find mates. Use of chemically synthesized pheromones disrupts insect mating by creating confusion during the search for mates, or by attracting insects to traps (Schmidt-Tiedelmann *et al*, 1999). While microbial pesticides are naturally occurring or genetically altered bacteria, fungi, algae, viruses or protozoans that are used to suppress pests by either producing a toxin specific to the pest, causing a disease or preventing establishment of pest microorganisms through competition or other modes of action (Chavan *et al*, 2006). The living propagules of microorganisms and enzymes, enzyme inhibitors or antibiotics having antifungal or insecticidal properties produced by microorganisms are used singly or in combination.

The characteristics of biocontrol agents, in general which make them potential alternative to chemicals are: a narrow host range and highly specific mode of action, preventive in nature if timely applied, field persistence is generally non-toxic, compatible nature with other components of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) and use in organic farming situations where synthetic fungicides are restricted (Harman, 2000; Tsror *et al*, 2001) and generally safe to humans and plants.

The further discussion will highlight the status of bacteria, viruses and fungi as microbial pesticides with major emphasis on fungi and fungal products.

#### 1.2.2.1 Viruses as biological control agents

The presence of one or more specific segments of viruses like double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) were found to cause diseases in plant pathogenic fungi characterized by reductions in their pathogenecity, ability to form sexual and asexual spores, spore viability and growth (Buck, 1998). It was also reported that dsRNA viruses are ubiquitous in fungi transmitted to compatible strains via cell fusion (McCabe *et al*, 1999). The use of fungal viruses to control fungal plant pathogens is relatively new strategy for biological control of plant diseases and was discovered in Europe after the European chestnut (*Castanea sativa*) was destroyed. The hypo-viruses of the chestnutblight fungus, *Cryphonectria parasitica* were studied for their potential as biological control agents of fungi. Howitt *et al* (1995) worked on viruses of two common plant pathogens, *Botrytis cinerea* (Grey mold) and *Monoliniana fructicola* (brown rot) with the aim of identifying viruses that might be used as biological controls of pathogenic fungi. However, these reports though indicate the possibility of the use of viruses for the biological control of fungal pathogens, notable data is not available.

The viral nature of 'Jaundice disease' of silkworm, *Bombyx mori* was established in 1947, and soon it became clear that viruses were widespread in nature among economically important insect pests and so could potentially be used in pest management in agricultural practices. Since then more than 1600 different viruses infecting insects and mites have been reported. A special group of viruses, called as baculoviruses (nuclear polyhedrosis virus, NPV), to which about 100 insect species were susceptible, account for more than 10 percent of all insect pathogenic viruses (Deshpande, 1998b). Most NPVs were isolated from Lepidoptera (88%), Hymenoptera (6%) and Diptera (5%). These viruses develop in the nuclei of fat body, haemolymph, hypodermis and tracheal matrix. The oral ingestion of polyhedra transmits the disease. The infections may also be transmitted from an infected female via the egg to progeny. Few commercial preparations available are: VFN80<sup>TM</sup> to control Alfalfa looper (*Autographica californica*); Gemstar LC, Biotrol, Elcar against *Helicoverpa zea* in U.S.A.; in Europe for the control of *Trichoplusia*, *Helicoverpa*, *Diparopsis*, *Phthorimacea operculella* (potato tuber moth) a viral preparation is also available under the trade name Mamestrin<sup>TM</sup> (from Database of Microbial Biopesticides (DMB), 2002). NPV studies in India are concentrated on control of *H. armigera* (on chickpea, pigeonpea, sunflower, cotton and tomato), *Spodoptera litura* (on cotton, tobacco, banana and castor), *Amsacta albistriga* (on peanut) and *Mythimna separata* (on sorghum) (Pokharkar, 2004). Loganathan *et al* (2000) reported the effective use of *H. armigera* NPV (HaNPV) for the control of *H. armigera* on chickpea. The formulations of NPV of *H. armigera* and NPV of *S. litura* have already been registered under the insecticide act, 1968, in India.

Although viruses are being used in fields for the pest control, they are specific to one genus ensuring relatively small market. Furthermore, their widespread use is hindered by several problems like rapid deactivation by environmental factors, requirement of living host for the production, their effectiveness only when ingested by the host and longer time from ingestion of lethal dose until death under field conditions (3-15 days) and the development of resistance to NPV in some insect pests like *P. xylostella*.

#### 1.2.2.2 Bacteria as biocontrol agents

The rhizosphere resident antagonistic bacteria were used effectively to control soil borne fungal pathogens of many crop plants. Bacterial genera like *Bacillus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Serratia* and *Stenotrophomonas* were amongst the most effective antagonists of fungi and their antifungal activity was attributed to the production of cell wall degrading enzymes, especially chitinase (Basha and Ulganathan, 2002; Guo *et al*,

2004; Nagrajkumar *et al*, 2004; Zhang and Yuen, 2000). While actinomycetes like *Streptomyces flavescens* and certain other bacteria like *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Bradyrhizobium* sp. were reported to produce antifungal antibiotics (Deshwal *et al*, 2003; Gupta *et al*, 2001; Woo *et al*, 2002). The secondary metabolites like Fe-chelating siderophores and cyanide were found associated with the fungal suppression by fluorescent pseudomonads (Nielsen *et al*, 1998). The genetically modified bacterial strains were also used as biopesticides in USA on a large scale. For example, *Agrobacerium radiobacter* k1026 was used to treat fruit and vegetable plants to prevent crown gall tumor formation.

*Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) has been the leading bacterial pesticide against lepidopteran insect pests since 1959 and it accounts for over 90% of total share of today's bioinsecticide market (Baum *et al*, 1999; Milner, 1994). The sporulating cells of *B. thuringiensis* contain inescticidal crystal protein that was found toxic to lepidipteran, dipteran as well as coleopteran insect species like *H. armigera*, *S. litoralis*, *P. xylostella*, Colorado Potato Beetle, Elm Bark Beetle, etc. Since 1990s the growth of Bt market was promoted by the introduction of new Bt strains and formulations with broader insect host ranges and increased insecticidal potencies of the toxins. Bt products in forestry effectively replaced the chemical pesticides. In Europe and North America Bt is used against defoliator larval moths while in Israel, it is used against *Thaumatopoea pityocampa* in pine forests. However, three major constraints affect field effectiveness of Bt products, the toxic protein being oral insecticide has to be consumed by the larva, environmental conditions reduce the efficacy of product and development of resistance in insect pests.
#### 1.2.2.3 Fungi as biocontrol agents

Reports dating back to the 1930s first showed that fungal pathogens of plants could be infected or parasitised by other fungi (mycoparasites) (Howell, 2003). Weindling (1932) suggested the potential use of mycoparasitic fungi as biocontrol agents of plant pathogenic fungi. Since then number of mycoparasitic strains were isolated from their natural habitats and studied for their biocontrol efficacy against several plant pathogenic fungi in phylosphere or rhizosphere. Two types of mycoparasitic interactions, biotrophic and necrotrophic, were observed. Biotrophic mycoparasites like Sporidesmium sclerotivorum require a persistent contact with or occupation of living cells of the host *Sclerotinia minor* (Whips and Lumsden, 2000). Sporidesmium sclerotivorum hasutoria penetrate the host hyphae and trigger autolysis. Whereas necrotrophic mycoparasites kill the host cells often in advance of contact and penetration. Majority of the necrotrophic mycoparasites were developed as biocontrol agents due to the ease in production being saprophytic in nature, less specialized in their mode of action and broad host range. Trichoderma species (necrotrophic mycoparasites) were developed into several commercial products (Harman, 2000) and used for the control of numerous soil borne diseases, such as those caused by *Pythium* ultimum Trow. (Naseby et al, 2000), Sclerotinia sclerotiorum (Lib.) de Bary (Inbar et al, 1996) and Fusarium oxysporum Schlechtend (Sivan and Chet, 1993). While Elad (2000) reported the use of *Trichoderma harzianum* for the control of foliar pathogens like B. cinerea, Pseuperonospora cubensis, Sclerotinia sclerotiorum and Sphaerotheca fusca in cucumber under commercial green house conditions. P. ultimum and *Rhizoctonia solani* causing damping-off disease of cotton and peanut wilt, respectively were parasitized by *Gliocladium virens* (Whipps and Lumsden, 2000). Other organisms, Ampelomyces quisqualis was shown to be parasitic on powdery mildew hyphae and conidia (Falk et al, 1995; Sundheim and Krekling, 1982), whereas Coniothyrum

*minitans* and *Taloromyces flavus* (Kslocher) Stolk and Sasmon were parasitic on sclerotia of *Sclerotinia* species (Gerlagh *et al*, 1999; Huang *et al*, 2000; Madi *et al*, 1997), and *Pythium oligandrum* was parasitic on other *Pythium* spp., *F. oxysporum*, *Verticillium albo-atrum* Kleb. and *R. solani* (Benhamou *et al*, 1999). Urediniospores of the bean rust *Uromyces appendiculatus* were parasitized by *Cladosporium tenuissimum* (Assante *et al*, 2004). While *M. verrucaria* is known to parasitize hyphae of *Cochliobolus sativus* (Campbell, 1956).

Several review articles discussed the role of fungi in the control of various fungal pathogens (Bailey and Lumsden, 1998; Harman, 2006; Harman, 2000; Harman and Bjorkman, 1998; Handelsman and Stabb, 1996; Wilson, 1997). Besides mycoparasitic interaction, fungi also antagonize plant pathogenic fungi through the production of toxins and enzymes that inhibit the growth or reduce the competitive ability of other organisms (Harman, 2000; Harman et al, 1993; Howell et al, 1993). Cook (1988) reported that the control of phytopathogenic fungi was also achieved through competition for space and resources with highly competitive fungal biocontrol agents quickly colonizing plant surfaces, creating an effective 'living barrier' to subsequent pathogen invasion. While some fungal biocontrol agents act by mobilizing nutrients in the soil, a process that makes compounds in soil more available to plant uptake, resulting in increased general health and disease resistance (Harman, 2000). Fungi were also known to increase disease resistance in a way very similar to the phenomena of induced and systemic acquired resistance (Handelsman and Stabb, 1996; Harman, 2000). However, most of the biocontrol preparations were developed using mycoparasitic fungal strains. The list of these biocontrol agents is given in Table 1.2. The traits like higher competitiveness, production of antibiotics/toxins/cell wall degrading enzymes, mobilization of phosphates through siderophores and induction of systemic resistance are studied as additional factors that contribute to the biocontrol

Fungus	Host	Mode of action	Product trade name
Ampelomyces quisqualis	Powdery mildew	Hyperparasitism	AQ-10 (Ecogen, USA)
Trichoderma harzianum	Sclerotium rolfsii, Phytophthora sp., Pythium sp., Sclerotinia sp., Rhizoctonia sp., Botrytis sp.	Hyperparasitism, Competition, Antibiosis, Induction of systemic resistance	Root Pro (Efal Agri, Israel, Trichodex (Makhteshim Chemical Works, Israel), Som Phytopharma India Ltd., Ecotech Agro (India)
Coniothyrum minitans	<i>Sclerotinia</i> sp.	Hyperparasitism, Competition	Contans WG, Intercept WG (Prophyta Biologisher, Germany)
Gliocladium Virens GL-21	Fusarium sp., Pythium sp., Rhizoctonia sp., Sclerotinia sp., Sclerotium rolfsii	Antibiosis, Hyperparasitism, Competition	Soil gard (Certis, USA)
Pythium oligandrum	Root rot	Hyperparasitism	Polyversum (Biopreparaty, Czech Republic)
Pseudozyma flocculosa	Powdery mildew	Antibiosis	Sporodex Plant products, Canada
Metarhizium anisopliae	Vine weevil, Scarab larvae on pasture, Spittle bugs, Cockroaches, Termites	Entomopathogenesis	BIO 1020(Taensa, USA), Biogreen (Bio- care Technology, Australia), Bio-Path (Ecoscience, USA), Ecotech Agro (India)
Beauveria Bassiana	Coffee Berry borer, corn borer, grasshoppers, locusts, whitefly, aphids, thrips, boll worms, Colorado beetle	Entomopathogenesis	Conidia (AgrEvo, Germany), Ostrinil (NPP, France), Mycontrol GH and Mycontrol WP (Mycotech, USA), Mythri Crop Care (India), Veena Biotech (India)
Verticillium Lecanii	Whitefly, thrips, aphids	Entomopathogenesis	Mycotal and Vertalec (Koppert, Holland), Ecotech Agro (India)
Paecilomyces fumosoroseus	Whitefly	Entomopathogenesis	PFR-97 (ECO-tek, USA), PreFeRal (Agrisense, UK)
Hirsutella thompsonii	Coconut mite (Aceria guerreronis)	Entomopathogenesis	Mycohit (PDBC, India)

# Table 1.2 Fungi as biocontrol agents against plant pathogenic fungi and insects

\* Compiled form: Stephens (2002), Strasser et al (2000), www.indianindustry.com

efficacy. Fusaclean and Biofox C are known biocontrol preparations of non-pathogenic strains of *F. oxysporum* with induction of systemic induced resistance as the mechanism involved in biocontrol (Ramakrishnan *et al*, 2001).

Entomopathogenic fungi are key regulatory factors of insect populations in nature and are attracting attention as biocontrol agents for insect pests. There are 750 known species of entomopathogenic fungi spanning some 85 genera, the majority belonging to zygomycetes (Entomophthorales), Ascomycetes and Deuteromycetes (Carrutheres and Onsager, 1993). Fungi infect a broader range of insects than do bacteria and viruses. For instance, lepidopterans (moths and butterflies), homopterans (aphids and scale insects), hymenopterans (bees and wasps), coleopterans (beetles) and dipterans (flies and mosquitoes) were reported to be infected by fungi. The entomopathogenic fungi are the only practical microbial control for insects that feed by sucking plant juice and for many acridid and coleopteran pests which have no viral or bacterial pathogens (Hajek and St. Leger, 1994; St. Leger *et al*, 1996).

*Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin, *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metschnikoff) Sorokin, *Verticillium lecanii* (Zimmerman) Viegas and *Paecilomyces* sp. were reported to have broad host ranges that encompass most of the insect groups (McCoy, 1990). These fungi are thus favoured candidates in the area of pest control (Butt *et al*, 2000). *M. anisopliae* has been most extensively used in Brazil for the control of spittlebugs on sugarcane. *V. lecanii* is a pathogen that has demonstrated good control of green house pests, such as *Myzus persicae* (Sulcer) aphids, on chrysanthemums. A distinct isolate of *V. lecanii* was obtained from whitefly and provided excellent control of greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* (Wetwood) and of *Thrips tabaci* Lindeman on cucumber. *B. bassiana* was identified in many insect species in temperate and tropical regions and used for pest control in Eastern Europe and China. A *B. bassiana* based mycoinsecticide was shown to be highly effective against coleopterans. Epizootics caused by *Nomuraea rileyi* and *B. bassiana* were observed on *H. armigera* and *S. litura* in Indian fields since last 15 years as a result the insect population is highly susceptible to these fungi (Uma Devi *et al*, 2003). Different strains of *B. bassiana* were reported in the control of *Locusta migratoria* (Quesada-Moraga and Vey, 2003). The variation in their effectiveness was mainly due to the variation in their virulence and their ability to produce in vitro toxic metabolites. The information on some commercially available entomopathogenic fungi is given in Table 1.2.

The viral and bacterial control agents infect insects via their digestive tract while fungi make entry into the host through the cuticle, the outermost protective covering in insects. Moreover, the fungal biomass can be produced easily and delivered in a variety of formulations that act as direct contact sprays, foliage sprays, bait or granules. Further advantages are: their mammalian safety and minimal impacts on non-target insects due to relative host specificity of different isolates of the same species, no toxic residues, environmentally safe and no known resistance in insect community. Another important aspect in fungus-fungus and fungus-insect interactions is the possibility of identifying a strain that has capability to show dual pathogenesis possibly mediated through specific hydrolytic enzymes. For instance, *T. harzianum*, a mycoparasitic species parasitized the elm bark beetle, *Scolytus* (Jassim *et al*, 1990). *V. Lecanii*, a pathogen of aphids was also reported to parasitize rust fungi (Whipps and Lumsden, 2000). However, research inputs are necessary to make them effective on a wide range of temperature and humidity and to have longer shelf life.

# 1.3 Host-pathogen interaction

#### 1.3.1 Structure of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle

The cell wall and cuticle are the outermost protective covers in fungi and insects, respectively. The fungal cell wall is not an inert protective shell but rather a

dynamic organelle required for the viability of the cell. Its complex structure serves many functions, such as osmotic protection to the protoplast, transport of molecules, growth and spore formation (de Nobel *et al*, 2000). In insects, the cuticle provides body armour, protecting the insect against predators, parasites and infecting microorganisms (Reynolds, 1987). Cuticle also stores energy during locomotion. Most importantly the cuticle protects insects from desiccation. Thus, any major disruption in organization or metabolism of cell wall and cuticle will be deleterious to both of them.

The fungal cell wall is composed primarily of polysaccharides like chitin, chitosan,  $1,3-\beta$ - and  $1,6-\beta$ -glucans and mannan (Fig. 1.1). In some fungi proteins are also the significant components of the cell wall and frequently associated with the polysaccharide components (Gooday, 1995). Lipids and melanins are the minor cell wall components. The shape- determining, more fibrillar polysaccharides, chitin, chitosan and chitin-glucan complexes make up the inner layer of the wall. These are also known as the structural or skeletal components. They provide a considerable mechanical strength and resistance to chemicals. The structural components are embedded in more gel-like matrix polymers such as glucans, glycoproteins and mannoproteins that make up the outer layer of the wall. The matrix components contribute to the flexibility of fungal cell wall. Other constituents such as lipids and pigments like melanins, though quantitatively minor, contribute a lot to the protection. The insect cuticle is composed of wax, lipids, protein and chitin (Fig. 1.1). The main component being chitin, its share is 25-50 % of dry weight of insect cuticle. Insect cuticle is a composite material consisting of a thin lipid-protein rich epicuticle covering the bulky procuticle. The epicuticle is a thin, dark pigmented multilayered membrane made up of cuticulin (lipoprotein), wax and cementing material of uncertain composition. Phenolics are an additional class of cuticular chemicals, which confer chemical and mechanical stability. The procuticle is composed of the exo- and endo-



Fig. 1.1 Structure of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle

cuticle comprising of chitin and protein, wherein the exo-cuticle is generally melanised (Anderson, 2002). The cells involved in the synthesis of cuticle are present below cuticle. Since the cuticle is incapable of growth, it must be shed from time to time as the insect grows, and a new and larger cuticle is laid down in its place. This is called as moulting or ecdysis. Synthesis and breakdown of chitin are active processes in insects and are immediately linked to the survival.

The fungal cell wall and insect cuticle share chitin as a common structural component (Fig. 1.1). Furthermore, chitin is absent in vascular plants and mammalsthus provide an attractive target for the control of fungal pathogens and insect pests. The fungal pathogens of fungi and insects act by contact and the chitinolytic enzymes were reported to play an important role in the penetration of host.

#### **1.3.2 Fungus-fungus interaction**

The interactions between plant pathogenic fungus and mycoparasitic one require close physical proximity of each other. Most of the observations of hyphal-hyphal interaction were made from petri dishes or detached plant tissues under controlled conditions. The hyphal interactions were extensively studied using light, fluorescence, scanning and transmission electron microscopy (Elad *et al*, 1983; Li *et al*, 2002). Recently, the gfp-tagged mutants of *Trichoderma atroviride* were used to study the *in situ* interaction of *T. atroviride* with the plant pathogens *R. solani* and *P. ultimum* in cocultures and directly on cucumber seeds, on roots and in sterile soil (Lu *et al*, 2004). Mycoparasitic fungi were reported to locate the host mycelium or spores, using chemical signals originated from the host fungus. These fungi attach themselves to the host hyphae by coiling, hooks or appresorium-like bodies (Deshpande, 1999). This was followed by penetration of cell wall and dissolution of cytoplasm as indicated by increased cellular vacuolization in host (Calvet *et al*, 1989). The penetration of *T.* 

*harzianum* Rifai into the cell wall of other fungi was attributed to the production of enzymes, which are involved in its degradation (Zeilinger *et al*, 1999). Then antibiotics were released that permeate the perforated hyphae and prevent re-synthesis of the host cell wall (Lorito *et al*, 1996). After penetration of the cell wall, *T. harzianum* was found to cause dissolution of cytoplasm and its hyphae grew within the empty host hyphae (Inbar *et al*, 1996).

#### **1.3.3 Fungus-insect interaction**

Basic studies on the *in vivo* development of insect mycopathogens like *B*. bassiana, M. anisopliae, N. rilevi and V. lecanii helped in understanding the disease cycle in insects. Unlike the insect pathogenic bacteria and viruses, the fungi act by contact. The infective propagules are usually hydrophobic conidia as in case of B. bassiana, M. anisopliae and N. rilevi or sticky hydrophilic conidia seen in V. lecanii and H. thompsonii (Sosa-Gomez et al, 1997). The adhesion of conidia to insect cuticle may be a passive (adsorption) or active host-specific phenomena. Penetration of the insect cuticle is facilitated by the enzymatic degradation of insect cuticle involving proteases, chitinases and lipases as well as mechanical pressure. The fungus grew profusely in haemolymph, by forming the hyphal bodies in which case death is probably the result of starvation or physiological/biochemical disruption brought about by the fungus. The secondary metabolites of the attacking fungus also contribute to the demise of the insect. The fungus colonizes the dead cadaver of the insect and then produces conidia for dispersal. The sporulation is favoured in presence of high relative humidity, which enhance the possibility of horizontal or vertical transmission of the disease within the insect population.

#### 1.3.4 Killing components

#### **1.3.4.1** Mycolytic and cuticle degrading enzyme complexes

The fungal cells swell and burst when confronted with the cell wall degrading enzymes. Thus production of mycolytic enzymes is the most common strategy used by various organisms to combat fungal pathogens (de Nobel et al, 2000). The main components of mycolytic enzyme complex (ME) are chitinases, glucanases and proteases (Deshpande, 1999). The sequence of appearance of these extracellular enzymes was found to be corresponding to the layering of chemical constituents of the fungal cell wall, i.e., chitin, glucans and proteins (Goldman and Goldaman, 1998). When T. harzianum was grown on a mycelium of R. solani, an alkaline proteinase was produced first, followed by glucanases and chitinases. Haran et al (1996) reported the differential expression of a series of chitin-degrading enzymes of T. harzianum during mycoparasitism of R. solani and S. rolfsii, which varied with time and fungal host. T. atroviride endochitinase (ECH42) was implicated in the mycoparasitism of R. solani based on improved disease control by multiple-copy transformants (Carsolio et al, 1999). Expression of *ech42* from *T. atroviride* occurred before mycoparasitic contact following molecular exchange with the host R. solani (Kullnig et al, 2000) but in contrast, *chit33* was expressed during, but not before overgrowth of *R. solani* by *T. harzianum* (Dana *et al*, 2001). Also three to seven  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanases were produced by isolates of *T. harzianum* exposed to fungal cell walls, autoclaved mycelia or laminarin, and some enzymes were linked to mycoparasitism (Ramot et al, 2000; DE la Cruz et al, 1995). Exo- $\alpha$ -1,3- glucanase produced by *T. harzianum* also showed lytic and antifungal activity against plant pathogenic fungi like A. niger, B. cinerea, and P. aurantiogriseum (Ait-Lahsen et al, 2001). Involvement of chitinase (SECHI44) in mycoparasitic interaction between Stachybotrys elegans and R. solani was demonstrated by Morissette *et al* (2003). While secretion of an exo- $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase by *Ampelomyces* 

*quisqualis* was found to play an important role during the hyperparasitism of powdery mildew (Rotem *et al*, 1999). Cellulolytic enzymes of *Pythium oligandrum* were reported to play an important role in disrupting the integrity of the cellulose rich cell wall of phytopathogens, *Phytophthora and Pythium* species (Picard *et al*, 2000). While de Azevedo *et al* (2000) characterized an amylase produced by a *T. harzianum* isolate with antagonistic activity against *Crinipellis perniciosa*, the causal agent of witches's broom of cocoa. The importance of hydrolytic enzyme production in the biocontrol activity of yeasts vary with the organism (Saligkarias *et al*, 2002; Urquhart and Punja, 2002).

In vitro experiments showed that entomopathogenic fungi in submerged fermentation produce extracellularly cuticle degrading enzymes mainly chitinases, proteases and lipases when locust cuticle was used as a sole source of carbon (St. Leger et al, 1986). In case of sequence of appearance of extracellular enzymes in *Metarhizium* and *Beauveria* cultures a lot of studies were reported. Proteolytic enzymes such as esterase, endopeptidase, aminopeptidase and carboxypeptidase were produced within first 24 h of growth. N- acetylglucosaminidase appeared next and endochitinase, which hydrolyze chitin polymer randomly, was produced in significant quantities after 4 days. Lipases were detectable after 5 days (Charnley, 1989). Though chitin forms main structural mesh, the sequence of appearance of components of CDE was in accordance with cuticular structure. It was proposed that a cocktail of proteases act on peptides cross-linking the chitin fibrils providing available substrate for the fungal chitinases. St. Leger et al (1996) assigned major role to proteases in cuticle degradation by M. anisopliae as over expression of the subtilisin-like protease gene, Pr1A, was shown to significantly enhance the virulence of *M. anisopliae*. The virulent isolates of *N. rilevi* exhibited substantially higher levels of chitinase than avirulent strains (El-Saved *et al.*, 1989). Under in vitro conditions, M. anisopliae ME1 produced multiple chitinase

isozymes including both endochitinases (CHI1, CHI2 and CHI3) and an exochitinase (St. Leger *et al*, 1993). While, Jackson *et al* (1985) reported that chitinase-deficient mutants of *V. lecanii* were able to penetrate and infect aphids. Furthermore, recombinant *M. anisopliae* strains engineered to overproduce chitinase did not possess altered virulence to *Manduca sexta* larvae (Screen *et al*, 2001). Recently, Fang *et al* (2005) confirmed the involvement of Bbchit1 chitinase during penetration of cuticle by *B. bassiana*. The increased Bbchit1 production in transformants resulted in lower LC<sub>50</sub> indicating that there was a dosage effect of Bbchit1 on infection efficiency. Nahar *et al* (2004) for the first time demonstrated an alternate mechanism of cuticle degradation with the involvement of constitutively produced chitin deacetyalse and chitosanase, the process of cuticle degradation in fungi that show low or delayed chitinase production.

The composition of CDE and ME is not drastically different. The dual pathogenecity of some fungi towards insects and fungi was attributed to the hydrolytic enzymes, which facilitate the entry of the pathogen in the respective hosts.

#### 1.3.4.2 Antibiotics and toxins

The production of inhibitory metabolites is characteristic of many effective fungal and yeast biocontrol agents (Punja and Utkhede, 2003). Species of *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladium* are known to produce several secondary metabolites with antibiotic properties including polyketides, terpenoids and polypeptides (Vey *et al*, 2001). Gliotoxin and gliovirin are well-described antibiotics produced by *G. virens* (Howell, 2003). Gliovirin is reported to kill *pythium ultimum* by causing coagulation of its protoplasm. *Gliocladium* sp. also produced different enzyme inhibitors such as argifin, a potent chitinase inhibitor. Interestingly, argifin retarded the moulting process in cockroach larvae that again was attributed to the inhibition of insect chitinase activity (Nitoda *et al*, 2003). Recently, Soytong *et al* (2005) reported that chaetoglobosin-C and trichotoxin significantly inhibited the spore production of pathogenic strains of *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* and *C. acutatum* causing anthracnose disease of grapes. Claydon et al (1987) identified the antifungal, volatile alkyl pyrones produced by T. *harzianum*, which when added to a peat soil mixture reduced the incidence of damping off disease in lettuce caused by R. solani. Trichoderma hamatum was reported to produce trichoviridin, acrylic acid and three isonitriles among which isonitrin A possessed the broad spectrum antifungal activity (Ramakrishnan et al, 2001). A novel inhibitory substance 3-2(-hydroxypropyl), 4-(2,4-hexadienyl), 2(5H)-furanone, produced by T. harzianum was found to suppress growth of F. oxysporum and may be involved in the biocontrol of fusarial wilt. A novel trichothecene, harzianum A produced by T. harzianum is one of the killing components for the biocontrol of plant pathogenic fungi. While tricholin, a ribosome-inactivating protein produced by T. Viride was effective against R. solani. Nevertheless antifungal antibiotic production did not sufficiently explain the process of mycoparasitism. Graeme-Cook and Faull (1991) using uv-induced mutants of T. harzianum with enhanced antibiotic potential suggested that the activity was not directly correlated with its potential as a mycoparasitic organism. In other words, the biocontrol efficacy of the mycoparasitic strains is the combination of antibiosis, lysis, competition, mycoparasitism and promotion of plant growth.

The entomopathogenic fungi, *B. bassiana*, *B. brongniartii*, *M. anisopliae*, *P. fumosoroseus*, *Tolypocladium* and *V. lecanii* produce different toxins such as bassianin, beauvericin, cytochalasin C, destruxins, dipecolonic acid, enfrapeptins, hirsutellin A, B, oosporin, swainsinone, etc. (Amiri-Besheli *et al*, 2000; Vey *et al*, 2001). Different insect species exhibited different levels of sensitivity towards these toxins. For example, lepidopteran insects were found highly susceptible to destruxins produced by *M. anisopliae*. Efrapeptins of *Tolypocladium* showed insecticidal and miticidal effects

against potato beetle, mites, budworm and diamondback moth and others. Oosporin produced by *B. brongniartii* affected enzyme malfunctioning in cockchafer larvae by redox reactions. The hyphomycete, *H. thompsonii* produced an extracellular insecticidal protein, hirsutellin A that was reported to be effective against citrus rust mite, mosquito larvae and others (Vey *et al*, 2001). *Fusarium proliferatum* and *Fusarium larvarum* were reported to produce a toxic metabolite, fumonisin 1 active against aphid *Schizaphis graminum* (Ganassi *et al*, 2001).

#### **1.4 Development of mycopesticide**

The steps involved in the development of mycopesticide are illustrated in Fig. 1.2.

#### 1.4.1 Strain

#### 1.4.1.1 Isolation

The soil dilution method is commonly used for the isolation of both mycoparasitic and entomopathogenic fungi (Goettel and Inglis, 1996). The baiting technique called the pre-colonized plate method in which field inoculum was placed on to the host fungus was used for the isolation of epiphytic mycoparasites (Krauss and Soberanis, 2001; Krauss *et al*, 1998). Zimmerman (1986) suggested the use of *Galleria* larvae as a bait for the isolation of insect pathogens. In *Galleria* bait method, the larvae are allowed to move through the soil in a small vial, which is moved upside down everyday. After 14 days, one can find dead or even mycosed larvae from which fungus can be isolated and further identified. Alternatively, mycosed larvae from fields may be collected to isolate highly virulent entomopathogens causing epidemics in particular insect host (Deshpande and Tuor, 2002). Screening and isolation of fungi producing extracellularly chitinase is usually done on media containing chitin, colloidal chitin or

# Fig. 1.2 Approach and strategy for the development of mycopesticide



pretreated crab or shrimp shell waste as a sole source of carbon (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989; Wang and Huang, 2001). Recently, Ramirez *et al* (2004) developed a simple and sensitive method based on the use of colloidal chitin stained with Remazol Brilliant Blue R as a carbon source in a liquid medium for the selection or comparison of chitinolytic microorganisms.

#### **1.4.1.2 Habitat association**

Many past efforts to select biocontrol organisms were empirical. The random selection of organisms from soil and plant surfaces to chance encounters on culture media showing zones of inhibition was followed initially. Second approach was to examine healthy plants and their rhizosphere in otherwise heavily infested agricultural sites. Some agricultural fields were found to be disease suppressive, these were also used to isolate biocontrol organisms such as mycoparasite species. In the Rhone valley in France, *Fusarium* suppressive soils specific against wilt causing *Fusarium* were found. The saprophytic isolates of *Fusarium oxysporum* and *F. solani* repressed activity of pathogenic strains of *F. oxysporum* in melons. Another example is a soil suppressive to *Pythium ultimum* in California, where prior colonization of crop debris by *Pythium oligandrum* prevented damping off disease of sugar beet caused by *P. ultimum* (Deshpande, 1999).

Bidochka *et al* (2001) reported that the isolation of the entomopathogenic fungi was affected by the locality from where the soil was taken and also by the method of isolation selected. It was reported that *N. rileyi* isolates from different geographical locations showed different levels of virulence against two insect hosts, *H. armigera* and *S. litura* (Vimala Devi *et al*, 2003). In general the soil samples collected from the rhizosphere of crops where chemical insecticides are not routinely sprayed one can expect more number of isolates that had high infectivity against insect pest. For

instance, *Metarhizium* isolates from fields of tomato, okra and other vegetables heavily sprayed with chemicals were less virulent to *H. armigera* than the isolates from custard apple field rarely sprayed with chemicals (Nahar *et al*, 2003). This can also be correlated with the natural insect flora of the host plant, not necessarily pest that affects the virulence of entomopathogenic fungi.

The chitinolytic fungi like *Myrothecium*, *Trichoderma*, *Beauveria*, *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* were isolated from rhizospheral soil samples, chitinous wastes and marine environments (Felse and Panda, 2000; Vyas and Deshpande, 1989).

# 1.4.1.3 Criteria for strain selection

The ability of the strains to produce differential levels of various cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzymes play an important role in strain selection (Deshpande, 1999; Goldman and Goldman, 1998; Krieger de Moraes *et al*, 2003; Nahar *et al*, 2004; Nahar *et al*, 2003; Patil *et al*, 2000; St. Leger *et al*, 1986). Interestingly, the spore characteristics such as the size, viability, production, speed of germination and relative hyphal growths are important for strain selection too (Liu *et al*, 2003). It was reported that in case of *P. fumosoroseus* the spore size and virulence towards *Plutella xylostella* were correlated with each other (Altre *et al*, 1999). While Sugimoto *et al* (2003) reported relatedness among genetic properties, conidial morphology and virulence of *V. lecanii* towards different insect hosts. Thus based upon the insect bioassay and level of cuticle degrading enzyme activities, selection of the best possible fungal strain along with the backup strains would be easier.

The environmental conditions like temperature, pH and water activity affect the growth and in turn efficacy of biocontrol agents (Antal *et al*, 2000; Fargues *et al*, 1997; Jackson *et al*, 1991). Thus the ability of biocontrol agents to withstand fluctuations in the environmental conditions requires consideration in strain selection. Certain other

criteria suggested by Jenkins *et al* (1998) that also governed the success of the biocontrol preparation were field performance studies, genetic stability, productivity, and stability of conidia in storage, stability in formulation, field persistence, mammalian safety, low environmental impact and capacity to recycle in the environment.

#### **1.4.1.4 Strain improvement**

Although naturally occurring antagonists provide a major source of new isolates, genetic improvement plays an important role in the development of biocontrol agents. In entomopathogenic as well as mycoparasitic fungi, mutagenesis was employed to understand the involvement of different genes in virulence and killing process as well as for the strain improvement (Valadares-Inglis et al, 1997; Delgado-Jarana et al, 1996). Protoplast fusion is the valuable tool for strain improvement that can overcome the incompatibility barrier for genetic recombination. Protoplast fusion of diauxotrophic mutants of *B. bassiana*, biocontrol agent against European corn borer and toxinogenic Beauveria sulfurescens (non-pathogenic to insects, but could produce an entomotoxic glycoprotein) was used to produce hybrids (Viaud *et al*, 1998). Molecular cloning to achieve overproduction, change the induction pattern or change in the localization (periplasmic/extracellular) of chitinases was reported in many systems (Shaikh and Deshpande, 1993). Many studies report the transformation of different Trichoderma strains with chitinase genes under the control of constitutive promoters (Deane *et al.*, 1999; Limon et al, 1996; Zaldivar et al, 2001). The overexpression of genes encoding chitinase (ech42, chit33) (Baek et al, 1999; Limon et al, 1999), endoglucanase (egl1) (Migheli et al, 1998) and proteinase (prb1) (Flores et al, 1997), in transformed Trichoderma species improved the antagonistic potential of the agent against pathogens such as *Rhizoctonia* and *Pythium*, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Similarly, overexpression of subtilisin-like protease gene, Pr1A in M. anisopliae (St. Leger et al, 1996) and chitinase

gene, *Bbchit1* in *B. bassiana* (Fang *et al*, 2005) was linked with the increased virulence of these entomopathogenic fungi.

# 1.4.1.5 Preservation of fungi

The fungal spores are normally stored at -20°C or -80°C using skimmed milk, water or mineral oil. *P. fumosoroseus* spores remained viable when stored with water or mineral oil and preserved at -80°C. Alternately, fungal isolates can be stored for long period as dry alginate pellets (biomass plus sterile wheat bran and aqueous sodium alginate) at -20°C. The fungal conidia can be stored in carriers such as mineral oils, wheat bran, talc powder, silica, etc. to retain the viability and virulence of the conidia, which is an important requisite for the performance of the biocontrol preparation. Also, to retain the virulence, regular serial passage of fungus through the insect hosts for entomopathogenesis and for mycoparasitic ones growth in dual culture are essential (Chavan *et al*, 2006).

#### 1.4.2 Production of fungal biocontrol agents

#### **1.4.2.1** Living propagules

The fungal kingdom is a diverse assemblage of organisms with a great variety of structural types (Deshpande, 1999). The hypha and unicellular yeast are vegetative growth forms, while asexual spores such as conidia and sporangiospores are produced for dispersal. The lower fungi sexually produce resistant oospores or zygospores that are commonly used in the biocontrol formulations. Other resistant structures such as blastospores and chlamydospores are also used as infective propagules.

Production of fungi to use as biocontrol agents aims at the maximum possible number of living propagules that can infect pathogenic fungi and insects. Generally, fungal propagules in biopesticides must be alive at the time of their use and the expected minimum shelf life is 18 months at 20°C (Deshpande, 1999). Thus for a stable biopesticide formulation, conidia are the favoured morphological structures as they retain viability and infectivity for long periods. Different fungal genera and even different isolates within the same fungal species, vary greatly in their requirements for nutrition, pH, water activity of the substrate (moisture content), temperature optima for mycelial growth and conidiation, light, aeration and incubation period. All these parameters must be thoroughly investigated and optimized to ensure that mass production process is not only efficient but also produces conidia of high quality and reliability (Chavan *et al*, 2006; Jenkins *et al*, 1998).

Both liquid and solid fermentation systems were used to obtain a desirable quantity of biomass, and former was the preferred approach. Submerged fermentation has obvious advantages of controlled processing, and both organism itself and the extracellular enzymic and non-enzymic products exhibiting biocontrol activity can be obtained easily. Using a wide range of controls for pH, agitation rate, aeration rate, temperature etc. the timing for harvesting of conidia can be precisely envisaged (Deshpande, 1999). Moreover, manipulation of cultural and nutritional parameters can be exploited to favour production of submerged conidia of *M. anisopliae* and *B.* bassiana (Kassa et al, 2004; Thomas et al, 1987). The phenomenon of microcycle conidiation was exploited in the production of conidia of *B. bassiana* (Bosch and Yantorno, 1999). Hegedus et al (1990) suggested a medium containing Nacetylglucosamine for the production of conidia of *B. bassiana* under submerged conditions. While Latorre et al (1997) used modified Richard's medium for the production of conidia of *T. harzianum* in stirred tank fermenter. Different mycoparasitic T. harzianum strains also produced chlamydospres in submerged fermentation, whereas conidia were formed on solid substrates. Chlamydospores of G. virens were produced in a stirred tank fermenter and the different fermentation stages were used to make the

effective biocontrol formulation (Eyal *et al*, 1997). Fargues *et al* (2002) described the conditions for mass production of blastospore like propagules of *M. flavoviride*. *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*, a biocontrol agent against sweet potato whitefly, was also grown in the form of blastospores that were resistant to drying (Jackson *et al*, 1997). *Entomphthora virulenta* pathogen of aphids produced zygospores under submerged conditions in a medium containing dextrose and yeast extract (Latge *et al*, 1977). Shah *et al* (1998) reported the conditions for production of mycelia of *Erynia neoaphidis*, a pathogen of aphids. However, entrapment of mycelia in the alginate beads, for conidia production, was used to apply *E. neoaphidis* for the biocontrol of aphids (Shah *et al*, 1998).

Ferron (1981) reported the production of conidia of *B. bassiana* in unstirred shallow liquid culture (surface fermentation) where conidia produced at liquid-gas interface were harvested by peeling of the surface layer of the fungus. McQuilken *et al* (1990) reported the use of surface fermentation for the bulk production of oospores of *Pythium oligandrum*. A high yield of oospores was obtained on cane molasses within 2-3 weeks. High sterol contents of cane molasses supported the production of oospores.

The solid-state fermentation has also been successfully exploited for the production of aerial conidia of various biocontrol fungi (Jones *et al*, 2004; Kang *et al*, 2005; Krauss *et al*, 2002; Nava *et al*, 2006; Thangvelu *et al*, 2004). The advantages of solid-state fermentation are easy to carry out, raw material is cheap and most importantly conidia produced as living propagules tend to be more tolerant to desiccation and more stable as dry preparation compared with conidia produced in submerged fermentation (Deshpande, 1999). Furthermore, as large amounts of water is not added to the biological material during SSF, fermenter volumes remain small, necessary manipulations become less expensive and the cost of water removal at the end of fermentation is minimized. These advantages can overweigh the disadvantages

of SSF, which are lower product yields, slowness of fermentation, and the difficulty of controlling the process precisely (Pandey, 2003; Tengerdy, 1985).

Different substrates like sorghum, wheat, barley, bajara, beaten rice and rice can be used to grow the fungal strains for conidia production (Vimala Devi, 1994). Agricultural waste like rice bran and rice bran-husk mixtures were used for mass production of *M. anisopliae* (Dorta et al, 1990). Hua and Feng (2003) reported the broomcorn millets as excellent substrate for production of granular cultures of E. neoaphidis that were capable of discharging primary conidia to infect Myzus persicae. Zheng and Shetty (1998) suggested the use of cranberry pomace, primary by-product of cranberry juice processing industry and fish protein hydrolysate, by-product of fishery for the production of species of *Trichoderma* having biocontrol potential. While another strain of *T. harzianum* grown on sorghum grains was mixed with organic materials like neemcake, coirpith, farmyard manure and decomposed coffee pulp before soil application (Saju et al, 2002). Recently, Thangyelu et al (2004) reported the mass production of T. harzianum on dried banana leaves dipped in jaggery solution prior to inoculation with the mycelial disks of biocontrol agent for the management of fusarial wilt of banana. The conidia of *Epicoccum nigrum*, biocontrol agent of the brown rot fungus Monilinia laxa, were produced on peat/vermiculite mixed with lentil meal (Larena et al, 2004).

# 1. 4.2.2 Fungal metabolites

Fungal metabolites may be used as biocontrol preparations. These preparations may have following advantages over living organism based preparations, wider spectrum, quicker action and environmentally safe. Furthermore, unlike chemicals they do not accumulate in fruits/vegetables (Shternshis, 2005).

Chitin hydrolyzing enzymes are the most promising candidates for use in pest and pathogen management. Chitinase alone and in combination with *B. thuringiensis* was reported to control larvae of spruce budworm (Smirnnoff, 1974; Smirnnoff, 1973). Mendosa et al (1996) used purified endochitinase of M. verrucaria for the control of mosquito larvae. While Govindsamy et al (1998) reported use of purified preparation of *M. verrucaria* chitinase to control groundnut rust, *Puccinia arachidis*. Recently, chitinase was used under field conditions for the control of raspberry midge blight in Siberia (Shternshis et al, 2002a). The synergy between the cell wall hydrolyzing enzymes and certain antibiotics was also reported. Several microbial chitinases, with  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanases, propane-20l and polyoxyethelene lauryl ether were sprayed on rice field to control rice blight caused by *Pyricularia oryzae* (Tanaka et al, 1970). While the cell wall degrading enzymes produced by *Trichoderma* sp. increased the efficacy of bacterium, Pseudomonas sp., which produced syringomycins against B. cinerea and other phytopathogenic fungi. A combined effect of mycolytic enzyme mixture of M. verrucaria and the cell wall chitin metabolism inhibitors to control the growth of a root infecting fungus, S. rolfsii on peanut was reported by Patil et al (2001).

Several attempts were reported on the laboratory- and/or large-scale production of fungal enzymes and antibiotics. However, reports on commercially available fungal metabolites, as biological control agents are sparse. Chitinolytic enzymes play an important role in the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects containing chitin in their protective covers, cell wall and cuticle, respectively. Traditionally bacterial strains were used for the production of chitinolytic enzymes. Most of the chitinolytic bacteria like *Serratia marcescens, Bacillus pabuli, Pseudomonas stulzeri* and others express maximum chitinase during the third day of fermentation while fungi and actinomycetes express maximum chitinase around sixth day of fermentation under submerged fermentation conditions (Felse and Panda, 2000). However, bacterial chitinases are primarily exo- instead of endo-cleaving enzymes, the former being substantially less effective than the latter in degrading chitin (Kramer and Muthukrishnan, 1997). Furthermore, fungal chitinases are active over a wide range of temperature and pH (Felse and Panda, 2000). Thus, recently the interest in fungal cultures extracellularly producing chitinases is increasing.

The details of production of chitinases by various fungal isolates were compiled in Table 1.3. The biocontrol fungus, T. harzianum is currently of major interest for large-scale production of chitinases. Other biocontrol fungi like M. verrucaria (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989), V. lecanii (Liu et al, 2003; Matsumoto et al, 2004) and B. bassiana (Suresh and Chandrasekaran, 1999; Zhang et al, 2004) were also reported as potent producers of chitinolytic enzymes. Saprophytic fungi like *Penicillium* sp. (Fenice et al, 1998; Parameswaran et al, 2005) and Aspergillus sp. (Rattanakit et al, 2002) were also used for the production of chitinolytic enzymes. Solid-state cultivation and metabolite production by fungi being the cost effective method many attempts were made to produce chitinolytic enzymes using solid substrates (Binod *et al*, 2005; Sandhya et al, 2005; Matsumoto et al, 2004). Chitin flakes, colloidal chitin or shrimp shell waste supplemented with agricultural by products like wheat bran or sugar cane bagasse were used as solid substrates for the production of chitinases. Supplementation of additional nitrogen source, nature and size of inoculum and biophysical parameters like moisture content, pH and temperature play an important role in improving the chitinase production by solid-state fermentation.

Many shake flask studies on the optimization of nutritional and biophysical parameters for the production of fungal chitinases under submerged conditions were also reported (Donzelli *et al*, 2005; El-Katatny *et al*, 2003; Felse and Panda, 1999; Sandhya *et al*, 2004). In most of the cases, addition of carbon source other than chitin reduced chitinase production but supported mycelial growth. While addition of urea

Organism	Type of fermentation	Substrate used	Reference
Myrothecium verrucaria	Submerged fermentation (Shake flask)	Crab shell chitin	Vyas and Deshpande, 1989
Fusarium chlamydosporium	Submerged fermentation (Shake flask)	Colloidal chitin and sucrose	Mathivannan <i>et al</i> , 1997
Penicillium janthinellum	Submerged fermentation (Shake flask and stirred tank fermenter)	Colloidal chitin	Fenice <i>et al</i> , 1998
Trichoderma harzianum	Submerged fermentation (Shake flask and stirred tank fermenter)	Crab shell chitin	Felse and Panda, 1999; Felse and Panda, 2000
Trichoderma viride	Shake flask studies	Colloidal shrimp shell chitin	Shindia <i>et al</i> , 2001
Aspergillus sp.	Solid-state fermentation	Shrimp shellfish waste	Rattanakit <i>et</i> al, 2002
Verticillium lecanii	Submerged fermentation (Shake flask and Stirred tank fermenter, air-lift formenter)	Shrimp powder	Liu <i>et al</i> , 2003
Trichoderma harzianum	Submerged fermentation (Shake	Colloidal chitin	Sandhya <i>et</i> <i>al</i> , 2004
Trichoderma harzianum	Solid-state fermentation	Wheat bran supplemented with colloidal chitin	Nampoothiri <i>et al</i> , 2004
Verticillium lecanii	Solid state fermentation, Submerged fermentation (Shake	Sugarcane pith bagasse supplemented with shrimp waste silage,	Matsumoto <i>et al</i> , 2004
Beauveria bassiana	Solid-state fermentation	Wheat bran supplemented with silkworm chrysalis	Zhang <i>et al</i> , 2004
Penicillium aculeatum	Solid-state fermentation	Wheat bran medium supplemented with chitin flakes	Binod <i>et al</i> , 2005
Trichoderma atroviride	Submerged fermentation (shake flask)	Crab shell chitin	Donzelli <i>et al</i> , 2005
Trichoderma harzianum	Solid-state fermentation	Wheat bran supplemented with colloidal chitin	Sandhya <i>et</i> <i>al</i> , 2005

# Table 1.3 Production of fungal chitinases

increased chitinase production by various fungal isolates. The optimization of aeration and agitation rates, pH and temperature plays a major role in enhancing chitinase production under submerged conditions. The attempts were also made to understand the effect of different process parameters such as agitation and aeration rates on fungal chitinase production in stirred tank fermenters.

Several studies were also carried out to optimize conditions for the production of fungal metabolites with antifungal or insecticidal properties. However, in many cases the industrial production of antifungal metabolites was limited by the low fermentation yields owing to the growth inhibition caused by very low product concentrations ( $\leq 100$ mg/l). To mitigate this problem Sarhy-Bagnon *et al* (2000) suggested the use of solidstate culture for the large-scale production of 6-pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone, an antifungal compound produced by *T. harzianum*. While Serrano-Carreon *et al* (2002) demonstrated the use of two-phase liquid system to overcome the toxicity problem and increase the production of 6-pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone. In this system 6-pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone was extracted with n-hexadecane during cultivation. Gliotoxin, an epithiodiketopiperazine toxin produced by T. viride was found essential for curtailing the growth and multiplication of phytopathogens. Anitha and Murugesan (2005) reported the production of gliotoxin by T. viride on natural substrates like tapioca powder, sugarcane bagasse, rice bran, etc. The strategic manipulation of cultivation conditions resulted in enhanced production of gliotoxin on sugarcane bagasse as substrate. The destruxins A and B from *M. anisopliae* were found to be toxic substances to several pest insects. Liu et al (2000) reported the optimization of medium composition for destruxin production using response surface methodology. Maltose and peptone were the best carbon and nitrogen sources for production of destruxins by *M. anisopliae*. While Wang *et al* (2004) studied effect of different carbon-nitrogen ratios as well as different insect homogenates on the production of destruxins A and B. Recently, Feng et al (2004)

reported the optimization of cultivation conditions for the production of destruxin B by *M. anisopliae* in stirred tank fermenter and air-lift fermenter.

# **1.4.3 Formulation**

Formulation is required to present the product in a usable form and to optimize the efficacy, stability, safety and ease of application of the product. The living propagules of fungi or their metabolite(s) active against fungal pathogens/insect pests may be used as biocontrol agents. The living propagules of fungi are required to get activated or multiplied after the application in order to control the target pest or pathogen. The formulation thus provides conditions that retain viability, virulence during preparation, storage and application and favour survival and establishment of biocontrol agent in the environment even after application. While in case of the fungal metabolite(s), formulation should retain metabolite in active form under the conditions used for storage and those in the field.

# 1.4.3.1 Types of formulations

Most of the commercially available fungal biocontrol preparations contain living propagules of fungi rather than their metabolites. These formulations were developed using dormant structures of fungi like conidia, chlamydospores or metabolically active forms like mycelia and yeast cells. Formulations containing dormant microbes tend to have longer shelf life, are easier to package and are tolerant to temperature fluctuations and to chemicals such as pesticides and sticker materials which may be required for successful application. On the otherhand, formulations containing metabolically active microbes are less tolerant to temperature extremes and chemicals, have shorter shelf life and have specific packaging requirements for gas and moisture exchange. In most cases, fungi that are difficult to sporulate in culture are formulated in metabolically active state (Shah *et al*, 1998).

Fungal biocontrol agents are usually supplied as powders, granules or concentrated liquids. The intended use of the biocontrol agent (soil or foliar application) governs the type of formulation. The fungal condia produced by solid-state fermentation providing the carrier for the inoculum may be mixed with suitable diluent and used for soil application. The development of an aqueous formulation of hyphomycetous fungal conidia is hindered by their hydrophobic nature. In such cases addition of wetting agents like organosilicone was found effective (Wraight et al, 2001). The oils, vegetable and petroleum-derived, were generally found compatible with lipophilic conidia. It was suggested that the oils help conidia to stick to the insect cuticle and enable the fungus to kill insects even under low humidity conditions (Inyang et al, 2000; Vimala Devi and Prasad, 1996). Nahar et al (2003) reported the use of oil-diesel formulation of M. anisopliae aerial conidia for the control of *H. armigera* in pulses. While Kassa *et al.* (2004) demonstrated the use of oil-diesel formulations of aerial conidia or submerged spores of *M. anisopliae* var. *acridum* for the control of locusts and grasshoppers. The addition of diesel in formulation reduced the viscosity of oil thus facilitating easy spraying of the formulation. With respect to the biosafety, oil formulations eliminate the dust hazards. However, possible phytotoxicity of petroleum derived oil and a diesel spray is a major concern.

Torres *et al* (2003) developed a liquid formulation containing yeast cells of *Candida sake* for the control of *Penicillium expansum*, causing post harvest losses in apples. It was suggested that addition of 10% lactose as a protectant can improve viability, retain biocontrol efficacy and also render use of formulation economically feasible.

Dry powder and dry granules were most successfully produced with conidia. Concentrates of fungal propagules obtained after drying were usually formulated with an inert extender such as fine clay particles, peat, charcoal, clay, vermiculite, etc. Organic carriers like rice bran, wheat bran, and bagasse were also used. Wheat bran formulation provided a long-term shelf life to biocontrol agents, *Gliocladium virens* and *Trichoderma* isolates (Jackson *et al*, 1991). The biocontrol agents like *Trichoderma*, *Verticillium, Beauveria* and *Metarhizium* were also produced as wettable or water dispersible powders (Singh and Zaidi, 2005). The fungal propagules were mixed with diluents (e.g. charcoal, attapulgite) and surface-active agents (e.g. carboxymethyl cellulose, gelatin) to ensure suspending and wetting properties and stickers (e.g. xanthan gum).

The granular formulations were prepared using carriers such as alginate (Zohar-Perez *et al*, 2003) and cornstarch (Pereira *et al*, 1991). Alginate formulations of conidia, mycelia or ascospores of several biocontrol agents, such as *Trichoderma* sp., *Talaromyces* sp., *Gliocladium* sp. and others resulted in rapid increase in fungal biomass in the soil, enabling successful biological control of several plant diseases (Fravel *et al*, 1995; Lewis and Papavizas, 1987; Shaban and El-Komy, 2001). El-Katatny *et al* (2003) reported the use of chitin as adjuvant to enhance production of chitinase, an enzyme involved in biocontrol. Diatomaceous earth formulation containing conidia of *B. bassiana* was found more effective in controlling coffee berry borer as compared to the talcum powder formulation or sodium alginate pellet formulation (Niranjana, 2004).

The reports on biocontrol formulations containing fungal metabolites are sparse. Poole *et al* (1998) reported the use of different formulations of 6 pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone (neat, dispersed in 0.01% polysorbate 80 or dissolved in acetone or cold pressed oil) for the control of post harvest rots of Kiwifruits caused by *B. cinerea*. The formulations with acetone and polysorbate 80 were found more effective as they could leave surface films of 6- pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone on the wound surfaces, which could contact surface lodged pathogen directly.

# 1.4.3.2 Storage and shelf life

This is one of the major concerns of biopesticide industry due to its inevitable comparison with the chemical industry. It was observed that shelf life of biocontrol formulations containing living propagules of fungi vary depending upon the strain as well as the type of fungal propagule used in the formulation. The carrier that retains the maximum viability and virulence of conidia for a minimum of 6 months at 28°C, ideally 18 months at 20°C, is suitable for the further commercialization (Deshpande, 2005). A talc-based preparation of *T. virens* conidia retained 82% viability at 5°C in refrigerator after 6 months, while at room temperature (25-30°C) same level of viability was observed only up to 3 months (Singh and Zaidi, 2005). Prasad and Rangeshwaran (2000) identified kaolin and talc as better carriers for *T. harzianum* conidia as compared to bentonite. The talc-based formulation retained more than 10<sup>6</sup> viable propagules per g up to 3 months. Chlamydospores based formulations of *T. harzianum* and *T. virens* exhibited longer shelf life than conidia based formulations at room temperature. Formulation having mycelial fragments alone did not have longer shelf life (Singh and Zaidi, 2005).

# **1.4.4 Application**

The application of mycopesticides (living propagules or metabolites of fungi) must be easy, effective, timely, to the appropriate site of action and compatible with the available agricultural equipments. In general, mycopesticides are applied as seed treatment, seedling root treatment, soil treatment and as foliar application. Inoculation of seeds, corms, bulbs, tuber, etc. with the living propagules of antagonists help in preventing seed/corm decay and seedling blight. The diseases caused by seed-borne pathogens, particularly externally seed-borne, of even diseases affecting above ground plant parts can be controlled. While Selvakumar *et al* (2000) reported suppression of internally seed borne diseases like the loose smut of wheat by seed treatment with *Trichoderma*, probably due to effect of its metabolites. The seed dressing with *Trichoderma* conidia mixed in rice kanji or jaggary is also a common practice (Chavan *et al*, 2006). The soil application along with fertilizers is also an acceptable practice for the control of root pathogens (Spadaro and Lodivica, 2005; Soytong and Ratanacherdachai, 2005). In recent years, foliar sprays with oil based liquid formulations of biocontrol agents like *Trichoderma* and/or *Pseudomonas* were found to be quite effective against diseases affecting foliage or blossoms (Singh and Zaidi, 2005).

The soil dwelling insect pests can be controlled using soil application of entomopathogenic fungi. Biocane, the rice granule formulation of *M. anisopliae* was applied 20 cm below the soil surface during 'fill in' a few months after the sugarcane sets are planted (Milner, 2004). While peeled or squeezed barley kernels colonized with mycelium of *B. brongniartii* were applied with a drill machine to a soil depth 5-10 cm at a rate of 30-50 kg/ha for the control of European cockchafer (*Melolontha melolontha*) in grasslands and orchards (Keller, 2004).

For the control of locusts and grasshoppers, aqueous formulations of entomopathogenic fungi were primarily applied using conventional hydraulic sprayers like knapsack sprayers and CO<sub>2</sub> pressurized sprayers (Inglis *et al*, 2000). While the oil formulations were applied using very low (VLV; 5-20 l/ha) and ultra low (ULV; < 5 l/ha) volume sprayers. The oil-diesel formulations of *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* were applied using ultra low volume sprayers with controlled droplet application

for the control of *H. armigera* a dreadful pest on pulses (Nahar *et al*, 2004; Nahar *et al*, 2003). While Pu *et al* (2005) found the use of air-blast sprayer suitable for the spraying of the aqueous formulations of *B. bassiana* for the control of false eye leaf hopper, *Empoasca vitis* in tea canopy.

The mycopesticide preparations containing fungal metabolites, especially cell wall degrading enzymes were applied singly or in combination with other biocontrol agents for the control of insect pests or fungal pathogens under green house or field conditions. Foliar application of microbial chitinases was found effective for the control of raspberry midge blight in Siberia (Shternshis *et al*, 2002a). While Patil *et al* (2001) used mycolytic enzyme preparation of *M. verrucaria* containing chitinase,  $\beta$ -1, 3-glucanase and protease for soil irrigation to control *S. rolfsii* a root pathogen of peanut. Shternshis *et al* (2002b) applied the test composition containing *Mamestra brassicae* NPV (MbNPV) (1x10<sup>7</sup> polyhedra / ml), Bt *galleriae* (2.5x10<sup>7</sup> spores/ml) and chitinase (0.5 mU/ml) at an application rate of 300 l/ha using hand sprayer for the control of lepidopteran cabbage pests, *Mamestra brassicae*, *Plutella xylostella* and *Pieris brassicae*. Poole *et al* (1998) reported the topical application of an antibiotic, 6-pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone dissolved in acetone on Kiwifruits to control post harvest rot caused by *B. cinerea*.

# 1.4.5 Risk assessment

Mycopesticides may represent an acceptable and effective means of disease management as they may control pathogens and pests resistant to chemical pesticides and reduce the possibility of development of further resistance. However, mycopesticides may also pose risks to the non-target organisms. The potential nontarget effects of fungal biocontrol agents include competitive displacement, allergenicity, toxicity and pathogenecity (Brimmer and Boland, 2003; Cook *et al*, 1996; Simberloff and Stiling, 1996a; Simberloff and Stiling, 1996b). The potential of a biocontrol agent to infect organisms other than the target pests is of most concern from a risk management perspective (Cook *et al*, 1996).

The assessment of risk posed by the secreted metabolites is one of the major hurdles in the registration and subsequent commercialization of fungal biocontrol agents (Strasser, 2003; Strasser *et al*, 2000). There is a concern that toxic fungal metabolites may enter the food chain and pose a risk to humans and animals. Usually, the detailed information on the pathological and toxicological risks of biocontrol agents to man and other non-target organisms is provided but most often with assays often being conducted under unnatural conditions. Strasser *et al* (2000) and Butt and Copping (2000) emphasized on the need to develop the tools and methodologies that will identify and detect fate of toxic fungal metabolites in the environment.

#### **1.4.6 Registration and commercialization**

The term mycopesticide is normally used for all fungal metabolites and living propagules of fungi that can be formulated for use as pesticide for the control of pests. In India there is registration committee constituted under the Insecticides act 1968. Every microbial pesticide, which is used, distributed, sold or offered for sale needs official registration of the product with the Central Insecticide Board. The regulatory requirements for microbial pesticides were simplified to promote their fast commercialization but with maintenance of quality standards (Baptiwale, 2004).

The final step in development of mycopesticide is the commercialization of the product. Market for fungal agents is considered to be 10-15% of the total biopesticide market in India. Around 125-150 tons of different fungal formulations worth Rs. 2-2.5 crores are being marketed in India per year (Chavan *et al*, 2006). The biocontrol preparations containing *T. harzianum*, *T. viride*, *Verticillium* sp., *Metarhizium* sp. and *B*.

*bassiana* are available in Indian market (www.indianindustry.com). Several economic and geo-political factors also influence the market potential for mycopesticides. The major concern is of course the acceptability by the farming community (Lacey *et al*, 2001).

The market development of mycopesticides faces several technical hurdles. Butt and Copping (2000) have extensively reviewed the key technical issues that need to be dealt with in the development of efficacious mycopesticides. One of the major criticisms of fungal biocontrol agents is that they act slowly and therefore, give limited protection to crops. The application of fungal metabolites may provide a quicker and ecofriendly alternative to control pathogens/pests on crop plants (Shternshis, 2005). The fungal metabolites may be used in combination with other biocontrol agents to reduce the time of kill of pest/pathogen. To mitigate the problems regarding the cost of production, relatively short shelf life of many products and specificity of fungal biocontrol agents a food industry based model with a more decentralized production strategy to encourage small-scale commercial enterprise has been suggested Chavan *et al* (2006).

# 1.5 Present investigations and thesis organization

In this Ph.D. work, an attempt has been made to develop a mycopesticide for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects using a saprophytic fungus, *Myrothecium verrucaria* that secretes appreciable amounts of mycolytic and cuticle degrading enzymes.

#### 1.5.1 Myrothecium verrucaria

The fungal pathogens and insect pests share a common structural component, chitin in their outermost protective covers, cell wall and cuticle, respectively.

Furthermore, chitin is absent in vascular plants and mammals thus making it an attractive target for the control of both fungal pathogens and insect pests. In this thesis, Myrothecium verrucaria, a deuteromycetous saprophytic fungus has been used to develop a mycopesticide for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insect pests. There are several qualities that make *M. verrucaria* a suitable system for the studies on the development of a mycopesticide using chitin as a target. *M. verrucaria* is known to secrete high amounts of chitinase along with other mycolytic (ME) and cuticle degrading (CDE) enzymes like  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, protease and lipase when grown in a medium containing chitin as a sole source of carbon (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). It was reported that the mycolytic enzyme complex of *M. verrucaria* effectively degraded mycelial biomass of root pathogens like F. oxysporum and S. rolfsii. Recently, Patil et al (2001) demonstrated the control of pre-emergence rot of peanut caused by S. rolfsii in pot experiments using mycolytic enzymes of *M. verrucaria* for daily soil irrigation. *M. verrucaria* purified endochitinase was also found to be effective in killing the first and fourth instar larvae of a mosquito, Aedes aegypti, a vector of yellow fever and dengue, within 48 h (Mendosa *et al*, 1996). Thus in view of these results, the living propagules of *M. verrucaria* that can release CDE/ME complex or CDE/ME complex itself provide a suitable system to develop a mycopesticide against plant pathogenic fungi and insects.

# **1.5.2 Objectives of this study**

The objectives of the present studies are as follows:

1. Morphological, cultural, biochemical and molecular characterization of *M*. *verrucaria*.

- 2. Production of living propagules of *M. verrucaria*, using solid state fermentation for the production of conidia, and submerged fermentation for the production of unicellular yeast-like cells.
- 3. Optimization for the production of CDE/ME of *M. verrucaria*, in shake flask and in 151 fermenter.
- Use of living propagules and enzymic components against plant pathogenic fungi and insects.
- 5. Formulation and toxicological studies.

# 1.5.3 Thesis organization

The experiments presented in this Ph.D. dissertation are organized into three main parts. The first part is morphological, cultural, biochemical and molecular characterization of *M. verrucaria* (Chapter 3). The morphological and cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* were studied to understand the triggers for H-Y reversible dimorphic transition. The differential expressions of chitinolytic enzymes and NAD-/NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases and nitrate reductase were studied as biochemical correlates of H-Y dimorphic transition in *M. verrucaria*. The 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequence analysis was carried out for the molecular typing of the *M. verrucaria* strain exhibiting higher production of CDE/ME complex and hypha-yeast transition.

The second part of this research effort includes production of mycopesticide (living propagules of *M. verrucaria* and mycolytic and cuticle degrading enzyme complex of *M. verrucaria*) (Chapter 4). The production of *M. verrucaria* conidia under solid-state fermentation conditions while that of yeast-like cells under submerged fermentation conditions is discussed. The work on optimization of the conditions for the
production of mycolytic/cuticle degrading enzyme complex in a shake flask and in a stirred tank fermenter (15 l capacity) has also been described.

The third and final part of this dissertation concerns the formulation and application of living propagules and mycolytic/cuticle degrading enzyme complex of *M*. *verrucaria* for the control of plant pathogenic fungi, *S. rolfsii* and *Capnodium* sp. and insect pests, *H. armigera, Spodoptera litura* and *Plutella xylostella* (Chapter 5).

For the screening of chitinolytic organisms a rapid and sensitive method based on the use of Ostazin Red labeled colloidal chitin as a substrate for the quantitative estimation of chitinase was developed (Appendix 1). Chapter 2

Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Materials

The materials and chemicals used in the studies were purchased from suppliers

as shown in Table 2.1.

## Table 2.1 Source of chemicals and materials

Chemicals, Materials	Source
<i>N</i> -Acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), Bovine serum albumin, Chitin, Chitosan, Ethylene glycol chitosan, Glucosamine, Gum arabic, $\alpha$ -Ketoglutarate, Laminarin, Mandelonitrile, Mandelonitrile lyase, 4-Methylumbelliferone, 4-Methylumbelliferyl- $\beta$ -D- <i>N</i> -acetyl glucosaminide, 4-Methylumbelliferyl- $\beta$ -N, N', N"- triacetyl chitotrioside, Tyrosine	Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA
Dithiothreitol, N-(1-Naphthyl)ethylenediamine dihydrochloride, Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and reduced form (NADH), Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP) and reduced form (NADPH), Nitroblue tetrazolium, Phenazine methosulphate, Sulfanilamide	Sisco Research Laboratoies Ltd., India
Ammonium chloride, di Ammonium hydrogen orthophosphate, Ammonium nitrate, Ammonium sulphate, Calcium chloride, Cobaltous chloride, p-dimethyl aminobenzaldehyde, Ferrous sulphate, Glucose, Magnesium sulphate, Manganous sulphate, Mannitol, Potassium chloride, di-Potassium hydrogen orthophosphate, Potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate, Potassium nitrate, Sodium chloride, Sodium nitrate, Sodium nitrite, Sucrose, Urea, Zinc sulphate	s.d.fine- CHEM Ltd., India
Beef extract, Peptone, Sabouraud malt extract, Soyabean meal, Starch, Yeast extract	Hi-media, India
Oxgall	Loba Chemie, India
Ultra filtration membrane	Millipore Molsheim, France

\* All other chemicals used were of analytical grade.

# 2.2 Organisms

The organisms used during the course of this work are listed in Table 2.2.

Organism	Purpose
Myrothecium verrucaria	Organism of present investigations on morphogenesis and biocontrol enzyme production
Sclerotium rolfsii, Fusarium oxysporum, Capnodium sp.	Plant pathogens
Benjaminiella poitrasii	Dimorphic fungus
Metarhizium anisopliae, Beauveria bassiana, Nomurea rileyi	Entomopathogenic fungi
Bacillus subtilis	Antagonist

# 2.2.1 Media

The media used during the course of this work are listed in Table 2.3

# Table 2.3 Media

Name	Constituents (g/l)
Potato dextrose agar	Potato, 200; glucose, 20; agar, 20; pH, 5.5-6.0.
Sabouraud malt yeast extract peptone medium (SMYP)	Sabouraud malt extract, 3.0; yeast extract, 3.0; peptone, 5.0; glucose, 10.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.5-6.0.
Yeast extract peptone glucose medium (YPG)	Yeast extract, 3.0; peptone, 5.0; glucose, 10.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.0-5.5.
Chitin medium	KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 3.0; K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> , 1.0; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.7; (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> , 1.4; NaCl, 0.5; CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 0.5; yeast extract; 0.5; bacto-peptone, 0.5; chitin, 5.0; trace metal solution, 1ml of (mg/l): FeSO <sub>4</sub> , 5.0; MnSO <sub>4</sub> , 1.56; ZnSO <sub>4</sub> , 3.34; CoCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O, 2.0; pH, 6.0.
Basal medium	KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 3.0; K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> , 1.0; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.7; (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> , 1.4; NaCl, 0.5; CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 0.5; chitin, 5.0; trace metal solution, 1ml of (mg/l): FeSO <sub>4</sub> , 5.0; MnSO <sub>4</sub> , 1.56; ZnSO <sub>4</sub> , 3.34; CoCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O, 2.0; pH, 6.0.

Name	Constituents (g/l)		
Medium for yeast form growth	Sucrose, 20.0; (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> , 4.62; KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 1.5; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.5; CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 0.5; pH, 4.0.		
Medium for hyphal form growth	Sucrose, 20.0; NaNO <sub>3</sub> , 6.0; KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 1.5; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.5; CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 0.5; pH, 6.0.		
Czapek Dox medium	Sucrose, 40.0; NaNO <sub>3</sub> , 2.0; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.5; FeSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.01; K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> , 1.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.0-5.5.		
Minimal medium	Glucose, 5.0; NaNO <sub>3</sub> , 1.0; KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 1.0; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 1.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.5-6.0.		
Maltose medium	NaNO <sub>3</sub> , 2.0; KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 1.5; MgSO <sub>4</sub> , 0.5; maltose, 4.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.5-6.0.		
Carrot agar	Carrot, 200; agar, 20; pH, 5.5-6.0.		
Bean pod extract agar	French beans, 50; agar, 20.0; pH, 5.5-6.0.		
Soil agar	Soil, 20; agar, 20; pH, 6.5-7.0.		
Nutrient agar	Beef extract, 3.0; NaCl, 5.0; peptone, 5.0; agar, 20.0; pH, 7.0.		

## 2.2.2 Maintenance

*M. verrucaria* (MTCC 9151), *S. rolfsii* NCIM 1084, *F. oxysporum*, *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *Capnodium* sp. were maintained on PDA slants. *N. rileyi* was maintained on SMYP agar. *B. poitrasii*, was maintained on YPG (containing Difco yeast extract, and peptone). *B. subtilis* was maintained on NA. The slants were incubated at 28°C and routinely subcultured after 15 d. The stock cultures were maintained at 4°C until used.

## 2.2.3 Growth of M. verrucaria on different media

Morphological and cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* were studied to identify a medium supporting good vegetative growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria*.

The agar blocks (2 mm<sup>2</sup>) with mycelial growth of *M. verrucaria* were inoculated in the center of the plates containing various complex solid media (potato dextrose agar, bean pod extract agar, carrot agar, soil agar, yeast extract peptone glucose medium and chitin medium) and synthetic solid media (Czapek Dox medium, Maltose medium and media for Y-form and H-form growth of *M. verrucaria*). The plates were incubated at 28°C for 7 d. The plates were then observed for colony characteristics and sporulation.

#### 2.3 Hypha-yeast transition in *M. verrucaria*

#### 2.3.1 Morphological triggers

*M. verrucaria* hyphal cells (48 h old) grown in a medium for H-form growth, pH 6.0, were used as inoculum for H-Y transition studies. While yeast inoculum was developed in a medium for Y-form growth, pH 4.0 (Table 2.3). To identify the morphological triggers for H-Y and reverse transition in *M. verrucaria*, effect of carbon and nitrogen sources and medium pH on the morphological outcome was studied. The more details of the media and incubation conditions used for this study are discussed appropriately under results (Chapter 3). Aliquots from liquid cultures were examined microscopically and % of yeast-like and hyphal cells per microscopic field were recorded.

#### 2.3.2 Spore germination under yeast- and hypha-favouring conditions

*M. verrucaria* spore germination was studied in specific form supporting media. The spore germination was monitored on solid as well as in liquid media under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C. The liquid cultures were incubated on a rotary shaker (200 rpm). The growth was observed microscopically after every 3 h.

#### 2.4 Aerial conidia production using solid-state fermentation

The attempts were made to produce *M. verrucaria* conidia using various solid substrates like grains (rice, beaten rice, sorghum, pearl millet, wheat), fishery waste (prawn shell waste) and agricultural waste (wheat bran, rice bran). The solid-state fermentation was carried out in a 500 ml capacity Erlenmeyer flask. *M. verrucaria* hyphal cells (48 h old) grown in YPG broth were used as an inocululm. After 14 d incubation, 0.01% Tween 80 (100 ml) was added to the solid substrate (50 g) and mixed thoroughly by keeping on a rotary shaker (200 rpm) for 30 min. Total number of conidia in the supernatant was quantified using Neubaur's chamber. While the total viable count was measured by serial dilution method. The soluble protein produced by *M. verrucaria* was measured as the indicator of its growth on various solid substrates according to Zheng and Shetty (1998).

#### 2.5 Cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex of *M. verrucaria*

#### 2.5.1 Shake flask studies

For the production of CDE/ME complex comprising of chitinase,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, protease and lipase, *M. verrucaria* was grown in a medium containing either chitin (0.5 %) or autoclaved mycelium of *S. rolfsii* (5.0% wet wt) under shaking conditions (200 rpm), at 28°C, for 7 d as described earlier (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989).

#### 2.5.2 Fermenter studies

Batch fermentations were carried out for CDE/ME complex production in 15 1 capacity locally made stirred tank fermenter with the probes to monitor temperature, dissolved oxygen and pH. Attempts were made to optimize agitation and aeration conditions for the production of CDE/ME complex.

#### 2.5.3 Concentration of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex

The cell free broth of *M. verrucaria* grown in a chitin medium was used as the source of CDE/ME complex. Attempts were made to concentrate cell free broth by ultrafiltration using hollow fiber membrane of 10 kDa molecular weight cut off. For further concentration, two methods were tried, spray drying using Buchi 190 Mini Spray Dryer and freeze drying using DW6 Freeze dryer (Heto Lab Equipment, Denmark). The powder of CDE/ME complex obtained was stored at -20°C until used.

#### 2.6 Plate assays to study antagonistic interaction

#### 2.6.1 Dual culture plate assay

To study the interaction between *M. verrucaria* and plant pathogenic root infecting fungus, *S. rolfsii*, dual culture plate assay was carried out. The agar block from an actively growing colony of *S. rolfsii* was inoculated on minimal medium or a chitin agar plates. Simultaneously, agar block from *M. verrucaria* colony was inoculated at a distance of 3 cm. The plates were incubated at 28°C for 4 d. The plates where boundaries of two colonies meet were observed under light microscope, to observe hypha-hypha interaction. While % inhibition of mycelial growth of a pathogen was calculated when zone of inhibition was observed. The inhibition of the mycelial growth of fungal pathogen was calculated according to following formula, % Inhibition of mycelial growth =  $\frac{R1 - R2}{R1} \times 100$ 

R1 = Radius of the pathogen colony away from the antagonist's colony. R2 = Radius of the pathogen colony towards the antagonist's colony.

#### 2.6.2 Viability of sclerotia

The method adopted by Prasad *et al* (1999) was followed to assess the antagonistic potential of CDE/ME complex. Sclerotia of *S. rolfsii* were placed on the filter papers soaked in different solutions viz, filter sterilized (using the Milipore membrane of 0.45  $\mu$  pore size) CDE/ME preparations containing 0.1-1.0 U/ml chitinase and Carzim, 0.4 and 0.8 % w/v (chemical control). Sterile distilled water served as a control. Each treatment was replicated thrice. These plates were incubated at 28°C for 4 d. The number of viable sclerotia was estimated on the basis of their ability to give rise mycelial growth. The results were expressed as a percentage reduction in viability of sclerotia over control.

# 2.6.3 Effect of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation on germination of conidia

The spores of following fungi, *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* were mixed with filter sterilized CDE/ME preparation containing 2 U/ml chitinase. These suspensions were spread on PDA plates immediately or after 2 h incubation at room temperature. Germination of *N. rileyi* conidia was observed on SMYP plates. The plates were incubated at 28°C and observed under light microscope at an interval of 6 h. 10 microscopic fields per plate were observed. The reduction in % germination of spores was calculated by comparing the control plates spreaded with spore suspensions prepared in 0.01% Tween 80. The effect of CDE/ME preparation (chitinase 1-6 U/ml) on the germination of spores of plant pathogenic fungus, *Capnodium* sp. was also studied.

#### 2.6.4 Peanut germination trial

Peanut seeds were surface sterilized using 0.5% v/v sodium hypochlorite and then washed with sterile distilled water. These seeds were then soaked in *M. verrucaria* conidial suspension  $(1 \times 10^8 \text{ conidia/ml})$  at room temperature for 30 min. Seeds were then placed on a moist filter paper in a sterile petri plate. Seeds in test plates were coated with suspension of *S. rolfsii* mycelium (250 µl). Control seeds were soaked in sterile distilled water. The plates were incubated at room temperature up to 7 d. Whenever required filter papers were moistened with sterile distilled water. The percentage of seed germination and the length of a radicle were recorded.

#### 2.7 Sudan black B staining of yeast-like cells

The yeast-like and hyphal cells of *M. verrucaria* were stained with Sudan black B using method of Burdon (1946). The slides of various samples were heat fixed and then flooded with Sudan black B solution (3.0 g/l in 70% ethanol). After 5 min, slide was washed with xylene and counterstained with safranine (5.0 g/l aqueous solution). The samples were observed using light microscope (Leica, Labor Lux). Yeast and hyphal cells of *B. poitrasii*, a known dimorphic fungus and chlamydospores and hyphal cells of *F. oxysporum* were used for comparison.

#### 2.8 Enzyme assays

#### 2.8.1 Chitinase assay

The chitinase activity in the cell free extracts was estimated as described earlier using colloidal chitin as the substrate (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). Colloidal chitin was prepared from crab shell chitin (Sigma) and Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin (a kind gift from Andy Holtman, Cook College, NJ, U.S.A). Chitin 10 g, was suspended in chilled o-phosphoric acid (300 ml, 88% w/v) and left at 4-8°C with stirring for 2 h. The coloured chitin was stirred overnight. The acid swollen chitin was repeatedly washed with chilled distilled water, followed with a 1% w/v NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and was further dialyzed against cold distilled water. After homogenization in a Waring blender (1 min), acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) was added to the suspension to make the final substrate concentration, 7.0 mg/ml.

The reaction mixture for chitinase assay contained: 1 ml of acid swollen chitin, 1 ml of acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) and 1 ml enzyme. The reaction mixture was incubated at 50°C for 1 h. The assay mixture with heat-inactivated enzyme (5 min in boiling water-bath) was used as a control. The dye labeled GlcNAc released from the acid swollen Red-chitin was estimated at 530 nm. Simultaneously, the GlcNAc released was estimated colorimetrically with p-dimethyl amino benzaldehyde (DMAB) according to Reissig *et al* (1955). The unit of enzyme activity was defined as the activity that produced 1 µmole of GlcNAc per min.

#### 2.8.2 In situ estimation of endochitinase and N-acetylglucosaminidase

The chitinolytic activities in the vegetative cells were estimated according to Ghormade *et al* (2000). The endochitinase and *N*-acetylglucosaminidase assays were performed using fluorogenic substrates, 4-methylumbelliferyl- $\beta$ -D-*N*-*N*<sup>'</sup>-*N*<sup>"</sup>triacetyl chitotrioside [4-MU-(GlcNAc)<sub>3</sub>] and 4-methylumbelliferyl- $\beta$ -D-*N*-acetyl-glucosaminide (4-MU-GlcNAc), respectively prepared in 50% v/v ethanol. The reaction mixture contained 5 mg (wet wt) of whole cells suspended in 300 µl of sodium acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) and 20 µl of 700 µM fluorogenic substrate. After incubation at 37°C for 30 min the reaction was terminated by the addition of 2.2 ml 0.2 M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. After centrifugation at 2000 g for 10 min at 4°C, the supernatant was collected and the fluorescence was measured in a Perkin-Elmer Fluorescence spectrophotometer, using

excitation at 360 nm and emission at 445 nm. One unit of enzyme activity was defined as the activity that produced 1 nmole of 4-methylumbelliferone per mg wet wt of whole cells per min.

#### 2.8.3 Chitosanase assay

The chitosanase activity was estimated using acid swollen chitosan as the substrate. The assay mixture contained 1 ml acid swollen chitosan (7 mg/ml), 1 ml acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) and 1ml enzyme that was incubated at 50°C for 1 h. The glucosamine liberated was estimated using the modified Morgan-Elson method described by Good and Bessman (1964). One international unit of enzyme activity was defined as the activity that produced 1 µmole of glucosamine per min.

#### 2.8.4 Protease assay

Protease activity was measured using Hammerstein casein as a substrate (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). The reaction mixture, 2 ml, contained an aliquot of a suitably diluted enzyme solution, 10 mg Hammerstein casein and sodium carbonate buffer (0.2 mM, pH 9.7). Enzyme reaction was carried out at 35°C for 20 min and terminated by the addition of 3 ml trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (2.6 ml 5.0% TCA + 0.4 ml 3.3 N HCl). The absorbance of the TCA soluble fraction was measured at 280 nm. One international unit was defined as enzyme activity that produced 1 µmole of tyrosine per min.

#### 2.8.5 Lipase assay

Lipase activity was determined as described by Pignede *et al*, (2000). The substrate emulsion was prepared with olive oil, 50 ml and gum arabic, 50 ml (10% w/v). The reaction mixture contained 1 ml enzyme, 5 ml substrate emulsion and 2 ml phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 6.8) and was incubated for 1 h at  $37^{\circ}$ C with shaking. The reaction

was stopped with 4 ml of acetone-ethanol (1:1) containing 0.09% phenolphthalein as an indicator. Enzyme activity was determined by titration of the fatty acid released with 50 mM NaOH. One international unit was defined as enzyme activity that produced 1 µmole of fatty acid per min.

#### 2.8.6 β-1,3-Glucanase assay

The extracellular,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase was estimated using laminarin as a substrate (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). An aliquot of 0.5 ml enzyme solution was mixed with 0.5 ml of 1% laminarin prepared in the acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) and incubated at 50°C for 30 min. Reducing sugars were estimated as glucose equivalents as described by Somogyi (1952). One international unit was defined as the enzyme activity that produced 1 µmole of glucose per min.

#### 2.8.7 Mannanase assay

The mannanase activity was estimated using yeast mannan as a substrate (Mendosa *et al*, 1996). The 0.5 ml of enzyme sample was mixed with 0.5 ml yeast mannan (1%) prepared in a potassium phosphate buffer (200 mM, pH 5.8) and was incubated at 50°C for 1 h. Reducing sugars were estimated as mannose equivalents as described by Somogyi (1952). One international unit was defined as the enzyme activity that liberated 1 µmole of mannose per min.

#### 2.8.8 Amylase assay

The amylase activity was measured using soluble starch as a substrate as described by Bernfeld (1951).

#### 2.8.9 Cellulase assay

The cellulase activity was estimated using carboxymethyl cellulose as a substrate as described earlier by Sadana *et al* (1979).

#### 2.8.10 NAD(P)-glutamate dehydrogenase assay

To measure the NAD(P)-GDH activities in hyphal and yeast-like cells of M. *verrucaria*, cell extracts were prepared by the method of Ferguson and Sims (1971). The hyphal-/yeast-like cells were collected on Whatmann filter paper No. 1, washed with chilled distilled water followed by potassium phosphate buffer (5 mM, pH 7.2) containing 0.25 mM EDTA and 50 mM K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and homogenized in a Braun's homogeniser for six cycles of 15 sec each for yeast cells and 4 cycles for hyphal cells. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 12500 g for 15 min and the supernatant was used for the determination of NAD(P)-GDH activity.

NAD(P)-GDH was measured by the method of Khale *et al* (1992). The reductive amination of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate was measured by monitoring the decrease in the  $A_{340}$  of NAD(P)H. The reaction mixture (1 ml) contained 50-100 µl of crude extract, 200 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and 30 mM  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate in a potassium phosphate buffer (100 mM, pH 8.0). The reaction was initiated by the addition of 0.125 mM NADH or NADPH to the sample cuvette. A control in which  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate was omitted from the reaction mixture was run for each assay. One unit of enzyme activity is defined as the amount of enzyme required to oxidize 1 µmole of NAD(P)H per min.

#### 2.8.11 Nitrate reductase assay

The nitrate reductase activity in the extracts of hyphal and yeast-like cells of *M*. *verrucaria* was measured using the method described by Redinbaugh and Campbell (1985). The reaction mixture (2 ml) contained: 1.8 ml of potassium phosphate buffer

(25 mM, pH 7.3) with 10 mM potassium nitrate and 0.05 mM EDTA, 0.1 ml 2.0 mM NADH and 0.1 ml enzyme sample. The reaction mixture was incubated at 30°C for 2 min. The reaction was then stopped by adding 58 mM sulfanilamide solution prepared in 3 M hydrochloric acid. The 0.77 mM *N*-(1-Naphthyl) ethylenediamine dihydrochloride solution (1 ml) was then added for the colour development. The tubes were then incubated at 25°C for 10 min. The absorbance was read at 540 nm. One unit of nitrate reductase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme that reduces 1 μmole of nitrate to nitrite per min in NADH system at pH 7.3 at 30°C.

#### 2.8.12 Mandelonitrile lyase assay

Mandelonitrile lyase assay was performed by monitoring the decomposition of (R, S)-mandelonitrile (Kuroki and Conn, 1989). The amount of benzaldehyde produced was measured by recording the absorbance at 249.6 nm. Standard reaction mixtures contained Mes.KOH buffer (100 nM, pH 5.5), 395  $\mu$ M (R, S)-mandelonitrile and make up the volume to 1 ml by adding suitably diluted enzyme. Reaction was initiated by adding enzyme and the increase in absorbance was then followed. Since, (R, S)-mandelonitrile also decomposes slowly at this pH in the absence of enzyme, the non enzymic rate was determined for each assay and subtracted from the total rate to obtain the true enzymic rate. One unit of mandelonitrile lyase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme that catalyses the production of 1  $\mu$ mole of benzaldehyde per min.

#### 2.9 Estimation of reducing sugars

The glucose equivalents were estimated by Somogyi (1952), GlcNAc and glucosamine were measured by Morgan-Elson method (Reissig *et al*, 1955) and modified Morgan-Elson method (Good and Bessman, 1964), respectively.

87

#### 2.10 Protein estimation

Protein was estimated according to Lowry *et al* (1951) using bovine serum albumin as a standard. Protein staining after native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was done using silver nitrate (Blum *et al*, 1987).

#### 2.11 Thin layer chromatography

Thin layer chromatography was used for the detection of GlcNAc produced during hydrolysis of colloidal chitin (Sigma) and colloidal Red chitin. The samples were kept in a boiling water bath for 5 min to precipitate out soluble proteins and were used after centrifugation. The solvent system used was n-butanol: pyridine: water (6:4:3 v/v/v). GlcNAc was visualised by spraying with a solution of 3% w/v p-anisidine in butanol.

# 2.12 Native polacrylamide gel electrophoresis and activity staining of NAD- and NADP- glutamate dehydrogenases

To detect whether different NAD- and NADP-dependent GDHs are expressed in *M. verrucaria* H and Y form cells, the activity staining was done according to the procedure of Laycock *et al* (1964). The intracellular proteins from 72 h old H and Y form cells of *M. verrucaria* were separated on a non-denaturing 7.5% (w/v) polyacrylamide gels (pH, 8.3) (Davis 1964). The staining mixture contained 100 mM L-glutamate, 0.06 mM phenazine methosulphate, 0.22 mM nitroblue tetrazolium and 0.026 mM NAD(P), potassium phosphate buffer (100 mM, pH 8.0). The gels were incubated in staining solution until blue coloured bands appeared. In order to eliminate possibility of an artifact caused due to alcohol dehydrogenase the staining was carried out in the absence of glutamate (substrate) (Kapoor and Grover, 1970). The gels were stored thereafter in a methanol: acetic acid: water (40:10:50 v/v/v) mixture.

#### 2.13 18s rRNA gene sequence analysis

The genomic DNA was isolated from 72 h old mycelium of M. verrucaria grown in a synthetic medium containing sucrose and sodium nitrate, pH 6.0. DNA extraction protocol suggested by Wendland et al (1996) was used for DNA isolation. Nuclear 18s rRNA gene and ITS 1 sequences were amplified using primers NS1 and ITS1, respectively according to White *et al* (1990). DNA (50 ng) was used for PCR. For 50  $\mu$ l of reaction, 2 mM dNTPs 5  $\mu$ l, 10X buffer 5  $\mu$ l and 0.5 U of Tag polymerase, were used. The reaction volume was made to 50  $\mu$ l using sterile double distilled water. Following conditions were used for PCR, initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min; 35 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, 55°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 1 min 30 sec, followed by 10 min extension at 72°C using MJ Research DNA Engine PTC-200. PCR product (5 µl) was mixed with 1U shrimp alkaline phosphatase (Amersham) and 1U exonuclease I and incubated at 37°C for 15 min and heat denaturated at 75°C for 15 min. This purified sample was used for sequencing using primers NS1 (for 18s rRNA gene) and ITS1 (for ITS1 region). Sequencing was done using Big Dye Terminator Kit (ABI-Perkin-Elmer, USA). The sequencing reactions were run on ABI-310 automated sequencer. The sequence data was analyzed using NCBI server (http//:www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST).

#### 2.14 Immobilization of yeast-like cells in alginate beads

*M. verrucaria* yeast-like cells (72 h old) were separated from the culture broth using centrifugation. The yeast biomass (1 g wet wt) was mixed in sterile sodium alginate (2% w/v) solution or sodium alginate solution containing chitin powder (0.5% w/v). The mixture was then dropped through pipette having 2 mm orifice, into a sterile calcium chloride (1% w/v) solution. The beads thus produced

were harvested from the solution, rinsed in a sterile distilled water and spread in a single layer in trays lined with a filter paper. These beads were air dried in a laminar airflow for 1 h. The beads were stored in a sterile, airtight plastic vials, at room temperature or at 4°C. The viability of *M. verrucaria* in beads was quantified before beads formation, same day when beads were produced (0 d) and on every subsequent 7 d after beads formation. The beads were disintegrated in 0.01% Tween 80, which was taken as a suspension of yeast cells. The population of *M. verrucaria* was enumerated by a dilution plate method using PDA.

#### 2.15 Formulation of conidia with different carriers

*M. verrucaria* conidia produced on sorghum grains were harvested using 0.01% v/v Tween 80. The conidial suspension was mixed with organic carriers like rice bran, wheat bran, prawn shell waste and conventionally used carriers like charcoal powder or precipitated silica powder. The rice bran and wheat bran supplemented with 2% chitin were also used as carriers. These conidial preparations contain  $1 \times 10^9$  conidia/g carrier. The preparations were stored in sealed plastic bags, at room temperature or at 4°C. The viability of conidia with different carriers was assessed at an interval of 15 d. The conidial preparations (10 g) were mixed with 100 ml of 0.01% Tween 80. The viability of *M. verrucaria* conidia in the suspension was quantified by a serial dilution method using PDA.

#### 2.16 Biocontrol of fungal pathogens of plants (Pot experiments)

The root pathogen, *S. rolfsii* was grown in a YPG broth (100 ml), under shaking conditions, 200 rpm for 72 h, at 28°C. The soil:sand (2:1) mixture (6 kg) was sterilized by autoclaving and infested with the mycelial mass of *S. rolfsii*. Peanut seeds (2 Nos.) were sown per pot containing 200 g soil. Following soil treatments (5 g/pot) were used to detect their efficacy to control *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut: rice bran formulations of *M. verrucaria* conidia with and without chitin and immobilized yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* with and without chitin. The results were compared with conventionally used chemical fungicide treatment, Carzim (0.8 % w/v). Untreated controls in sterile and *S. rolfsii* infested soil were also kept for comparison. The plants were irrigated with sterile distilled water. In another experiment, seeds were sown in *S. rolfsii* infested soil and were irrigated with CDE/ME preparation (chitinase, 5-20 U/pot) at an interval of 7 d for 2 weeks. Plants were allowed to grow up to 3 weeks. Percentage seed germination was recorded and plant vigour was assessed in terms of shoot and root length. To measure the chitinase activity secreted by different morphologies of *M. verrucaria* in soil, or the residual chitinase activity after soil irrigation with CDE/ME preparation, 100 g soil per pot was thoroughly mixed in 100 ml acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0). The supernatant was used to measure the acid swollen chitin degrading activity in soil.

#### 2.17 Insect bioassay

The initial culture of *Helicoverpa armigera* was established by collecting larval and pupa stages from the chickpea fields. The rearing of the larvae was done individually in plastic vials on vegetable diet (Okra) disinfected for 10 min with 0.5% sodium hypochlorite as described by Ignoffo *et al*, (1975). The larvae of *Spodoptera litura* were collected from castor plants and were reared on castor leaves in a plastic tub. *Plutella xylostella* larvae were collected from infested cauliflowers before use in bioassay. The sugarcane leaves infested with nymphs and adults of *Ceratovacuna lanigera* were collected from sugarcane fields and used for the bioassay. The temperature and relative humidity in the insect rearing room was maintained at  $25 \pm 2$  °C and  $65 \pm 5\%$ , respectively.

91

For bioassay, conidial suspensions  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ and } 1 \times 10^7 \text{ conidia/ml})$  of fungal isolates, *M. verrucaria*, *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* were prepared in sterile 0.01% Tween 80 solution. CDE/ME preparation of *M. verrucaria* containing chitinase 2-6 U/ml was used singly or in combination with the conidial suspensions of fungal isolates. Susceptibility of larvae of H. armigera, S. litura and P. xylostella was evaluated by dipping the larvae in conidial suspensions and/or CDE/ME preparation for 5 sec. Three replicates of 20 larvae were used in each experiment. As control 3 sets of 20 larvae were treated with sterile distilled water and 3 sets of larvae were treated with heat inactivated CDE/ME preparation. After treatment, each larva was kept in a separate plastic vial containing moist Whatman No. 1 paper and allowed to feed on diet, okra piece, castor leaf and cauliflower piece for larvae of H. armigera, S. litura and P. xylostella, respectively. The vials were kept at  $25 \pm 2$  °C and  $65 \pm 5\%$  RH. The mortality was recorded upto 14 days. The dead larvae receiving treatment of conidial suspensions were placed in a sterile petriplate containing moist cotton swab to allow mycelial growth over the cadaver for 3 days. Mortality was corrected by Abott's (1925) formula.

The sugarcane leaves infested with *C. lanigera* were cut into pieces (3 cm<sup>2</sup>) and placed on moist filter paper in sterile petriplate. The effect of *M. verrucaria* conidial suspension and CDE/ME complex on nymphs and adults of *C. lanigera* was assessed by spray method. These suspensions (2 ml/piece of sugarcane leaf) were sprayed using hand compression spray. The plates were incubated at  $25 \pm 2$  °C and  $65 \pm 5\%$  RH. The mortality was recorded upto 14 days. The dead numphs/adults receiving treatment of conidial suspensions were placed in a sterile petriplate containing moist cotton swab to allow mycelial growth over the cadaver for 3 days. Mortality was corrected by Abott's (1925) formula. The wooly mass was separated from the adult aphids and was incubated with CDE/ME complex (2 U/ml lipase) of

*M. verrucaria* for 5 h. These samples were observed under light microscope to assess its hydrolysis.

## 2.18 Field trial

Field trial was conducted at College of Agriculture, Pune-5 during *Rabi*, 2001-2002, to evaluate the efficacy of CDE/ME preparation of *M. verrucaria* to control *H. armigera* infestation in chickpea. The chickpea plot size was  $5 \ge 5 = m^2$ . The normal agronomy practices except plant protection measures were carried out. The CDE/ ME preparation 500 l/ha ( $3 \ge 10^6$  U chitinase), endosulfan ( $0.2\% \times / \times$ ) 500 l/ha, *Ha*NPV, 250 l/ha and *M. anisopliae* ( $10^7$  conidia/ml) 500 l/ha were sprayed with hand compression knapsack sprayer. The treatments were given in randomized block design with four replications. Five plants per plot were selected randomly and tagged for recording observations. Treatments were initiated when infestation was 3-4 larvae per plant. Counts for live larvae were recorded a day before treatment and third, fifth, eighth, eleventh, and fifteenth day after treatment. Field studies were evaluated on the basis of percent efficacy (Henderson and Tilton, 1955), percent pod damage and percent yield, which were determined according to Hassani (2000).

Chapter 3

# Morphological, cultural, biochemical and

# molecular characterization of M. verrucaria

#### **3.1 Introduction**

*Myrothecium verrucaria* is a common saprophytic fungus with a cosmopolitan distribution. It has been found on various plant material, cellulosic waste and soil (Domsch *et al*, 1980). *M. verrucaria* is known for the extracellular production of the hydrolytic enzymes like chitinase,  $\beta$ -1,3 glucanase, lipase and protease involved in degradation of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle, when grown in a medium containing chitin as a sole source of carbon (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). It was reported that the mycolytic enzyme complex (ME) effectively degraded mycelial biomass of root pathogens like *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Sclerotium rolfsii*. Daily soil irrigation with mycolytic enzyme preparation of *M. verrucaria* was found to control the *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut (Patil *et al* 2001). *M. verrucaria* purified endochitinase was also found to be effective in killing the first and fourth instar larvae of a mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, a vector of yellow fever and dengue, within 48h (Mendosa *et al*, 1996). Thus, *M. verrucaria* was selected to develop a mycopesticide formulation, which will be effective against both the fungal pathogens of plants and insect pests.

*M. verrucaria* isolate MTCC 9151, known to produce appreciable amounts of cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzymes, was used in the present studies. The morphological and cultural characteristics of this isolate have been described in the present chapter. The formation of unicellular yeast-like cells in *M. verrucaria* was observed for the first time. The attempts were made to identify the triggers for hypha to yeast (H-Y) and reversible transitions and to optimize conditions for the production of yeast-like cells under submerged fermentation conditions.

In our laboratory extensive work has been carried out to find biochemical correlation between NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases (NAD- and NADP-GDH) and yeast-hypha (Y-H) transition in *B. poitrasii*. The significance

95

of the relative proportion of both NAD- and NADP-GDH, measured as NADP-/NAD- GDH ratio in the yeast-hypha transition was reported by Khale et al (1992). Furthermore, Khale-Kumar and Deshpande (1993) described the involvement of cAMP in the regulation of NADP-/NAD-GDH ratio and in dimorphic transition of B. poitrasii. Amin et al (2004) reported the presence of one NAD-GDH in both yeast and mycelial forms of *B. poitrasii* and two active NADP-GDHs one expressed in hyphal form and the other one in yeast form. Recently, Ghormade et al (2005a) reported the presence of active yeast form specific NADP-GDH and high NADP-/ NAD-GDH ratio in the sporangiospores and zygospores which result in a dimorphic commitment of the organism (B. poitrasii) during the entire life-cycle rather than restricting it to a particular phase. While Ghormade et al (2005b) demonstrated the involvement of polyamines, which are known to regulate cell differentiation in the regulation of NADP-GDH activities in *B. poitrasii*. Ghormade et al (2000) also emphasized the significance of chitinolytic activities in a mixed membrane fractions of yeast/hyphal cells of *B. poitrasii* in the morphological transition. Thus, in present studies attempts were made to study differential expressions of ammonia assimilating enzymes (NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases) and chitinolytic enzymes (endochitinase and *N*-acetylglucosaminidase) in hyphal and yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*.

Lastly, the18s rRNA gene sequence analysis was carried out to identify the strain specific marker for *M. verrucaria* MTCC 9151.

#### 3.2 Results and discussion

#### 3.2.1 Morphological and cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria*

*M. verrucaria* has been classified under Class: Deuteromycetes, Order: Moniliales, Family: Moniliaceae (Barnet and Hunter, 1987). *M. verrucaria* was reported to produce white mycelium bearing diffuse or coalescent greenish sporodochia. The conidiophores were repeatedly branched bearing conidia terminally. The conidia were subhyaline to coloured, one celled, ovoid to elongate. Morphological and cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* MTCC 9151 were studied to identify a medium supporting good vegetative growth and sporulation. Agar blocks (2 mm<sup>2</sup>) with mycelial growth of *M. verrucaria* were inoculated in the center of the plates containing following media: potato dextrose agar, bean pod extract agar, carrot agar, soil agar, YPG, Czapek Dox agar, Maltose agar, Chitin medium, medium for yeast form growth and medium for hyphal form growth. The plates were incubated at 28°C for 7 d.

All the media used in present study except medium for Y form growth, supported mycelial growth of *M. verrucaria*. The luxuriant mycelial growth as well as maximum sporulation of *M. verrucaria* was observed on potato dextrose agar (PDA), bean pod extract agar, carrot agar and maltose containing medium. Dense aerial mycelium and sporulation in sectors was observed on PDA (Fig. 3.1) and carrot agar while that on bean pod extract agar and maltose containing medium was in concentric rings. Good sporulation of *M. verrucaria* on maltose containing media and also on pea, bean and flax seed was reported by Domsch *et al* (1980). Very less mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria* was observed on Czapek Dox agar and soil agar. While *M. verrucaria* sporulation was not observed even after 14 d incubation on chitin medium and YPG. The potato dextrose agar slants were used for the routine maintenance of *M. verrucaria*.

On a sucrose containing medium with ammonium sulphate as a nitrogen source, pH 4.0 (medium for yeast form growth) unicellular yeast-like growth of *M. verrucaria* was observed for the first time. Cream coloured, mucoid colony with grainy



Fig. 3.1 Cultural characteristics of *M. verrucaria* on various media

\* *M. verrucaria* growth on a. PDA, b. medium for Y-form growth and c. medium for H-form growth at 28°C after 7 d incubation.

appearance was seen on solid medium for Y-form growth (Fig. 3.1). Earlier, unicellular growth of *M. verrucaria*, in the presence of cell wall growth inhibitors produced by *Vollutellospora* sp. was reported (Thirumalachar, 1956). The medium with sucrose and sodium nitrate as a nitrogen source, pH 6.0 (medium for hyphal form growth) supported filamentous growth of *M. verrucaria*. The mycelial growth in concentric rings was observed on this medium. As compared to the growth on PDA, less aerial mycelium and sporulation was observed on medium for hyphal form growth after incubation at 28°C for 7 d.

#### 3.2.2 Morphological transition in *M. verrucaria*

#### 3.2.2.1 Nature of unicellular growth

The hyphal cells (48 h old) of *M. verrucaria* when inoculated in a medium for Y-form growth, exhibited morphological transition to a unicellular growth. These cells were produced by interseptal swelling of hyphae leading to a question whether these were vegetatively growing yeast-like cells or chlamydospore-like resting structures. Cole *et al* (1991) faced a similar problem in identifying the nature of round cells of *Candida albicans* produced in gastric mucosa of immuno-compromised mice. *C. albicans* produced oval yeast-like cells under *in vivo* as well as *in vitro* conditions while round chlamydospores under *in vitro* conditions. To identify the nature of round cells in gastric mucosa of mice, they were stained with sudan black B. The chlamydospores and round cells showed darkly stained cytoplasm containing abundant lipid droplets while actively metabolizing yeast cells of *C. albicans* which do not contain storage lipids, were stained with sudan black B which can be attributed to the absence of storage lipids. Fig. 3.2 reveals the yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* and the yeast cells of



Fig. 3.2 Sudan black B staining of yeast cells and chlamydospores

\* a. yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*, b. yeast cells of *B. poitrasii*, c. chlamydospores of *F. oxysporum* 

*B. poitrasii*, a dimorphic fungus used for comparison stained with counter stain eosin while the chlamydospores of *F. oxysporum* containing storage lipids were stained black with sudan black B. The present studies thus revealed that the unicellular form of *M. verrucaria* resemble the actively metabolizing yeast cells rather than the resting chlamydospores.

#### **3.2.2.2 H-Y reversible transition**

The hypha-yeast (H-Y) transition in *M. verrucaria* was studied in a medium for Y-form growth, pH 4.0. The flasks were incubated under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C for 72 h. The different stages of H-Y transition are depicted in Fig. 3.3. For the first 24 h, the hyphal cells appeared to be swollen (Fig. 3.3b) and eventually these changed into unicellular yeast-like cells, which further proliferated by budding (Fig. 3.3c). The yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* were round with a diameter of  $23 \pm 3 \mu$ . The H-Y transition with the development of intermediate transitional forms appearing as chains of yeast like cells was observed in *Histoplasma capsulatum* and *Paracoccidiodes brasiliensis* (Maresca and Kobayashi, 1989; San-Blas and San-Blas, 1985).

The morphological transition in *M. verrucaria* was found to be freely reversible. As seen in Fig. 3.3d the yeast-like cells produced germ tubes within 6-8 h when inoculated in a medium for H-form growth, pH 6.0. Hyphal cells became predominant within 24 h of incubation under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C. The Y-H transition was a rapid process as compared to H-Y transition in *M. verrucaria*.



# Fig. 3.3 H-Y reversible transition in *M. verrucaria*

\* a. hyphal cells (0 h), b. interseptal swellings in hyphal cells (24 h), c. budding yeast-like cells (72 h), d. germ tube forming yeast-like cells (8 h)

#### 3.2.2.3 Morphological triggers

The reversible morphological transition between the two vegetative growth forms (filamentous hyphal form and unicellular yeast form) in response to the environmental perturbations is exhibited by many fungi. Some of the important morphological triggers are carbon source, nitrogen source, pH of the medium, temperature, serum, etc. (Ruiz-Herrera and Sentandreu, 2002). The effect of different carbon sources on the formation of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* was studied in the medium containing ammonium sulphate, pH 4.0. All the mono- and di-saccharides used in the present investigations supported the formation of yeast-like cells (Table 3.1). Sucrose (2%) was found to be the most suitable carbon source for the production of yeast-like cells within 72 h of incubation.

Interestingly, the production of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* in the presence of mono- and di-saccharides as carbon source was found to be associated with decrease in pH from 4.0 to  $3.2 \pm 0.3$  (Table 3.1). While in the presence of chitin, H-Y transition in *M. verrucaria* was retarded with concomitant rise in pH from 4.0 to 5.9.

Carbon source	Concentration	Morphology	pН
	(% w/v)	(72 h)	(72 h)
N-acetyl	0.5	Y	3.2
Glucosamine			
Glucose	2.0	Y	3.0
Sucrose	1.0	H>Y	3.5
Sucrose	2.0	Y	2.9
Sucrose	3.0	Y	2.9
Sucrose	5.0	Y	2.8
Lactose	2.0	Y	3.1
Maltose	2.0	Y	3.2
Chitin	0.5	Н	5.9

Table 3.1 Effect of carbon source on H-Y transition in M. verrucaria

\*Y: yeast-like cells, H: hyphae

H>Y: more than 50% of the cells are in hyphal form

ND: not detected

It has been reported that hexoses at high concentration favour Y form growth in *B. poitrasii* (Khale *et al*, 1990) while galactose was found to trigger unicellular growth in *Penicillium marneffei* (Wong *et al*, 2001). In case of *C. albicans* (Sullivan *et al*, 1984) and *B. poitrasii* (Ghormade *et al*, 2000) *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) favoured hyphal form. However, in the case of *M. verrucaria* GlcNAc supported yeast form growth. It can be attributed to the final pH 3.2 after 72 h. Only a few studies highlight the importance of change in pH when using particular carbon source on morphological outcome. Barathova *et al* (1977) reported that as compared with changes of pH occurring on certain nitrogen sources together with H-Y transition in *Paecilomyces viridis*, changes of pH of media with various carbon sources like glucose, sucrose, maltose, lactose, etc. did not influence the morphology. In case of *Yarrowia lipolytica*, growth in hyphal form was observed in the presence of glucose as a carbon source. However, the use of citrate or phosphate buffer to avoid acidification of this medium was suggested to play an important role in deciding the morphological outcome (Ruiz-Herrera and Sentandreu, 2002).

The effect of nitrogen source on the H-Y transition in *M. verrucaria* was studied in a medium for Y form growth, pH 4.0, supplied with different inorganic and organic nitrogen sources added to it on equal nitrogen basis (nitrogen 0.98 g/l). In *M. verrucaria*, Y form growth was induced in the presence of ammonium salts e.g.ammonium sulphate, ammonium hydrogen phosphate or ammonium chloride as a nitrogen source, associated with the decrease in pH from 4.0 to  $3.1 \pm 0.3$  (Table 3.2). While in the presence of sodium nitrate or potassium nitrate, hyphal form was predominant and rise in pH (up to 4.9-5.0) was observed within 72 h of incubation. These results also emphasized the importance of acidification of the medium as a result of uptake of ammonium ions as nitrogen source in triggering the H-Y transition in *M. verrucaria*. Barathova *et al* (1977) reported similar observations for *P. viridis*. Nitrogen 104 source was also found an important morphological trigger in *Ustilago maydis* (Ruiz-Herrera *et al*, 1995). However, in *U. maydis*, medium acidification (pH 3.0 to 2.54) observed in the presence of ammonium sulphate or ammonium nitrate as a nitrogen source favoured hyphal form while rise in medium pH from pH 3.0 to 6.0 was found associated with the uptake of potassium nitrate as a nitrogen source and triggered yeast form growth. The acidification of the medium in the presence of ammonium salts as

Nitrogen source	Morphology	pН
	(72 h)	(72 h)
Ammonium sulphate	Y	2.9
Ammonium chloride	Y	3.2
Ammonium hydrogen	Y	3.4
phosphate		
Ammonium nitrate	Y>H	4.3
Sodium nitrate	Н	4.9
Potassium nitrate	Н	5.0
Urea	Н	6.0
Peptone	H>Y	4.0

Table 3.2 Effect of nitrogen source on H-Y transition in M. verrucaria

\*Y: yeast-like cells, H: hyphae, Y>H: more than 50% of the cells are in yeast form H>Y: more than 50% of the cells are in hyphal form

a nitrogen source was attributed to the uptake of ammonium ions  $(NH_4^+)$  mediated by  $H^+$ -antiport transport systems at expenses of ATP (Dubios and Grenson, 1979; Ruiz-Herrera *et al*, 1995). While rise in pH of the medium in the presence of nitrate as nitrogen source was ascribed to the uptake of nitrate ions  $(NO_3^-)$  by the proton symport (Ruiz-Herrera *et al*, 1995).

Ammonium nitrate was included in the present study as a N source to find out which form of nitrogen (the ammonium ion or nitrate ion) was preferentially taken up and did this uptake of nitrogen affect morphological outcome. As seen for the ammonium sulphate addition as a nitrogen source, ammonium nitrate favoured H-Y transition up to 72 h. This could be attributed to the decrease in pH. On further incubation hyphal form was predominant with concomitant increase in pH. The initial decrease of pH could be due to the utilization of ammonium ions while further growth was predominantly due to the utilization of  $NO_3^-$  nitrogen. In other words, the trigger for morphological change could be correlated with the pH change.

The results clearly indicate that ammonium ions were preferentially taken up as a nitrogen source in the presence of nitrate ions. The suppression of nitrate assimilation in the presence of ammonia is common to many fungi and is believed to have an adaptive significance in natural habitats. Ammonia, even in a very low concentration, was reported to completely suppress nitrate assimilation by *Scopularis brevicaulis* when both the sources of nitrogen were present together (Mortan and Macmillan, 1954). A rapid decay of nitrate uptake and nitrate reductase activity of *Penicillium chrysogenum* was observed in the presence of ammonium ions (Goldsmith et al, 1976). The other nitrogen sources have also been shown to have influence on the morphology of the fungus. Gagiano et al (2002) reported the differentiation of yeast cells of S. cerevisiae in pseudohyphal invasive growth in response to the limitation of a nitrogen source in particular ammonia, and the availability of proline. Similarly, nitrogen deprivation has been suggested to stimulate filamentation in C. albicans (Brown and Gow, 1999). In the case of *M. verrucaria* it would be interesting to study whether filament formation in presence of nitrate as a nitrogen source is the response of the fungus to the presence of poor nitrogen source or it is the response towards the increase in pH of the medium associated with nitrate uptake.

The organic nitrogen sources like peptone were reported to favour Y form growth in *B. poitrasii* as compared to an inorganic nitrogen sources such as ammonium hydrogen phosphate (Khale *et al*, 1990). While organic sources of nitrogen, amino acids and peptone were strong inducers of hyphal growth in *Y. lipolytica* (Szabo and Stofanikova, 2002). In case of *M. verrucaria* the morphological outcome in the 106 presence of organic nitrogen sources (urea and peptone) was found to be correlated with the change in pH associated with the uptake of nitrogen source (Table 3.2). In the presence of urea, H-Y transition was completely retarded where rise in pH from 4.0 to 6.0 was observed during incubation. While in the presence of peptone change in pH was not observed, and transition towards Y form was favoured resulting in swollen hyphae (< 50%) after 72 h of incubation. Leija *et al* (1986) observed a correlation between the final pH of the medium and morphology of *M. rouxii* when different amino acids were used as the nitrogen source.

Changes in the pH of the medium were shown to induce a strong morphogenetic response in many dimorphic fungi such as *M. rouxii* (Bartnicki-Garcia and Nickerson, 1962), Mycotypha africana (Hall and Kolankaya, 1974), C. albicans (Odds, 1985; Soll, 1985), Aureobasidium pullulans (Andrews et al. 1993) Y. lipolytica (Szabo, 1999) as well as in B. poitrasii (Ghormade and Deshpande, 2000). All these fungi grew in a yeast form in an acidic environment, whereas they exhibited transition to hyphal form upon increase of pH to near neutral. The effect of pH was opposite in the case of U. maydis (Martinez-Espinoza et al, 2004; Ruiz-Herrera et al, 1995). U. maydis grew in yeast like form at pH near neutral while hyphal form was induced at pH 3.0-4.0. In case of Y. *lipolytica* and *S. cerevisiae* the extracellular pH was suggested to govern the morphological outcome by affecting the rates and efficiency of transport of certain nitrogen sources across the membrane by changing the affinity of sensor components as well as activities of membrane transporters (Szabo and Stofanikova, 2002; Horak, 1997). While Dubios and Grenson (1979) reported that extracellular pH affected the uptake of ammonium salts by S. cerevisiae. At pH (< 7.5), ammonium ion (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) formation was favoured and in S. cerevisiae ammonium uptake was mediated by an H<sup>+</sup>antiport transport systems at expenses of ATP resulting in medium acidification. While,

at higher pH the ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) formed accumulated in growing cells essentially by diffusion.

The effect of initial pH of the medium on the morphology of *M. verrucaria* was studied in the presence of ammonium sulphate or sodium nitrate as nitrogen source. The H-Y transition was favoured in the presence of ammonium sulphate as a nitrogen source at initial pH values in the range of 3.0-7.0. The H-Y transition was found to be associated with the decrease in pH to  $3.1 \pm 0.3$ . While, H-Y transition was retarded at initial pH values 8.0-10.0 where decrease in pH was not sufficient to induce the unicellular growth (Table 3.3). From these results it can be suggested that in *M. verrucaria* the uptake of ammonium ions was regulated by the external pH similar to that observed in *S. cerevisiae* (Dubios and Grenson, 1979) and medium acidification was found to play an important role in inducing unicellular yeast-like growth at pH values 3.0-7.0.

Initial pH	Ammonium sulphate		Sodium nitrate	
-	pH (72 h)	Morphology (72 h)	pH (72 h)	Morphology (72 h)
3.0	2.8	Y	3.7	Y>H
4.0	2.9	Y	4.9	Н
5.0	2.9	Y>H	5.7	Н
6.0	3.1	Y< H	6.2	Н
7.0	3.4	Y< H	7.2	Н
8.0	7.5	Н	7.6	Н
9.0	7.8	Н	8.4	Н
10.0	8.2	Н	9.2	Н

Table 3.3 Effect of initial pH of the medium on morphology of *M. verrucaria* 

\*Y: yeast like cells, H: hyphal cells, Y< H: more than 50% of the cells were in hyphal form, Y>H: more than 50% of the cells were in yeast form
The transition to Y form at pH values 3.0-4.0 was rapid than that at pH 5.0-7.0 (Table 3.3). In the presence of sodium nitrate, yeast form cells were produced only at pH 3.0 where rise in pH was not sufficient to retard the transition to Y form. These results also emphasized the importance of the pH in deciding the morphological outcome for *M. verrucaria*.

To confirm the role of pH in triggering the dimorphic transition in *M*. *verrucaria*, the pH of the medium was maintained at an initial value 4.0 or 6.0 by the addition of 0.1 N HCl or NaOH after every 24 h incubation during transition or by preparing the media in a citrate buffer (100 mM, pH 4.0 or 6.0). The experiment was carried out using three nitrogen sources, ammonium sulphate, ammonium nitrate and sodium nitrate. The flasks in which pH was not maintained to initial value served as a control. Results of this experiment are compiled in Table 3.4. The morphological

Nitrogen source	Initial pH 4.0		Initial pH 6.0	
	Morphology	pН	Morphology	pН
	(72 h)	(72 h)	(72 h)	(72 h)
Ammonium sulphate <sup>c1</sup>	Y	2.9	Y	3.1
Ammonium sulphate <sup>a</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0
Ammonium sulphate <sup>b</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0
Ammonium nitrate <sup>c2</sup>	Y>H	4.3	Y <h< td=""><td>4.7</td></h<>	4.7
Ammonium nitrate <sup>a</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0
Ammonium nitrate <sup>b</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0
Sodium nitrate <sup>c3</sup>	Н	4.9	Н	6.2
Sodium nitrate <sup>a</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0
Sodium nitrate <sup>b</sup>	Y	4.0	Н	6.0

Table 3.4 Effect of continuous maintenance of initial pH on H-Y transition in M.verrucaria

\*Y: yeast-like cells, H: hyphal cells, Y>H: more than 50% of the cells in yeast form,

Y<H: more than 50% of the cells in hyphal form.

c1: ammonium sulphate (0.46%), pH of the medium was not controlled.

c2: ammonium nitrate (0.28%), pH of the medium was not controlled.

c3: sodium nitrate (0.6%), pH of the medium was not controlled.

a: Initial pH of the medium was maintained by the addition of 0.1N HCl or NaOH.

b: Initial pH of the medium was maintained using citrate buffer (100 mM, pH 4.0 or 6.0).

outcome correlated well with the pH of the medium rather than a nitrogen source. When pH of the medium was maintained at 4.0, in the presence of all the nitrogen sources, yeast form was favoured while at pH 6.0 hyphal form was predominant (Table 3.4). These results confirm the major role of pH (4.0) in triggering the unicellular growth in *M. verrucaria*. Ruiz-Herrera and Setandreu (2002) reported the use of media containing phosphate and citrate buffer to study morphological transition in *Y. lipolytica*. In contrast to the observations on *M. verrucaria*, in *Y. lipolytica* the morphological outcome was governed by nitrogen source (ammonium sulphate or glutamine) in glucose containing medium with phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.0). Under these conditions Y-H transition was favoured in presence of the ammonium sulphate while it was completely retarded in the presence of glutamine as a nitrogen source.

#### 3.2.2.4 Y-H transition in M. verrucaria

The Y-H transition in *M. verrucaria* was studied in the presence of different nitrogen sources such as ammonium sulphate, ammonium nitrate and sodium nitrate, at initial pH 4.0 or 6.0. The flasks were incubated under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C. Morphological transition in *M. verrucaria* was freely reversible. The rapid Y-H transition was observed at pH 6.0 in presence of the sodium nitrate as a nitrogen source (Fig. 3.4). Most of the yeast cells produced germ tubes within 6-8 h and filamentous growth was observed within 24 h. While at pH 4.0, in sodium nitrate containing medium though Y-H transition was favoured it was slow (48 h). In the presence of ammonium sulphate at pH 6.0 as well as at pH 4.0, Y-H transition was completely retarded due to the acidification of medium as a result of uptake of ammonium ions. In the presence of ammonium nitrate, initial uptake of ammonium ions resulted in medium acidification and Y form growth was predominant up to 48 h



\* The pH profiles and vegetative morphologies of *M. verrucaria* in the presence of different nitrogen sources at initial pH 4.0 and 6.0.

at pH 4.0. Later uptake of nitrate resulted in rise in pH, and Y-H transition was favoured. While at pH 6.0, though medium acidification was observed, pH did not decrease to 4.0. The Y-H transition at pH 6.0 was rapid as compared to that at pH 4.0.

# 3.2.2.5 Spore germination under H and Y form triggering conditions

M. verrucaria spore germination was monitored on a solid medium for Y-form growth, pH 4.0 and medium for H-form growth, pH 6.0. The spores of M. verrucaria displayed a dimorphic response during germination (Fig. 3.5). On medium for Y form growth, M. verrucaria spores produced yeast cells within 12 h which multiply by budding and gave rise to cream coloured, mucoid colonies within 24-48 h. The spores gave rise to small germ tubes within 3-4 h when grown on a medium for H-form growth, at pH 6.0. Within 24-48 h, white, cottony, spreading mycelial colonies of M. verrucaria were observed. Although the presence of the dimorphic response was not emphasized, the sporangiospores of *Mucor rouxii* germinated by budding and in hyphal form in response to anaerobiosis and change in glucose concentration (Bartnicki-Garcia and Nickerson, 1962). The conidia of H. capsulatum, P. brasiliensis, in response to a change in temperature, which was again a dimorphism trigger for them, also exhibited yeast and hyphal type germination (Anderson, 1978). Ghormade and Deshpande (2000) suggested that the dimorphism is the intrinsic ability of the fungus B. poitrasii as besides the vegetative forms, asexual as well as sexual spores recognized the morphological triggers, glucose, pH and temperature. From the present investigations it is evident that in case of *M. verrucaria*, yeast cells may be produced by the transition of the vegetative filamentous form or by the direct germination of asexual spores into yeast cells under yeast favouring conditions. The details are given in the Chapter 4.

#### 3.2.3 Biochemical characterization of M. verrucaria

# 3.2.3.1 Endochitinase and N-acetylglucosaminidase

Chitin, a 1,4 β-D-*N*-acetylglucosamine linked polymer is the main structural component of most fungal cell walls (Kopecek and Raclavsky, 1999; Zindarsic *et al*, 1999). The chitinase complex comprising endochitinase and *N*-acetylglucosaminidase

Fig. 3.5 M. verrucaria spore germination on H and Y form favouring media



\* a: spore gave rise to germ tube on medium for H-form growthb: spore germinated into yeast-like cell on medium for Y-form growth

activities has been implicated in several aspects of life cycle of fungi such as hyphal tip growth, spore germination, cell separation and autolysis (Kuranda and Robbins, 1991; Lima *et al*, 1999; Patil *et al*, 2000; Rast *et al*, 1991; Sahai and Manocha, 1993). In addition, reports available in the literature suggested that membrane bound chitinases significantly contributed in the morphogenetic event in fungi (Adams *et al*, 1993; Ghormade *et al*, 2000; Rast *et al*, 1991). Chitinolytic enzymes act by weakening the fungal cell wall for the germ tube formation and also by supplying *N*-acetylglucosamine for the synthesis of new cell wall at the growing tip. Therefore, chitnolytic activities were estimated *in situ* using 4-methylumbelliferyl labeled fluorogenic substrates with permeabilised yeast and hyphal cells of *M. verrucaria* grown in medium containing sucrose and ammonium sulphate, pH 4.0 and that containing sucrose, sodium nitrate, pH 6.0, respectively. *N*-Acetylglucosaminidase activity increased steadily throughout

Fig.3.6 Intracellular chitinolytic activities of *M. verrucaria* during dimorphic transition



\* IA, Endochitinase activity during H-Y transition; IB, *N*-acetylglucosaminidase activity during H-Y transition; IIC, Endochitinase activity during Y-H transition; II D, *N*-acetylglucosaminidase activity during Y-H transition

the Y-H transition (Fig. 3.6). The activity in 12 h (56% germ tube formation) was 1.2 fold higher than at time zero. The endochitinase activity also increased 5.5 fold within first 12 h of transition. During H-Y transition (Fig. 3.6), the trend of the enzyme activities was reverse to the trend observed for Y-H transition. The high quantities of chitinolytic enzymes in hyphal cells appeared to decrease. The decrease in chitinolytic activities could be attributed to either proteolysis of the enzymes that were not required at a given point of time or the inhibition by specific inhibitors, if any (Deshpande, 1992).

# 3.2.3.2 NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases and nitrate reductase

It has been reported earlier that the yeast form growth in *B. poitrasii* (Khale *et al*, 1992) and *M. rouxii* (Peters and Sypherd, 1979) was favoured by a complex nitrogen source. The extensive work has been carried out in our laboratory to understand the role and regulation of glutamate dehydrogenase enzymes involved in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> assimilation during morphological transition in *B. poitrasii* (Amin *et al*, 2004; Ghormade *et al*, 2005a,b; Khale-Kumar and Deshpande, 1993). In case of *M. verrucaria*, the yeast-like cells were produced in a medium containing ammonium salts as a nitrogen source while nitrate was used as a nitrogen source to obtain the hyphal form. Furthermore, when ammonium nitrate was used as a nitrogen source, H-Y transition was favoured during first 48 h of incubation while later Y-H transition was triggered suggesting the prior uptake of ammonium as a nitrogen source followed by the uptake of nitrate as a nitrogen source. These observations suggest the differential expression of the enzymes involved in nitrogen metabolism. The expression of NAD- and NADP-dependent glutamate dehydrogenases and nitrate reductase enzymes in yeast and hyphal forms of *M. verrucaria* was studied during present investigations.

*M. verrucaria* hyphal cells were inoculated in glucose containing medium with different nitrogen sources, at pH 4.0. The flasks were incubated under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C. Different morphological forms produced were harvested after 48-96 h. The NADP- and NAD-GDH and nitrate reductase activities in cell extracts were then estimated. The quantitative relationship between the NAD-GDH and NADP-GDH was expressed as NADP-/NAD-GDH ratio as described earlier in case of *B. poitrasii* (Khale *et al*, 1992). The results are given in Table 3.5.

Nitrogen	Time	Morphology	pН	NADP-/ NAD-	Nitrate	
Source	(h)			GDH ratio	reductase (U/mg)	
Ammonium sulphate	72	Y	2.9	$7.7\pm0.4$	ND	
Sodium nitrate	72	Н	5.9	$3.8\pm0.2$	$14.2\pm0.7$	
Ammonium nitrate	48	Y	3.4	$4.9\pm0.1$	$2.3\pm0.2$	
Ammonium nitrate	72	H>Y	3.8	$3.7\pm0.1$	$36.8\pm1.8$	
Ammonium nitrate	96	Н	4.9	$3.8\pm0.2$	39.0 ± 1.9	

 Table 3.5 Differential expression of NADP- and NAD-glutamate dehydrogenases

 and nitrate reductase during H-Y reversible transition in *M. verrucaria*

\* Y: yeast-like cells, H: hyphal cells, H>Y: more than 50% of the cells in hyphal form

The hyphal cells retained their morphology in sodium nitrate containing medium. Specific activities of NADP-GDH (0.095  $\pm$  0.002 U/mg), NAD-GDH (0.025  $\pm$  0.002 U/mg) and nitrate reductase (14.2  $\pm$  0.7 U/mg) were detected in 72 h old hyphal cells. In ammonium sulphate containing medium hyphal cells reverted to yeast-like cells within 72 h. The Y form cells of *M. verrucaria* (72 h old) exhibited 2-fold higher specific activity of NADP-GDH (0.177  $\pm$  0.002 U/mg) as compared to that in hyphal cells while NAD-GDH levels (0.023  $\pm$  0.001 U/mg protein) did not change significantly. A higher NADP-/NAD-GDH ratio (7.7  $\pm$  0.4) was found associated with the yeast form cells of *M. verrucaria* than the hyphal cells  $(3.8 \pm 0.02)$ . Earlier association between higher GDH ratio and yeast form as compared to that of hyphal form was reported in case of *B. poitrasii* (Khale *et al*, 1992). The nitrate reductase activity was not detected in yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*.

In ammonium nitrate containing medium, initially H-Y transition was favoured with a decrease in pH (4.0-3.4) and within 48 h swollen hyphae were observed. Low nitrate reductase activity  $(2.3 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/mg})$  was detected in these cells. Also, GDH ratio  $(4.9 \pm 0.1)$  higher than that observed in hyphal cells  $(3.8 \pm 0.02)$ was observed in these cells. On further incubation, pH started increasing and swollen hyphae reverted to hyphal form. The increase (15-fold) in the specific activity of nitrate reductase (39.0  $\pm$  1.9 U/mg) and decrease in the GDH ratio (4.9  $\pm$  0.1 to 3.8  $\pm$ 0.2) was observed. From these results it may be suggested that when ammonium nitrate was used as a nitrogen source, M. verrucaria selectively utilized nitrogen in ammonium form, which resulted in a medium acidification and in turn favoured H-Y transition. After depletion of ammonium ions, M. verrucaria started utilizing nitrate ions as a nitrogen source. The pH of the medium increased due to nitrate uptake and transition to hyphal form was favoured. Goldsmith (1973) reported that ammonium at very low concentrations caused a rapid decay of nitrate uptake and nitrate reductase activity in *P. chrysogenum*. The nitrate reductase activity was induced when NH4<sup>+</sup>-grown *P. chrysogenum* was incubated with inorganic nitrate in synthetic medium in the absence of  $NH_4^+$ . In these cells ammonium transport system was maximally derepressed.

Recently, Amin *et al* (2004) reported the presence of one NAD-GDH in both yeast- and mycelium- form cells and two active NADP-GDHs, one expressed in mycelium form and other one in yeast form of *B. poitrasii*. The extracts of hyphal and

117

Fig. 3.7 Activity staining of NADP- and NAD- dependent glutamate dehydrogenases in *M. verrucaria* 



\* a: NADP-GDH in Y and H forms of *M. verrucaria*, b: NAD-GDH in Y and H forms of *M. verrucaria*, → indicates the dye front.

yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* were subjected to polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The activity staining revealed that *M. verrucaria* has two glutamate dehydrogenases, one requiring NADP- and the other one requiring NAD- as a coenzyme in both the morphological forms (Fig. 3.7).

# 3.2.4 Molecular characterization of *M. verrucaria*

The sequence analysis of ribosomal DNA has been widely utilized for molecular systematics and identification of microorganisms (Mitchell *et al*, 1995; Sugita *et al*, 2002). The analysis of ITS (internal transcribed spacer) regions has been carried out mainly to identify or differentiate closely related species of pathogenic yeast (Chen *et al*, 2000; Gupta *et al*, 2000; Lott *et al*, 1998). To identify the genomic marker which can differentiate the *M. verrucaria* strain exhibiting higher production of CDE/ME complex

and hypha-yeast transition from other isolates of *M. verrucaria*, 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequence analysis was carried out. The genomic DNA was isolated from *M. verrucaria* mycelium using the DNA extraction protocol of Wendland *et al* (1996). Nuclear 18s rRNA gene and ITS 1 were amplified using primers NS1 and ITS1, respectively. The sequence data was analyzed using NCBI server (http://:www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST). The Genbank accession number for the 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequences reported in the thesis are: Myr 18s:AY129004 and Myr ITS1: Ay129005. These 18srRNA gene and ITS1 sequences were given in Fig. 3.8. The 18s rRNA and ITS1 sequences or regions with greater divergence may prove helpful in identifying a genomic marker for *M. verrucaria* MTCC 9151.

# Fig. 3.8 Myr 18s: AY129004, the sequence of *Myrothecium verrucaria* 18s rRNA gene and Myr ITS1:AY129005, the sequence of ITS1 region

### Myr 18s: AY129004

1 tatacagega aactgegaat ggeteattat ataagttate gtttatttga tagtacetta 61 etaettggat aacegtggta attetagage taatacatge taaaaateee gaetteggaa 121 gggatgtatt tattagatta aaaaceaatg eeetetggge teeteggga tttatgataa 181 ettetegaat egeatggeet tgtgeeggeg atggtteatt eaaatteett eeetaeae 241 tttegatgtt tgggtagtgg eeaaacatgg ttgeaacggg taacggaggg ttagggeteg 301 aeceeggaga aggageetga gaaacggeta etaeateeaa ggaaggeage aggeegeaa 361 attaceeaat eeegacaegg ggaggtagtg acaataaata etgatacagg getettttgg 421 gtettgtaat tggaatgagt acaatttaaa teeettaacg aggaacaatt ggagggeaag 481 tetggtgeea geageeggg taatteeage teeaatageg taattaaag ttgttgtggt 541 taaaaagete gtagatgaae ettgggeetg getggeeggt eegeetaee gegtgtaetg 601 gteeggeegg geettteeet tt

# Myr ITS1: AY129005

1 gaggtcatta ccgagtttac aaactcccaa accetttgtg aaccttacca tattgttgct
61 tcggcgggac cgccccggcg cettcgggcc cggaaccagg cgcccgccgg aggccccaaa
121 ctettatgte tttagtggtt tteteetteg agtgacacat aaacaaataa ataaaaactt
181 tcaacaacgg atetettggt tetggcatcg atgaaaaacg cagca

The H-Y transition in *M. verrucaria* was reported for the first time in the present chapter. The external pH, which governs the mode of uptake of nitrogen source, was found to be the important morphological trigger. The results of 18s rRNA gene and ITS1 sequence analysis suggest that further analysis of genes or regions with greater divergence may prove helpful in identifying a genomic marker for *M. verrucaria* MTCC 9151.

Chapter 4

**Mycopesticide production** 

# 4 A Production of living propagules, conidia and yeast-like cells of *M*.

#### verrucaria

# **4A.1 Introduction**

The production of fungi to use as biocontrol agents aims at the maximum possible number of living propagules that can infect pathogenic fungi and insects and/or release metabolites such as mycolytic/cuticle degrading enzymes, antibiotics or toxins to kill fungal and insect pests. Generally, fungal propagules in biocontrol formulations must be alive at the time of their use and expected minimum shelf life for a commercially feasible product is 18 months at 20°C (Deshpande, 1999). The fungal kingdom is a diverse assemblage of organisms with a great variety of structural types. Several different stages of fungal life cycle, vegetative growth forms such as mycelia and unicellular yeasts, asexual spores such as conidia and sporangiospores and sexually produced oospores and zygospores were used to develop biocontrol formulations of fungi (Chavan *et al*, 2006; Deshpande, 1999). However, aerial conidia are propgules of choice for the development of mycopesticides. The aerial conidium is the infectious and dissemination unit in case of many mycoparasitic and entomopathogenic fungi yet in a dormant stage, safe and easy for storage and application as biocontrol formulations (Horaczek and Viernstein 2004).

The solid-state fermentation (SSF) was found advantageous for the large-scale production of conidia. It was easy to carry out, raw material is cheap, and most importantly, conidia produced as living propagules tend to be more tolerant to desiccation and more stable as a dry preparation as compared with conidia produced in submerged fermentation (Deshpnade, 1999; Jenkins and Goettel, 1997). SSF was successfully used for the conidia production in different biocontrol fungi such as *M. anisopliae* (Deshpande and Tuor, 2002; Nahar *et al*, 2003), *B. bassiana* (Dalla Santa *et al*, 2004), *N. rileyi* (Vimala Devi *et al*, 2000) and *C. minitans* (Jones *et al*, 2004).

122

Different nutritional factors such as the choice of solid substrate and requirement of additional carbon or nitrogen source or salt solutions etc. and environmental factors like initial substrate pH, moisture content of the substrate and incubation temperature were found to affect the spore germination, vegetative growth and spore production in fungi. Optimization of these factors was reported to improve the production of spores under SSF conditions, thus making the production of biocontrol agent economically viable.

*M. verrucaria* is known to secrete high amounts of mycolytic enzymes when grown in chitin containing medium. Patil *et al* (2001) reported the use of these mycolytic enzymes for the control *S. rolfsii* infection on peanut. However, in view of the stability of enzymes under different field conditions it would certainly be advantageous to use organism itself for the seed dressing or soil application and for further slow release of enzymes. Thus in present investigations attempts were made to produce conidia of *M. verrucaria* using SSF while yeast-like cells were produced under submerged conditions as an alternative propagule.

### 4A.2 Results and discussion

## 4A.2.1 Production of conidia using solid-state fermentation

#### 4A.2.1.1 Selection of the solid substrate

Conidia production of *M. verrucaria* by SSF using agro-industrial residues and cereal grains was optimized with respect to substrate and cultivation conditions in Erlenmeyer flasks. The selection of the substrate was found to be an important feature of any SSF as the production of conidia significantly differed among the fungal isolates on different agricultural products used as substrates (Vimala Devi *et al*, 1994; Zhang and Watson, 1997). Different cereal grains (sorghum, pearl millet, rice and wheat), wheat and rice bran and marine waste (prawn shell waste) were screened to select the

Substrate	Conidia / g substrate		
Sorghum	1.6 x 10 <sup>9</sup>		
Pearl millet	1.3 x 10 <sup>9</sup>		
Rice	$1.2 \ge 10^6$		
Beaten rice	$1.4 \ge 10^5$		
Wheat	$2.3 \times 10^5$		
Wheat bran	-		
Rice bran	-		
Prawn shell waste	-		

Table 4.1 Production of *M. verrucaria* conidia on various solid substrates

\* The flasks were incubated at 28°C for 14 d.

substrate suitable for *M. verrucaria* conidia production (Table 4.1). All the substrates supported good mycelial growth of *M. verrucaraia*. While sporulation was observed only on sorghum, pearl millet, rice, beaten rice and wheat grains. On sorghum and pearl millet maximum sporulation (1.3-1.6x10<sup>9</sup> conidia/g substrate) of *M. verrucaria* was seen. A high yield of conidia of *N. rileyi* (F) Samson (2.8x10<sup>9</sup> conidia/g substrate) was obtained on crushed sorghum (Vimala Devi *et al*, 2000). Deshpande *et al* (2001) reported that sorghum supported sporulation in case of *Metarhizium* and *Beauveria* sp. and barley was suitable for *Nomuraea* sp. While, rice supported maximum production of conidia in all the three strains of *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* (Nahar *et al*, 2003). The wheat bran was reported to support conidia production in *B. bassiana* CS-1 (Kang *et al*, 2005). While in case of *M. verrucaria*, on wheat bran as well as rice bran sporulation was not seen upto 14 d. Similarly, prawn shell waste was also found to support only mycelial growth of *M. verrucaria* (Table 4.1).

On sorghum grains *M. verrucaria* sporulation started on the 7<sup>th</sup> day and maximum sporulation was observed after 14 d of incubation. Further increase in incubation period up to 20 d did not result in the increase in spore yield. Besides this on

further incubation, the solid medium became soggy and affected the spore recovery from the substrate. In further experiments, sorghum was used as a solid substrate for the production of conidia of *M. verrucaria*.

# 4A.2.1.2 Effect of water content

Moisture content of solid substrate is an important factor during microbial growth in SSF as it causes swelling of the substrate and facilitates utilization of nutrients by the organism. Thus optimum moisture content for fungal growth and conidiation needs to be identified for each substrate/isolate combination (Jenkins *et al*, 1998). To provide the optimal moisture content for conidia production by *M. verrucaria*, sorghum grains were soaked in distilled water (12.5-50 ml/50 g sorghum grains) overnight, autoclaved and then used for conidia production. The soluble protein produced by *M. verrucaria* in the sorghum medium was measured as the indicator of growth (Fig. 4.1). Increase in mycelial growth (0.42 –0.68 mg protein/g substrate) as

Fig. 4.1 Effect of initial water content on *M. verrucaria* conidia production under solid state fermentation conditions



well as spore yield (0.34-1.67 x  $10^9$  conidia/g substrate) was observed with increase in water addition up to 25 ml/50 g substrate (Fig. 4.1). Further addition of water resulted in decrease in mycelial growth and spore yield. A higher moisture level was suggested to affect mycelial growth of *Trichoderma* sp., *Penicillium* sp. and *Rhizopus oligosporous* on cranberry processing waste by decreasing porosity or intracellular spaces, lower oxygen diffusion and gas exchange while a low moisture level resulted in decreased substrate swelling and decreased mycelial growth and sporulation (Zheng and Shetty, 1998). Addition of 25 ml water per 50 g of sorghum was found optimum to provide enough moisture for the maximum growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria*.

# 4A.2.1.3 Effect of incubation temperature

The SSF flasks were incubated at different incubation temperatures for 14 d to study the effect of temperature on the production of *M. verrucaria* conidia. The optimum incubation temperature for *M. verrucaria* conidia production was found to be

Fig. 4.2 Effect of incubation temperature on *M. verrucaria* conidia production under solid state fermentation conditions



28°C (spore yield  $1.6 \times 10^9$  conidia/g of substrate) though good mycelial growth (0.59-0.68 mg protein/g substrate) was observed at 20-30°C (Fig. 4.2). At incubation temperatures below as well as above 28 °C, conidia production decreased drastically. Sparse mycelial growth with no sporulation was observed when SSF flasks were incubated at 37°C. Incubation temperature was reported to be a critical factor governing the sporulation of number of biocontrol fungi grown on solid substrates. Maximum sporulation of *Penicillium commune* was observed over incubation temperature range 28-30°C and sporulation decreased drastically with further increase in temperature (Nava *et al*, 2006). While *Pandora neoaphidis* conidia production was carried out at 20°C. The optimum temperature for *B. bassiana* conidia production was reported to be 25-26°C (Dalla Santa *et al*, 2004; Ye *et al*, 2006).

# 4A.2.1.4 Effect of an inoculum

The use of fungal mycelium produced in liquid culture as inoculum was suggested to provide following benefits during conidia production under SSF conditions:

- The competitiveness of the fungus is enhanced, reducing the risk of colonization of the substrate by contaminating microorganisms.
- Colonization and conidiation are more rapid thus reducing incubation time.
- It ensures an even coverage of the solid substrate resulting in homogenous growth throughout the substrate (Jenkins *et al*, 1998).

Thus in the present study *M. verrucaria* mycelium grown in YPG broth (72 h) was used as an inoculum for the production of conidia. Fig. 4.3 reveals the effect of inoculum concentration (5-25%) on mycelial growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria* on sorghum. Increase in the inoculum size (5-10% v/w) resulted in increase in spore

Fig. 4.3 Effect of inoculum concentration on growth and sporulation of *M. verrucaria* on sorghum grains



yield  $(0.7-1.67 \times 10^9 \text{ conidia/g substrate})$ . With further increase in the inoculum size the mycelial growth was favoured while decrease in sporulation ( $\approx 10$  fold) was observed. Use of 10% v/w inoculum was found optimum for the production of conidia of *M.verrucaria* on sorghum. Nahar *et al* (2003) reported the use of biomass grown in YPG broth (10%) as inoculum for the production of conidia of *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* on rice grains.

Commercial application of biocontrol agent depends on the production of large quantities of conidia. Most of the potential biocontrol fungi were reported to produce conidia in the range of  $10^9$  to  $10^{10}$  conidia/g substrate. Nahar *et al* (2003) reported the production of conidia of *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. rileyi* in the range  $10^9$ - $10^{10}$  conidia/g rice within 14 d incubation. While another isolate of *N. rileyi* was reported to yield 2.8x10<sup>9</sup> conidia/g crushed sorghum within 10 days (Vimala Devi *et al*, 2000). During present studies, with sorghum as a solid substrate, optimum conditions observed for *M. verrucaria* conidia production were: initial water content (25 ml/50 g substrate),

incubation temperature (28°C) and 72 h old YPG grown mycelium as an inoculum (10% v/w). The highest conidia production ( $2x10^9$  conidia/g substrate) was observed after 14 d incubation under the optimized fermentation conditions.

#### 4A.2.2 Production of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*

Liquid fermentations were also successfully used for the large-scale production of fungal propagules. The submerged fermentation systems have obvious advantages of controlled processing. Using a wide range of controls for pH, agitator speed, aeration rate, temperature, etc. the timing for harvesting of e.g. blastospores can be precisely envisaged to obtain suitable biomass for storage (Deshpande, 1999; Gibbs *et al*, 2000). Submerged fermentation conditions were reported to be extensively used for the largescale production of fungal propagules like blastospores, chlamydospores, mycelia and yeast cells (Belanger *et al*, 1994; Fargues *et al*, 2002; Hebbar *et al*, 1997; Issaly *et al*, 2005; Jadubansa *et al*, 1994) of various potential biocontrol fungi.

Under submerged fermentation conditions hyphal as well as yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* can be produced within 72 h as compared to the production of condia within 14 d under SSF conditions. However, isolated yeast-like cells could be uniformly mixed with the carrier as compared to the hyphal cells produced as large pellets (4-5 mm diameter). Thus, attempts were made to optimize conditions for the production of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* as an alternative living propagule for the slow release of enzymes.

# 4A.2.2.1 Effect of nature of inoculum

The low pH (4.0) was found to be the morphological trigger for the formation of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*. Sucrose (2%) and ammonium sulphate (0.46%) were

found to be the most suitable carbon and nitrogen sources, respectively for the production of yeast-like cells. The effect of nature of inoculum on the production of yeast biomass was studied. Different morphologies of *M. verrucaria*, hyphal and yeast-like cells (48 h old) and conidia (7 d old slant) were used as inoculum for production of yeast-like cells. Table 4.2 reveals that these inocula yielded yeast biomass in the range of 4.46-4.6 g/l wet wt within 72 h. However, when conidia or yeast-like cells were used as inoculum, % of isolated yeast-like cells ( $\geq$  50%) was higher as compared to that

Table 4.2 Effect of nature of inoculum on the production of *M. verrucaria* yeast-like cells

Inoculum/100ml medium	Biomass		
	(g/l)		
Conidia $(1x10^7)$	$4.5 \pm 0.3$		
Yeast like cells (5% wet wt)	$4.6 \pm 0.4$		
Hyphal cells (5% wet wt)	$4.46 \pm 0.3$		

observed in presence of hyphal cells as inoculum (28% isolated yeast-like cells). While remaining yeast-like cells formed small aggregates or chains. The isolated yeast-like cells can be uniformly mixed with the carrier to develop biocontrol formulation. Therefore, the yeast inoculum providing maximum biomass and isolated cells was selected for the mass production of yeast-like cells.

Under the optimized conditions for production of yeast-like cells: sucrose (2%), ammonium sulphate (0.46%), initial pH 4.0 and 48 h old yeast-like cells (5% wet wt) as inoculum, maximum yeast biomass ( $4.6 \pm 0.4$  g/l wet wt) was obtained under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C after 72 h.

# 4A.2.2.2 Production of mycolytic enzymes using yeast-like cells

The secretion of mycolytic enzymes plays an important role in a biocontrol of fungal pathogens. Thus it was necessary to study production of mycolytic enzymes using yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* as an inoculum before developing the biocontrol formulation. For comparison, hyphal cells and conidia were used as an inoculum. The production of mycolytic enzymes was studied in a medium containing chitin or autoclaved mycelium of a plant pathogen, *S. rolfsii* as a sole source of carbon. The hyphal cells remained unchanged during the extracellular production of mycolytic enzymes. The spores germinated and gave rise to hyphal form. The yeast-like cells undergo reversion to the hyphal form within 24 h in the above-mentioned media (initial pH 6.0) prior to the production of mycolytic enzymes and there after continued to grow in hyphal form as the pH of the medium increased (6.0-7.2) during the incubation (Table 4.3).

Inoculum	Morphology	Final	Chitinase	β-1,3	Protease
	(7d)	рн (7d)	(U/ml)	(U/ml)	(U/ml)
Chitin 0.5%					
(Carbon source)					
Conidia suspension $(1 \times 10^7 \text{ conidia/ml})$	Н	7.7	$1.8 \pm 0.2$	$0.23\pm0.03$	$0.013\pm$ 0.002
Hyphal cells (5% wet wt)	Н	7.4	$1.62 \pm 0.2$	$0.19\pm0.02$	$0.002 \pm 0.002$
Yeast cells (5% wet wt)	Н	7.2	1.41± 0.01	$0.18\pm0.03$	$0.01 \pm 0.002$
S. <i>rolfsii</i> mycelium (5.0% wet wt) (Carbon source)					
Conidia suspension (1x10 <sup>7</sup> conidia/ml)	Н	7.5	0.061± 0.002	0.73 ± 0.12	$0.012 \pm 0.002$
Hyphal cells (5% wet wt)	Н	7.3	$0.047 \pm 0.003$	$0.74 \pm 0.11$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.011 \pm \\ 0.001 \end{array}$
Yeast cells (5% wet wt)	Н	7.1	$0.025 \pm 0.003$	$0.49\pm0.13$	0.010± 0.001

Table 4.3 Production of mycolytic enzymes using different morphologies of *M. verrucaria* as inoculum

\*H: Hyphal cells

The maximum production of mycolytic enzymes was observed in the presence of *M. verrucaria* conidia used as an inoculum. Hyphal and yeast-like cells when used as an inoculum, marginally lower (8-17% and 22-24%, respectively) production of mycolytic enzymes was observed. Irrespective of the inoculum used high chitinase activity was induced in chitin containing medium as compared to *S. rolfsii* autoclaved mycelium containing medium. Whereas a high  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase activity was expressed in medium containing *S. rolfsii* autoclaved mycelium. The production of protease did not change significantly with different inocula or with different media. From these results it can be suggested that the yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* which can be mass produced easily within 72 h and which exhibited transition to hyphal form secreting mycolytic enzymes within 24 h may be used as alternative living propagule for slow release of mycolytic enzymes for the control of plant pathogenic fungi.

# 4 B Production of cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzyme complex of

#### M. verrucaria

## **4B.1 Introduction**

In recent years, the use of chitinolytic enzymes in applicative fields such as biological pest control, the degradation of chitin rich wastes and the production of chitin hydrolysates for pharmaceutical or chemical purposes and for food and feed industry has become of increasing interest (Donzelli et al, 2003; Horsch et al, 1997; Patil et al, 2000). Traditionally selected strains of Serratia marcescens were used for the production of chitinolytic enzymes (Green et al, 2005; Mejia-Saules et al, 2006). Among fungi, T. harzianum was reported to be a main source for large-scale production of chitinases (Donzelli et al, 2005; Nampoothiri et al, 2004). M. verrucaria (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989), Penecillium sp. (Fenice et al, 1998; Parameswaran et al, 2005), V. lecanii (Liu et al, 2003; Matsumoto et al, 2004) and B. bassiana (Suresh and Chandrasekaran, 1999; Zhang et al, 2004) were also reported as potent producers of chitinolytic enzymes. Various studies reported the optimization of nutritional parameters in shake flask studies (Donzelli et al, 2005; El-Katatny et al, 2003; Felse and Panda, 1999; Sandhya et al, 2004). However, very few studies were aimed at understanding the effect of different process parameters on fungal chitinase production at fermenter level (Felse and Panda, 2000; Liu et al, 2003). The objective of the present study was to optimize the conditions for the production of chitinase of *M. verrucaria* at shake flask as well as at 15 l capacity fermenter level. The production of other enzyme components in CDE/ME complex,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, protease and lipase was also studied under the conditions optimized for chitinase production.

#### **4B.2** Results and discussion

#### **4B.2.1** Shake flask studies

# **4B.2.1.1 Effect of different chitin sources**

Chitinases were reported to be the inducible enzymes and various studies report the use of chitin in different forms such as crab shell chitin (Felse and Panda, 1999; Felse and Panda, 2000; Vyas and Deshpande, 1989), low molecular weight chitin (Onte *et al*, 2003), colloidal chitin (Fenice *et al*, 1998), shrimp shell waste (Liu *et al*, 2003), shrimp waste sillage (Matsumoto *et al*, 2004), etc. as source of carbon for the production of fungal chitinases under submerged fermentation conditions. *M. verrucaria* was grown in a medium containing chitin from different sources, crab shell chitin (Sigma and Hi-Media) and chitin containing fishery waste, prawns shell waste (0.5% w/v). The chitinase activity produced by *M. verrucaria* with Sigma chitin was higher (chitinase  $1.68 \pm 0.2$  U/ml) as compared to other commercial chitin (Hi media) (chitinase  $1.29 \pm 0.2$  U/ml). This could be due to the purity and particle size of chitin.

#### 4B.2.1.2 Effect of corn steep liquor and molasses

Vyas and Deshpande (1989) reported increased production of chitinase by M. *verrucaria* in the presence of yeast extract and peptone. In the present studies attempts were made to identify cheaper raw materials that can replace yeast extract and peptone. The maximum chitinase activity (1.68 ± 0.2 U/ml) was produced in the presence of yeast extract and peptone (Table 4.4). While chitinase activities lower than that produced in the basal medium were seen in the presence of corn steep liquor (CSL) or molasses. Thus in further experiments basal medium supplemented with yeast extract and peptone was used for the production of CDE/ME complex.

Medium constituents	Chitinase		
	(U/ml)		
Basal medium	$1.42 \pm 0.1$		
Basal medium + yeast extract 0.5%	$1.68 \pm 0.2$		
+ peptone 0.5%			
Basal medium $+ 0.5\%$ CSL	$0.61\pm0.07$		
Basal medium + 1.0% CSL	$0.51\pm0.05$		
Basal medium $+ 2.0\%$ CSL	$0.16\pm0.01$		
Basal medium $+$ 0.5% molasses	$0.88\pm0.09$		
Basal medium + 1.0% molasses	$1.00 \pm 0.1$		
Basal medium + 2.0% molasses	$1.21 \pm 0.1$		
Basal medium + 3.0% molasses	$1.12 \pm 0.1$		

Table 4.4 Effect of addition of corn steep liquor and molasses in medium on chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* 

\* Basal medium with chitin as a sole carbon source as described under materials and methods

#### 4B.2.1.3 Effect of controlled pH

Vyas and Deshpande (1989) reported that initial pH of the medium was important for the chitinase production by *M. verrucaria*. At pH 6.0, the chitinase activity was consistently high. However, increase in pH of the medium (pH 6.0-7.6) was observed during the course of chitinase production. Thus, in present investigations effect of controlled pH on chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* was studied. The initial pH was adjusted in a range of 5.0-8.0. Constant pH was maintained at the initial value by addition of sterile 1 N HCl after every 24 h of incubation. Maintaining the pH at 6.0, optimum pH for chitinase production resulted in 16% increase in chitinase production as compared to that in the control flask where pH of the medium was not adjusted to initial value (Fig. 4.4). The initial pH of the medium significantly affects the production of different extracellular enzymes by fungi. *T. viride* F-9 was reported to produce maximal chitinase activity in pH range 7.0-8.0 (Rogalski *et al*, 1997) while





\* Control: pH of the medium was allowed to increase during the course of fermentation from the initial of 6.0.

optimum pH of 4.9 was reported for chitinase production using *T. harzianum* (Felse and Panda, 1999). Maximal chitinase production by *Penicillium janthinellum* was observed at an initial medium pH of 4.0 (Fenice *et al*, 1998). However, in contrast to our results, when *P. janthinellum* was grown at the constant pH 4.0, the chitinase production decreased.

#### 4B.2.1.4 Effect of an inoculum

The production of fungal chitinases was initiated using either spore or mycelial inocula. The use of mycelia of *V. lecanii* grown in chitin containing medium as inoculum was reported to significantly improve *N*-acetylhexosaminidase yields as compared to spore inoculum due to the earlier adaptation of the fungus to media supplemented with chitin, rapid growth initiation and early entry of the fungus into enzyme production phase (Matsumoto *et al*, 2004). Furthermore, inoculum

Lower inoculum concentration was not sufficient to effect maximal transformation of biological materials while larger inocula resulted in the decreased chitinase production by *T. harzianum* due to the shortage of nutrients available for the larger biomass and faster growth of culture (Sandhya *et al*, 2004). In the present investigations, chitinase production using *M. verrucaria* spore inoculum was compared with those using different concentrations of mycelial inocula. In case of *M. verrucaria*, after 48 h of initial lag period steady increase in chitinase production was observed. Thus, in the present study, 4 d old mycelium grown in chitin containing medium was used as an inoculum.

The nature as well as concentration of inoculum was observed to significantly affect the chitinase production by *M. verrucaria*. The mycelial inoculum (10%) led to production of the chitinase comparable to that obtained with spore inoculum (Fig. 4.5). High chitinase activity (1.68  $\pm$  0.2 U/ml) was produced using these inocula. While in

Fig. 4.5 Effect of mycelial inoculum density on chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* 



\* Control: *M. verrucaria* spore suspension (10<sup>7</sup> spore/ml) was used as inoculum.

the presence of 2.5-7.5% mycelial inoculum, lower chitinase production  $(1.18 \pm 0.18 \text{ to} 1.54 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml}$  chitinase) was observed. Slight reduction in chitinase production  $(1.58 \pm 0.15 \text{ U/ml}$  chitinase) was also observed when 12.5% inoculum was used.

Interestingly, it was observed that when spore inoculum was used, mycelium developed on chitin particles and small pellets (size  $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$ ) of *M. verrucaria* were produced. In contrast, bigger pellets (size 2-3 mm) were produced when mycelial inoculum was used. The pellet size was reported to affect the production of various fungal metabolites (Feng *et al*, 2004; Gibbs *et al*, 2000; Zindarsic, 2001). The establishment of nutrient gradients through larger pellets causing transportational limitations was suggested to reduce the metabolite production. The increase in chitinase production using mycelial inoculum as compared to spore inoculum as observed in case of *V. lecanii* (Matsumoto *et al*, 2004) and *T. harzianum* (Sandhya *et al*, 2004), was not observed in case of *M. verrucaria*. This may be attributed to the production of larger pellets in the presence of mycelial inoculum as compared to those in the presence of spore inoculum.

#### **4B.2.1.5** Effect of agitation

Increase in chitinase production  $(0.8 \pm 0.05 \text{ to } 1.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml chitinase})$  by *M. verrucaria* was observed with increase in agitation rate from 100-200 rpm (Fig. 4.6). The highest chitinase activity  $(1.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml})$  was produced at agitation rate 200 rpm. Further increase in agitation rate resulted in decrease in chitinase production. Lower chitinase production by *V. lecanii* at higher agitation rate was ascribed to the shearing effect on the cells by Liu *et al* (2003).

Fig. 4.6 Effect of agitation on chitinase production by M. verrucaria



## 4B.2.1.6 Effect of cultivation volume

The effect of different cultivation volumes of chitin medium (50-250 ml) in the 500 ml Erlenmeyer flask on chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* was studied. Vyas and Deshpande (1989) reported maximum chinase production  $(1.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml}) M$ . *verrucaria*, with cultivation volume 100 ml. However, in the present studies maximum chitinase activity  $(1.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml})$  was produced in flasks containing 200 ml cultivation volume (Fig. 4.7). Chitinase production increased from  $1.2 \pm 0.1$  to  $1.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml}$  with increase in cultivation volume from 50 to 200 ml. While with further increase in cultivation volume decrease in chitinase activity was observed possibly due to less dissolved oxygen. Liu *et al* (2003) studied the effect of cultivation medium volume on chitinase production by *V. lecanii*. The highest chitinase activity in this case was also obtained when 200 ml cultivation medium volume in 500 ml capacity Erlenmeyer flask was used. The highest production of chitinase was suggested due to the compromise between the mass transfer and/or shear stress at this volume (Liu *et al*, 2003).



Fig. 4.7 Effect of cultivation volume on chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* 

Taking into account above experiments, the highest chitinase production by M. *verrucaria* could be achieved in an optimized culture medium by using culture volume at 200 ml with agitation rate at 200 rpm, at 28°C within 7 days.

# 4B.2.1.7 Time course for production of cuticle degrading / mycolytic enzyme complex in shake flask

The conditions optimized for chitinase production by *M. verrucaria* in shake flask: chitin (Sigma) as carbon source, supplementation of yeast extract and peptone in production medium, constant medium pH 6.0, mycelial inoculum (10% v/v) grown in chitin medium, agitation 200 rpm and cultivation volume 200 ml in 500 ml capacity Erlenmeyer flask. Under these conditions production of other enzymes in CDE/ME complex,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, protease and lipase was also monitored. Fig. 4.8 reveals the production profile of the CDE/ME complex of *M. verrucaria* under optimized shake flask conditions. Steady increase in chitinase activity was observed up to 7 d after the initial lag period of 2 d. The highest chitinase activity (1.8 ± 0.2 U/ml) was obtained on

Fig. 4.8 The production profile of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex by *M. verrucaria* under shake flask conditions



7 d of incubation. Similarly, the highest lipase activity  $(1.6 \pm 0.2 \text{ U/ml})$  was produced on 7 d of incubation.  $\beta$ -1,3-Glucanase activity increased from 0.0074  $\pm$  0.0006 U/ml to 0.28  $\pm$  0.004 U/ml within 6 d. On further incubation up to 7 d, 18% reduction in  $\beta$ -1,3 glucanase activity (0.23  $\pm$  0.003 U/ml) was observed. The maximum alkaline protease activity (0.084  $\pm$  0.0008 U/ml) was obtained on 3 d. With further increase in incubation period, protease production decreased slowly, and on 7<sup>th</sup> day 0.013  $\pm$  0.004 U/ml protease activity was observed. The chitosanase and mannanase activities were also measured in the 7<sup>th</sup> day culture filtrate. Chitosanase (1.6  $\pm$  0.2 U/ml) and mannanase (0.019  $\pm$  0.004 U/ml) activities were also detected on 7<sup>th</sup> d of incubation. The 7<sup>th</sup> day culture filtrate was used as CDE/ME preparation for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects.

#### **4B.2.2** Fermenter studies

Batch fermentations were carried out for CDE/ME complex production in 151 capacity locally made stirred tank fermenter with the probes to monitor temperature, dissolved oxygen and pH. Attempts were made to optimize agitation and aeration conditions for the production of CDE/ME complex.

# 4B.2.2.1 Effect of agitation

Agitation rate is an important parameter as it plays a significant role in determining the productivity by providing mixing and mass and heat transfer during the process (Jsten *et al*, 1996). Also, it is one of the most critical parameters used for process scale up (Felse and Panda, 2000; Liu *et al*, 2003). Every fermentation has its own optimum agitator speed. This agitator speed will depend upon the resistance of the organism to shear, its morphological state, the nutrient composition, pH and many other conditions (Felse and Panda, 2000).

To study the effect of agitation on chitinase production, a series of experiments were conducted at different agitator speed. The agitator speed was varied between 100 and 400 rpm. In these experiments, except the change in agitator speed, all the other conditions were maintained as follows: initial chitin concentration 5.0 g/l; initial pH 6.0 (uncontrolled) and mycelial inoculum (10% v/v); working volume, 10 l; aeration rate, 1.0 vvm. A consistent increase in biomass ( $18 \pm 0.9$  to  $33 \pm 1.5$  g/l), extracellular protein secretion ( $0.31 \pm 0.006$  to  $0.69 \pm 0.005$  mg/ml) and chitinase production ( $0.23 \pm$ 0.003 to  $1.14 \pm 0.009$  U/ml) was observed with increase in agitator speed from 100 to 300 rpm (Fig. 4.9). The highest chitinase activity (1.14 U/ml) was produced by *M. verrucaria* within 5 days of incubation with the agitator speed of 300 rpm. Further increase in agitator speed (400 rpm) resulted in increased foaming. The chitin particles



Fig. 4.9 Variation in biomass, extracellular protein and chitinase production with agitation rate

entrapped in foam accumulated above the liquid surface making the substrate inaccessible to the growing mycelium of *M. verrucaria*. Felse and Panda (2000) reported the maximal chitinase production by *T. harzianum* at agitator speed of 224 rpm. While the optimum agitator speed for the chitinase production by *P. janthinellum* was observed to be 500 rpm (Fenice *et al*, 1998). The highest chitinase production by *V. lecanii* F091 was observed with the agitator speed of 150 rpm. All these studies indicate that the production of chitinase is facilitated with certain critical agitator speed specific for a particular fungal isolate. The lower production of chitinases observed with agitator speeds lower than the critical agitator speed was attributed to the insufficient oxygenation (Fenice *et al*, 1998) and incomplete mixing and/or mass transfer resistance (Felse and Panda, 2000). While decrease in chitinase production at agitator speeds higher than critical agitator speed was ascribed to the higher shear stress experienced by the fungus (Fenice *et al*, 1998; Liu *et al*, 2003). From the present studies 300 rpm was found to be optimal agitator speed for the production of chitinase by *M. verrucaria*.

# 4B.2.2.2 Effect of aeration

With optimum agitation rate 300 rpm, the effect of aeration was investigated by comparing the chitinase production at three aeration rates, namely 0.5, 1.0 and 1.5 vvm. The time course for chitinase activity and dissolved oxygen (DO) during cultivation of *M. verrucaria* in chitin medium were depicted in Fig. 4.10 and Fig. 4.11, respectively. Decrease in biomass  $(34 \pm 2.3 \text{ to } 31 \pm 1.6 \text{ g/l})$ , extracellular protein  $(0.73 \pm 0.04 \text{ to } 0.48 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg/ml})$  and chitinase  $(1.32 \pm 0.1 \text{ to } 0.7 \pm 0.08 \text{ U/ml})$  production by *M. verrucaria* was observed with increase in aeration rates. Chitinase activities on 5<sup>th</sup> day of incubation with aeration rates of 0.5, 1.0 and 1.5 vvm were 1.32, 1.14 and 0.7 U/ml, respectively (Fig. 4.10). With increase in aeration rate significant decrease in biomass was not observed, but the decrease in chitinase production was very rapid.




The DO concentration profiles were slightly different under different aeration

rates (Fig. 4.11). At low aeration rate of 0.5 and 1.0 vvm, DO levels were between 40-

50% saturation for most of the incubation period. In contrast, DO levels were above





55% saturation at higher aeration rate, 1.5 vvm. From these results it may be suggested that the chitinase production was affected by higher DO saturation levels ( $\geq$  55%) inculture broth. The aeration rate, 0.5 vvm was selected for the chitinase production. Fenice *et al* (1998) studied the effect of aeration rate 0.5-1.5 vvm on the chitinase production by *P. janthinellum*. The maximum chitinase production was observed with 1.5 vvm aeration rate.

# 4B.2.2.3 Time course for production of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme

## complex by *M. verrucaria* in the fermenter

The time course for the production of cuticle degrading / mycolytic enzymes was studied under the conditions optimized for chitinase production (Fig. 4.12). The fermentation was carried out with aeration 0.5 vvm and agitation 300 rpm, at 28°C for 6

Fig. 4.12 Time course for cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme complex production in stirred tank fermenter



d. In the fermenter, chitinase,  $1.32 \pm 0.06$  U/ml;  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase,  $0.13 \pm 0.005$  U/ml, protease  $0.011 \pm 0.001$  U/ml and lipase  $0.945 \pm 0.005$  U/ml were produced within 5 d. Further increase in incubation period did not result in increase in production of enzymes. Thus, fermentation was terminated after 5 d of incubation. Fig. 4.13 reveals the productivities of different cuticle degrading and mycolytic enzymes under shake flask and fermenter (15 l) levels. Though the enzyme activity levels obtained in fermenter were lower (25-43%) than the shake flask, the productivities of these enzymes were found to be comparable. Marginal increases (6-14%) in chitinase and protease productivities were observed at fermenter level as compared to that at the shake flask level. While decreases (17-20%) in  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase and lipase productivities were observed at fermenter level.

Thus, in the present studies agitation (300 rpm) and aeration (0.5 vvm) rates were optimized for the production of CDE/ME complex by *M. verrucaria* in stirred tank fermenter. It was observed that *M. verrucaria* produced larger pellets (diameter  $\geq$  3 mm) when grown under the optimized aeration agitation conditions in stirred tank





fermenter. Further investigations on the effect of pellet size or morphology (pelleted or dispersed) of *M. verrucaria* on enzyme production and appropriate changes in culture conditions may help in increasing enzyme productivity. Furthermore, controlled pH (6.0) in shake flask studies resulted in 16% increase in chitinase production. Further

studies on controlled pH with optimized agitation and aeration will possibly be useful to obtain maximum CDE/ME activities to make the production commercially viable.

Chapter 5

**Biocontrol efficacy of living propagules and enzymic** 

components of M. verrucaria against fungal and

<u>insect pests</u>

## 5.1 Introduction

Interest in the control of seed borne or soil borne plant pathogenic fungi has greatly increased in recent years as these fungi reduce the seed dormancy, percentage seed germination and adversely affect the seedling vigour resulting in significant yield losses. Moreover, a seed borne inoculum plays a vital role in the disease cycle leading to epidemics. *S. rolfsii* is the devastating soil-borne fungal pathogen infecting over 500 species of plants. The wide host range, prolific growth and ability to produce persistent sclerotia contribute to the large economic losses associated with *S. rolfsii* in agricultural crops like peanut, cowpea, pigeon pea, corn and horticultural plants like jasmine, lilium, chrysanthemum, etc. (Patibanda *et al*, 2002; Uma Maheshwari *et al*, 2002). Several fungicides have been reported to inhibit the mycelial growth of *S. rolfsii* (Patil and Rane, 1982; Singh and Dwivedi, 1989). However, none of the chemical fungicides tested were fungicidal to sclerotia of the pathogen (Singh and Dwivedi, 1989).

Other than fungal pathogens the agricultural pests known so far include 2,000 species of insects. Among the insect pests *H. armigera*, a lepidopteron insect is reported to cause more than 50% losses in yield of the important crops such as cotton, pulses, vegetables and sunflower, in India (Wahab, 2004). The development of resistance in *H. armigera* to chemical insecticides has aggravated the problem. *S. litura*, another lepidopteron pest on cotton, rocked the fertile cotton districts in Andhra Pradesh in year 1998. It destroyed 370,000 hectares of crop, which led to suicides by 44 farmers frightened by the complete harvest loss in cotton fields (News: Pestilence drives Andhra farmers to suicide, January 19, 1998). While in year 2000, outbreak of *S. litura* caused severe losses in soybean in Rajasthan. The diamondback moth (DBM), *P. xylostella* is the major pest in crucifers. Its outbreak was reported in cauliflower and cabbage crops around Delhi in 1999. This pest has

an extraordinary propensity to develop resistance to every synthetic insecticide used to control it. The escalating cost of managing this pest on commercially grown crucifers reveals the inadequacy of existing management efforts. Sugarcane woolly aphid, *C. lanigera* was reported in outbreak proportions from western and southern India in the year 2002 (Joshi and Viraktamath, 2004). The woolly aphid infestation on sugarcane not only severely affected the yield but also posed health hazards to farmers and cattle.

In view of the devastating nature of fungal and insect pests the development of a common agent to control both could be advantageous. The outermost protective covers that are, cell wall in fungal pathogens and cuticle in insect pests share common structural component, chitin. Thus, it provides an opportunity to develop a common agent targeting the protective covers for the control of both fungal pathogens and insect pests. *M. verrucaria* produces extracellularly the hydrolytic enzymes like chitinase,  $\beta$ -1,3 glucanase, lipase and protease involved in degradation of fungal cell wall and insect cuticle, when grown in a medium containing chitin as a sole source of carbon (Vyas and Deshpande, 1989). The aim of the present study was to demonstrate the effective use of living propagules (conidia / yeast-like cells) of *M. verrucaria* and/or the hydrolytic enzyme complex to control both plant pathogenic fungi and insects.

#### 5.2 Results and discussion

## **5.2.1 Formulation studies**

## **5.2.1.1** Conidial formulation

The microbial agents are usually formulated with different carriers or agents that facilitate packaging, extend shelf life and render the preparation easy to handle (Paau, 1988). Recently, Batta (2004) reported the use of dust carriers like charcoal powder, oven-ash and chalk powder to prolong the shelf-life of *M. anisopliae* conidia used to control rice weevil in stored grains. Organic carriers like rice bran, wheat bran, baggase were also used as carriers for different biocontrol fungi (Chavan *et al*, 2006). Similar formulations can also be used to control plant pathogenic fungi.

*M. verrucaria* conidia produced by solid-state fermentation on sorghum grains were harvested after 14 d of incubation using 0.01% Tween 80. The conidial suspension (1 ml containing  $1 \times 10^{10}$  conidia) was mixed with sterile 100 g organic carriers like rice bran, wheat bran, prawn shell waste and conventionally used carriers like charcoal powder or precipitated silica powder. The preparations were stored in sealed plastic bags at room temperature or at 4°C until used. From Fig. 5.1 it can be seen that the viability of conidia in different carriers was more at 4°C than

Fig. 5.1 Effect of temperature on viability of *M. verrucaria* conidia formulated with different carriers



\* *M. verrucaria* conidia were mixed with different carriers namely, C1: Rice bran, C2: Rice bran + chitin, C3: Wheat bran, C4: Wheat bran + chitin, C5: Prawn shell waste, C6: Charcoal powder and C7: Precipitated silica powder. These preparations were stored at 4°C and room temperature for 18 months.

at room temperature when tested after 18 months, a desirable period for the potential commercial preparation. *M. verrucaria* conidia in organic carriers wheat bran and rice bran with and without chitin supplement (2 g chitin in 100 g wheat bran or rice bran) retained >80% viability when stored at 4°C and 54-62% viability after 18 months storage at room temperature (Fig. 5.1). When prawn shell waste, charcoal powder and precipitated silica were used, as carriers the TVC after 18 months were 10, 22, 18 %, respectively. The, rice and wheat bran with and without chitin supplement (C1-C4) were found to be the best carriers for *M. verrucaria* conidia. Though, the chitin supplement did not significantly improve the shelf life of conidia. It was found to be useful in the production of chitinolytic enzymes by *M. verrucaria* after application of conidia to soil. The conidia mixed in rice bran with and without chitin supplement were used for the soil application to control pre-emergence rot of peanut caused by *S. rolfsii*.

## 5.2.1.2 Yeast-like cells formulation

The vegetative yeast-like cells provided an alternative living propagule of *M*. *verrucaria* to develop biocontrol preparation. The yeast-like cells were immobilized in alginate beads with or without 0.5% w/v chitin under aseptic conditions. The beads initially 5-6 mm in diameter, shrunk to 3-4 mm in diameter after air-drying in laminar airflow for 1 h. From yeast-like cells (1 g wet wt, 4.2 x 10<sup>11</sup> cfu/g wet wt),  $\approx 20$  g of alginate beads were produced. TVC of yeast-like cells was  $(1.9 \pm 0.3) \times 10^9$ cfu/g of alginate beads. To study the effect of temperature on viability of free as well as immobilized yeast-like cells, they were stored in sterile, airtight plastic vials and incubated at 4°C and room temperature. Fig. 5.2 reveals that the viability of free yeast cells decreased rapidly when stored at room temperature as well as at 4°C (12 Fig. 5.2 Effect of temperature on the viability of yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* entrapped in alginate beads with or without chitin



\*A: Yeast-like cells stored at 4°C; B: Yeast-like cells stored at room temperature; C: Yeast-like cells immobilized without chitin, stored at 4°C; D: Yeast-like cells immobilized with chitin, stored at 4°C; E: Yeast-like cells immobilized without chitin, stored at room temperature; F: Yeast-like cells immobilized with chitin, stored at room temperature

and 33 % TVC after 7d, repectively). While up to 60 days the viability of yeast-like cells was not significantly affected by storage temperature. With further increase in incubation period viability of yeast-like cells (>73% TVC after 3 months storage) stored at room temperature decreased rapidly. The immobilized yeast-like cells retained >90% viability at refrigeration temperature (4°C) after 3 months storage. Chitin supplementation did not significantly improve the viability of yeast-like cells during storage at different temperatures.

The chitinase production by yeast-like cells immobilized with or without chitin was compared with that of free yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria*. The chitinase production using immobilized yeast-like cells (1% w/v) as an inoculum was higher (0.9 U/ml) with added chitin than the immobilized yeast-like cells without chitin (0.6 U/ml) and free yeast-like cells (0.55 U/ml) under identical incubation conditions

(28°C, under shaking conditions 200 rpm, for 7 d). El-Katatny *et al* (2003) reported the enhanced chitinase production by conidia of *Trichoderma* species entrapped in alginate matrix along with chitin as compared to those entrapped without chitin. The immobilized yeast-like cells of *M. verrucaria* with and without chitin were used for soil application to control *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut.

## 5.2.1.3 Cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation

*M. verrucaria* was grown in chitin containing medium under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C for 7 d. The cell free broth containing chitinase,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase, protease and lipase was used as CDE/ME preparation. The pH of the culture filatrate was adjusted to 5.0 using citric acid (0.2 M). For the use of enzyme preparation for control of fungal pathogens or insect pests, the major constraint was its volume, which was affecting storage and transportation. Attempts were made to concentrate enzyme preparation, using polysulphone hollow fiber membrane of 10 kDa molecular weight cut-off. This was further concentrated using spray drying or freeze drying.

Concentration method	Quantity	Chitinase (U)	Recovery (%)
Culture filtrate	10,000 ml	18,000	-
Ultra filtration	500 ml	14,760	82
Freeze drying	32 g	12,841	71.3
Spray drying	25 g	5,904	32.8

 Table 5.1 Concentration of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzyme preparation using different methods

\* Ultrafiltration concentrate was further concentrated using either freeze drying or spray drying.

Table 5.1 reveals the % recovery of chitinase activity during different enzyme concentration methods. Using ultra filtration, 10 l enzyme preparation was concentrated to 500 ml. This ultra filtration concentrate was further concentrated to powder form (32 g) by freeze-drying using DW6 Freeze dryer (Heto Lab Equipment, Denmark). The maximum recovery of chitinase activity (71.3%) was noted after concentration of enzyme preparation by freeze drying. The ultrafiltration concentrate when further concentrated to powder form (25 g) by spray drying using Buchi 190 Mini Spray Dryer at 60°C resulted in 67.2% loss in the recovery of chitinase activity. Thus, the combination of ultrafiltration and freeze-drying methods was found suitable to concentrate the enzyme preparation. The powder obtained after freeze drying can be stored in airtight plastic bottles at  $-20^{\circ}$ C up to 3 months without significant loss in chitinase activity. For the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insect pests, enzyme powder was diluted using distilled water to get chitinase activity (1-6 U/ml) and applied to soil or on insects.

## 5.2.2 Control of Sclerotium rolfsii infection in peanut

#### 5.2.2.1 Plate assays

To study the fungus-fungus interaction between *M. verrucaria* and plant pathogenic root infecting fungus, *S. rolfsii*, dual culture plate assays were carried out using minimal medium and chitin medium. On chitin medium, 54% inhibition of the mycelial growth of *S. rolfsii* was observed after 4 d of incubation at 28°C. While on minimal medium containing glucose, growth of *S. rolfsii* mycelium was not significantly affected. This can be attributed to the production of mycolytic enzymes by *M. verrucaria* on chitin medium. Unlike mycoparasitic fungi, microscopic observation of the dual culture plate assays did not reveal any hyphal interaction between *M. verrucaria* and *S. rolfsii*. Elad et al (1983) and Prasad et al (1999) reported that culture filtrates of

*Trichoderma* species containing chitinase and  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanase affected the viability of sclerotia of *S. rolfsii*. The effect of mycolytic enzyme complex of *M. verrucaria* on the viability of sclerotia, the resting structures of *S. rolfsii* was studied using a method of Prasad *et al* (1999). The effect of various treatments on sclerotial viability was assessed by placing sclerotia on sterile Whatman No. 1 filter paper impregnated with mycolytic enzume preparation or chemical fungicide, carzim and that impregnated with sterile distilled water served as control. The sclerotial viability was affected significantly with 1.0 U/ml chtinase activity (Fig. 5.3). The marginal decrease (5-15%) in sclerotial viability was observed in the presence of a chemical fungicide Carzim (0.4-0.8 % w/v, concentration recommended for control of *S*.





\* Treatments: Control. Distilled water, T1. Chitinase (0.1 U/ml), T2. Chitinase (0.5 U/ml), T3. Chitinase (1.0 U/ml), T4. Carzim (0.4% w/v), T6. Carzim (0.8% w/v).

*rolfsii* in field). Thus mycolytic enzyme treatment was found more effective in reducing the sclerotial viability under laboratory assay conditions.

Germination trial was carried out to assess the potential of *M. verrucaria* to control *S. rolfsii* infection on peanut. The peanut seeds coated with *S. rolfsii* suspension and those soaked in sterile water served as controls. The test seeds were soaked in conidial suspension of *M. verrucaria* and then coated with *S. rolfsii* mycelial suspension. The treated seeds were placed on moist filter paper in sterile Petri plates and incubated at room temperature upto 7 d. The germination of peanut seeds was affected (80% reduction) in the presence of *S. rolfsii* treatment. The coating of seeds with *M. verrucaria* conidia was found to protect the seeds from the infection with *S. rolfsii*. In this set 60% seed germination to assess the plant growth promoting effect of the radicles in control (sterile water) and *M. verrucaria* conidial treatment receiving sets was  $3.5 \pm 0.3$  cm, suggesting the absence of any growth promoting effect of *M. verrucaria* to control *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut.

## **5.2.2.2 Pot experiments**

Pot experiments were carried out to assess the efficacy of different preparations containing living propagules (conidia and yeast-like cells) or mycolytic enzymes of *M. verrucaria* to control pre-emergence rot of peanut caused by *S. rolfsii*. In the first pot experiment efficacy of the rice bran-conidia preparation with and without chitin and immobilized yeast-like cells with and without chitin was compared with the conventionally used chemical fungicide, Carzim. Table 5.2 depicts the results of this experiment. In the infested soil only 30% seeds germinated. Furthermore, the effect was

Formulations	Seed germination	Average shoot	Average root
		length	length
	(%)	(cm)	(cm)
Control (Sterile soil)	100	15.0	16.0
Control (Infested soil)	30	4.3	4.2
Rice bran formulation	50	14.4	14.3
Rice bran + chitin formulation	90	14.6	15.0
Yeast-like cells	40	12.9	13.5
Immobilized yeast-like cells	45	13.5	14.2
Immobilized yeast-like cells	60	15.0	15.2
+ chitin			
Carzim	70	12.7	13.2

Table 5.2 Control of pre-emergence rot in peanut using various formulation	)ns
containing <i>M. verrucaria</i> conidia or yeast-like cells	

pronounced on the germinated seeds with respect to the shoot and root length (Table 5.2). The germination of seeds was found to be improved in the presence of different treatments. The conidia mixed with rice bran and chitin were found to be the most effective for the control of pre-emergence rot of peanut caused by *S. rolfsii*. Interestingly, for number of treatments though the seed germination was not improved drastically, the germinated seeds were healthy and plant vigour was good as compared to the plants grown in infested soil. The chitinolytic activity (0.008 to 0.012 U/g soil) was detected in soil receiving the treatment of *M. verrucaria* condia or yeast-like cells as against the untreated controls. dal Soglio *et al* (1998) reported the use of *T. harzianum* Th008 for the control of *R. solani* causing root rot. The disease control was correlated with the production of endochitinase by *T. harzianum* Th008 in the rhizosphere of soybean.

Patil *et al* (2000) reported that daily soil irrigation with mycolytic enzymes of *M. verrucaria* was found effective in the control of *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut. Hence

in the present studies mycolytic enzyme preparation was used for soil application at an interval of 1 week. The stability of the mycolytic enzymes in soil and their efficacy in controlling *S. rolfsii* infection in peanut was studied. The ME preparation (15 ml) containing 5-20 U chitinase was used per pot at a weekly interval. Residual chitinase activity in soil was estimated on 1, 4 and 7 days in first week and at the end of  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  week (Fig. 5.4). Under the pot experiment conditions (soil pH, 6.5 and





temperature, 25-32°C), chitinase activity in soil decreased rapidly within 7 d. The residual chitinase activities of  $0.22 \pm 0.02$  and  $1.52 \pm 0.2$  U/pot, were observed in the pots receiving treatment of 10 and 20 U chitinase/pot, respectively.

The seed germination (20-60%) in *S. rolfsii* infested soil was observed with increase in chitinase concentration (5-20 U/pot) applied per pot (Table 5.3). The application of ME preparation containing 20 U chitinase resulted in 60% increase in peanut seed germination which was marginally higher than the chemical control,

Treatments	Seed germination	Shoot	Root
		length	length
	(%)	(cm)	(cm)
Control (Sterile soil)	100	15.2	15.8
Control (Infested soil)	20	4.0	3.8
Chitinase 5.0 U/pot	40	13.7	14.2
Chitinase 10.0 U/pot	60	15.0	16.0
Chitinase 20.0 U/pot	80	14.9	15.6
Carzim	70	12.7	13.2

# Table 5.3 Control of pre-emergence rot in peanut using mycolytic enzyme preparation of *M. verrucaria*

\* NA: not applicable

Carzim (50% increase in seed germination). Assessment of plant vigour in terms of root and shoot lengths revealed that plants receiving ME preparation treatment were healthier than carzim treated plants. The root and shoot lengths of ME treated plants were comparable to those in plants in sterile soil.

## **5.2.3 Control of insect pests**

## 5.2.3.1 Insect bioassays

*M. verrucaria* enzyme preparation contains all the components (chitinase, protease and lipase) required for insect cuticle degradation. Thus in present studies CDE preparation was tested against following insect pests, *H. armigera*, *S. litura*, *P. xylostella* by larval dip method. The >70% mortality was observed in all, with chitinase 6 U/ml (Table 5.4). The enzyme mixture was most effective against *P. xylostella* (37% mortality with chitinase 2 U/ml) within 72 h. While the same concentration of CDE preparation resulted in abnormal morphologies in *S. litura* during larva-pupa ecdysis

Chitinase (U/ml)	Mortality (%), (72 h)		
	H. armigera	S. litura	P. xylostella
1.0	0.00	0.00	16.65
2.0	13.32	20.00	37.00
4.0	50.00	53.33	70.00
6.0	73.33	80.00	90.00
Control <sup>1</sup>	3.33	0.00	3.33
Control <sup>2</sup>	0.00	3.33	0.00

Table 5.4 Effect of *M. verrucaria* cuticle degrading enzyme preparation on 3<sup>rd</sup> instar larvae of *H. armigera*, *S. litura* and *P. xylostella* 

\*Control<sup>1</sup>: Heat inactivated CDE preparation, Control<sup>2</sup>: Distilled water

(Fig. 5.5). The enzyme treated larvae of insect pests exhibited change in the colour of their cuticles within 48-72 h. Brown-black patches were observed on their cuticles.

From these results it may be suggested that with increase in the concentration of CDE preparation dissolution of cuticle components increased resulting in death of the insect larvae.

Effect of CDE preparation on sugarcane woolly aphid, *C. lanigera*, a sucking pest was studied by spray method. The mortality of woolly aphids increased from 64 to 88% when the concentration of CDE preparation was increased from 2-6 U/ml chitinase (Table 5.5). In enzyme treated adults woolly mass was hydrolyzed and aphids turned

Table 5.5 Effect of cuticle degrading enzyme preparation on C. lanigera

Chitinase (U/ml)	% Mortality (72 h)
1.0	64.0 70.0
4.0	78.0
6.0 Control <sup>1</sup>	88.0 13.0
Control <sup>2</sup>	9.0

\*Control<sup>1</sup>: Heat inactivated CDE preparation, Control<sup>2</sup>: Distilled water



# Fig.5.5 Effect of cuticle degrading enzyme preparation on insect pests

black (Fig. 5.5). Lipase activity in CDE preparation may play an important role in hydrolyzing woolly mass comprised of wax and lipids. Complete hydrolysis of wooly mass was observed within 5 h when incubated with CDE preparation of *M. verrucaria* (lipase 2.0 U/ml) at room temperature.

Woolly aphid excretes honeydew like substances, which favour the growth of *Capnodium* sp. (sooty mold) on sugarcane leaves. The fungal growth was reported to affect the photosynthesis and cause reduction in sugarcane yield and quality. The effect of *M. verrucaria* enzyme preparation on germination of *Capnodium* sp. was studied. With increase in chitinase concentration (2-6 U/ml) the *Capnodium* spore germination decreased (39-92%). Similarly, the mycolytic enzymes (chitinases,  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanases and proteases) of *Trichoderma* sp. were reported to degrade cell walls and inhibit spore germination or germ tube elongation in various phytopathogenic fungi such as *S. rolfsii*, *R. solanii* and *B. cinerea* (Markovich and Kononova, 2003). The present investigations revealed that the cuticle degrading / mycolytic enzyme preparation of *M. verrucaria* plays a dual role. It has the potential to control both the fungal pathogen *Capnodium* sp.

The cuticle degrading enzyme complex comprising of chitinase, protease and lipase was reported to facilitate the penetration of entomopathogenic fungi like *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* into the insect body (Krieger de Moraes *et al*, 2003; St. Leger *et al*, 1986). In view of the effectiveness of the CDE preparation of *M. verrucaria* in disrupting the insect cuticle its combination with insect pathogenic fungi like *M. anisopliae*, *B. bassiana* and *N. reliyi* was tested against *H. armigera* larvae under laboratory conditions. The conidia of entomopathogenic fungi were mixed with the CDE preparation (2 U/ml chitinase). This preparation was used immediately or 2 h after mixing in the bioassay. CDE preparation did not affect the viability of conidia significantly even when conidia were incubated with CDE preparation for 2 h at

Treatment	Spore	Mortality	LT <sub>50</sub>
	germination	(0/_)	(b)
<i>B. bassiana</i> $(10^7 \text{ spores/ml})$	85.1	87.5	5.0
<i>B. bassiana</i> $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml})$	84.9	50.0	6.0
<i>B. bassiana</i> $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml}) +$	80.5	85.0	2.7
Chitinase			
<i>B. bassiana</i> $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml}) +$	78.9	80.0	2.5
Chitinase <sup>*</sup>			
<i>M. anisopliae</i> (10 <sup>7</sup> spores/ml)	81.2	95.0	3.8
<i>M. anisopliae</i> (10 <sup>5</sup> spores/ml)	83.2	53.5	5.2
<i>M. anisopliae</i> $(10^5 \text{ spores /ml})$	80.7	95.0	2.3
+ chitinase			
<i>M. anisopliae</i> $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml}) +$	78.6	90.0	2.2
chitinase*			
<i>N. rileyi</i> (10 <sup>7</sup> spores/ml)	75.3	70.0	5.1
<i>N. rileyi</i> (10 <sup>5</sup> spores/ml)	76.7	47.5	6.2
N. rileyi $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml}) +$	75.3	87.5	2.5
chitinase			
N. rileyi $(10^5 \text{ spores/ml}) +$	73.3	80.0	2.6
Chitinase*			
Chitinase	NA	20.0	-
Distilled water	NA	3.3	-

Table 5.6 Use of entomopathogenic fungi and cuticle degrading enzyme preparation of *M. verrucaria* singly or in combination against  $3^{rd}$  instar *H. armigera* larvae

\* *B. bassiana / M. anisopliae /N. rileyi*+ chitinase<sup>\*</sup>: The fungal spores were incubated with chitinase (2 U/ml) prior to the use in bioassay NA: Not applicable

room temperature (Table 5.6). With the  $10^7$  spores/ml of *B. bassiana* 87.5% mortality was seen within 14 d, while it was 95% with *M. anisopliae* and 70% with *N. rileyi*. The treatment with CDE preparation measured as chitinase (2 U/ml) showed only 20% mortality after 14 d. The % mortalities with  $10^5$  conidia/ml were

50, 53.5 and 47.5% with B. bassiana, M. anisopliae and N. rilevi respectively, within 14 d. However, the combination of CDE preparation with conidia of B. bassiana, M. anisopliae and N. rilevi ( $10^5$  /ml) increased the % mortality. Recently, Shternshis (2005) reported that % mortality of *P. sticticalis* doubled when *B. thuringiensis* subsp. sotto was applied in combination with bacterial chitinase preparation. The insecticidal activity of two granulosis viruses (GV of P. sticticalis and Cvdia pomonella) and NPV of M. brassicae was significantly increased by the addition of bacterial chitinase preparation (Duzhak et al, 1991). The addition of a very low amount of exogenous chitinase was reported to reduce the doses of baculovirus. NPV as well as *B. thuringiensis* act on the insect after ingestion. The addition of exogenous chitinase favoured their penetration through chitinous peritrophic membrane in the gut resulting in improvement in biocontrol efficacy. The combination of chitinase preparation and entomopathogenic fungi such as B. bassiana and V. lecanii was tried with the expectation of increase in biocontrol efficacy through improved penetration of the fungus through the insect cuticle. However, a contradictory data was obtained due to inhibition of fungal growth in the presence of chitinase (Shternshis, 2005). The present studies revealed that germination of spores of entomopathogenic fungi namely, M. anisolpliae, B. bassiana and N. rileyi was not affected in the presence of cuticle degrading enzyme complex (measured as chitinase, 2.0 U/ml) of *M. verrucaria* and thus they can be effectively used in combination for the control of *H. armigera*.

# 5.2.3.2 Field trial

The CDE preparation of *M. verrucaria* was used to control *H. armigera* infestation in chickpea under field conditions. The results of the field trial were assessed using three different parameters viz., percent efficacy, percent pod damage

and yield (q/ha) (Fig. 5.6). Percent efficacy of various treatments after two sprays was found to be in the range of 60.1 to 80.38% against *H. armigera*. The treatment with *M. anisopliae* was found to be the most effective for the control of *H. armigera*.

Fig. 5.6 Efficacy, pod damage and yield of different treatments against *H. armigera* infestation on chickpea under field conditions



\* T1: endosulfan, T2: HaNPV, T3: M. anisopliae, T4: M. verrucaria CDE preparation

The percent efficacy of CDE preparation was marginally less (60.1) than the endosulfan and NPV. As compared to the untreated control plot (26.8% pod damage) all the treatments showed % pod damage in the range of 8.54-12.64. Application of CDE preparation resulted in 53% reduction in %pod damage as compared to untreated control. The average yield in untreated control plots was 9.05 q/ha while it increased up to 13.87 q/ha in CDE treated plots. The chickpea yield was in the range of 14.28 – 16.64 q/ha when treated with endosulfan, NPV or *M*.

*anisopliae*. The field trial results showed that the efficacy of CDE treatment for the control of *H. armigera* was at par with that of edosulfan and NPV.

Thus present studies revealed that living propagules (conidia/yeast-like cells) of *M. verrucaria* formulated with different carriers along with chitin may be effectively used for the control of pre-emergence rot in peanut caused by *S. rolfsii*. While the CDE/ME preparation may be used effectively for the control of insect pests like *H. armigera*, *S. litura*, *P. xylostella* and *C. lanigera* singly or in combination with entomopathogenic fungi like *B. bassiana*, *M. anisopliae* and *N. rileyi*. Furthermore, soil application of ME preparation significantly reduced the incidence of pre-emergence rot in peanut.

# 5.2.4 Toxicity studies

Finally, the toxicity of the *M. verrucaria* organism and its enzyme preparation was tested in the laboratory by measuring oxynitrilase activity. Many plants produce cyanogenic glycosides, which may have role in defense against phytopathogens. These cyanoglycosides were oxidized by oxygenases to cyanohydrins, which were further converted to an aldehyde and HCN by oxynitrilases (hydroxynitrile lyases). *M. verrucaria* is known to utilize nitrile compounds with the help of nitrilases (Maier-Greiner *et al*, 1991). In extracts of yeast/hyphal cells and conidia of *M. verrucaria* as well as in CDE/ME preparation, oxynitrilase (mandelonitrile lyase) activity was not detected. This indicated its nontoxic nature, in general too. Appendix 1

**Development of a new method for estimation of** 

<u>chitinase</u>

## A 1 Introduction

In the literature different methods were reported to estimate the chitinase activity. The most sensitive methods used radiolabeled (<sup>3</sup>H-chitin) and fluorogenic (4methyl umbeliferyl labeled) substrates (Patil et al, 2000). However, these methods require specialized instruments and expensive reagents to measure chitinolytic activity. The use of less expensive soluble- and insoluble- chitin substrates linked with different dyes (Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin, Remazol Brilliant Blue labeled chitin) in solid or liquid media as carbon source was reported to allow detection of chitinolytic activity (Bauer et al, 1998; Ramirez et al, 2004). The use of these dye-labeled chitin substrates for quantitative estimation of chitinases was not reported. Routinely, quantitative estimation of total chitinolytic activity is carried out using the acid swollen chitin as a substrate. However, the assay is time consuming as it involves the incubation with colloidal chitin and a colorimetric estimation of N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) released using reducing sugar estimation by Somogyi method or Reissig method (Reissig et al, 1955; Somogyi, 1952). The present work describes a new method employing the colloidal chitin prepared from Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin for the quantitative estimation of total chitinolytic activity.

## A 2 Results and discussion

## A 2.1 Substrate preparation

The o-phosphoric acid treatment was used to prepare swollen substrate from chitin (Sigma) and from Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin. The acid swollen chitin (Sigma) was white and fluffy mass. To obtain similar consistency of swollen coloured chitin, overnight stirring with o-phosphoric acid was needed. The dye labeled GlcNAc was not released under the conditions used for the preparation of colloidal chitin. The non-enzymatic parameters of the enzyme assay such as, acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0), incubation temperature and time (50 °C, 1 h) and termination of reaction by keeping tubes in boiling water bath for 5 min did not release dye labeled GlcNAc and/or only dye from the substrate. The dye labeled chitin was found to be stable at 50 °C up to 3 h at pH ranging from 4.0 to 7.0.The dye binding with the chitinous substrate could either be through weak interactions such as hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions or covalent linkages (Ramirez *et al*, 2004). As there was no significant release of dye from colloidal Red chitin at alkaline pH (8.0) it can be suggested that weak hydrogen bonds were not involved in dye binding.

## A 2.2 Effect of substrate concentration

The effect of different substrate concentrations (3-15 mg/ml) on the release of dye labeled GlcNAc measured at 530 nm and GlcNAc (labeled as well as unlabeled) measured using DMAB was studied with 0.3 U/ml of chitinase activity measured on acid swollen substrate (Sigma). As shown in Table A 1, with 7.0 mg/ml concentration of the substrate the absorbance at 530 nm was 0.066 and the GlcNAc was  $5.0 \pm 0.3$ 

Substrate	Colloidal Red-chitin		
concentration	Absorbance	GlcNAc	
(mg/ml)	(530 nm)	(µM/ml/h)	
3.0	0.033	2.5 <u>+</u> 0.4	
5.0	0.048	3.7 <u>+</u> 0.3	
7.0	0.066	5.0 + 0.3	
10.0	0.069	5.25 <u>+</u> 0.4	
15.0	0.072	5.4 + 0.4	

Table A 1 Effect of the substrate concentrations on the chitinase activity

\* *M. verrucaria* chitinase (0.3 U/ml, estimated using colloidal chitin-Sigma) was used in the experiment.

 $\mu$ M/ml within 1 h. There was no proportionate increase with increase in substrate concentration. Therefore, in subsequent experiments 7.0 mg/ml substrate was used.

# A 2.3 Effect of incubation time

The effect of incubation time (15-120 min) on the release of dye labeled GlcNAc measured at 530 nm and GlcNAc (labeled as well as unlabeled) measured using DMAB was studied. As shown in Table A 2, the absorbance at 530 nm increased from 0.048 to 0.074 when the incubation time was increased from 15-120 min. There

Incubation time Colloidal Red-chitin (min) Absorbance GlcNAc (530 nm)  $(\mu M/ml/h)$ 15 0.048  $3.62 \pm 0.3$ 30 0.051  $3.82 \pm 0.4$ 5.0+0.3 60 0.066 90 0.070 5.32 + 0.30.074 5.59<u>+</u>0.4 120

 Table A 2 Effect of incubation time on dye and N-acetylglucosamine released

 from colloidal Red-chitin

\* *M. verrucaria* chitinase (0.3 U/ml, estimated using colloidal chitin-Sigma) was used in the experiment.

was no appreciable increase in the activity, if the reaction mixture was incubated up to

120 min. Therefore in subsequent experiments 60 min incubation period was used.

## A 2.4 Effect of enzyme concentration

The acid swollen Red-chitin was hydrolysed using M. verrucaria chitinase (0.1-

0.7 U/ml). The absorbance was measured at 530 nm and the GlcNAc was estimated

Fig. A 1 Correlation between absorbance at 530 nm with the *N*-acetylglucosamine produced during chitinase assay



using Reissig *et al* method (1955). Both of methods showed correlation between released GlcNAc (dye labeled and unlabeled) and the increase in enzyme concentration (P < 0.01) (Fig. A 1). With the increase in enzyme concentration (0.1-0.5 U/ml) absorbance at 530 nm increased from 0.022 to 0.11 and concentration of released GlcNAc increased from 1.67 to 8.36  $\mu$ M/ml within 1 h. With further increase in enzyme concentration proportional release in dye as well as GlcNAc was not observed. This may be attributed to the non-uniformity in the labeling of the substarte. Lower GlcNAc release from colloidal Red-chitin as compared to colloidal chitin (Sigma) may be attributed to the nature of the substarte and /or less accessibility to the enzyme as compared to the colloidal chitin (Sigma).

## A 2.5 Thin layer chromatography

The Rf value for GlcNAc and for mixed spot of GlcNAc from colloidal chitin (Sigma) and colloidal Red chitin was 0.66. The Rf value for GlcNAc released from colloidal chitin (Sigma) in the reaction mixture was marginally higher 0.68. While

Fig. A 2 Thin layer chromatogram showing *N*-acetylglucosamine released from labeled and unlabeled chitin substrates



\* I: standard GlcNAc, II: GlcNAc released from colloidal chitin (Sigma), III: mixture of GlcNAc released from colloidal -chitin (Sigma) and -Red chitin, IV: GlcNAc released from colloidal Red chitin.  $\rightarrow$ , indicates solvent front.

lower Rf value (0.63) was observed for GlcNAc released from colloidal Red chitin (Fig. A 2). These results were found significant (P< 0.05). The difference in the Rf values of GlcNAc and colored GlcNAc also confirm the non-uniformity in the labeling (Fig. A 2). The thin layer chromatography was not sensitive to detect chitooligosaccharides (Rajamohanan *et al*, 1996).

## A 2.6 Definition of unit

The absorbance 0.05 at 530 nm was considered as 1U, which was equivalent to  $3.8 \ \mu$ M/ml GlcNAc produced in 1 h.

# A 2.7 Validation and specificity of the assay

*Beauveria bassiana* and *Bacillus subtilis* were grown in chitin medium under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C for 4 d. For validation, chitinase activity in cell free broths of *B. bassiana* and *B. subtilis* and of commercially available amylase and cellulase preparations were estimated using colloidal chitin (Sigma) and colloidal Redchitin (Table A 3). There was no release of coloured GlcNAc due to amylase and cellulase activities under the experimental conditions.

Enzymes	Chitinase <sup>1</sup>	Chitinase <sup>2</sup>
	(U/ml)	(U/ml)
Chitinase (M. verrucaria)	1.8±0.2	7.8±0.85
Chitinase (Beauveria bassiana)	$0.008 \pm 0.001$	$0.034 \pm 0.004$
Chitinase (Bacillus subtilis)	$0.006 \pm 0.001$	$0.026 \pm 0.004$
Cellulase	ND	ND
Amylase	ND	ND

Table A 3 Effect of different enzymes on colloidal Red-chitin

\*Chitinase<sup>1</sup>: Activity was estimated using colloidal chitin (Sigma). \*Chitinase<sup>2</sup>: Activity was estimated using colloidal Red-chitin. \*ND: Not detected.

The assay can be adapted to the 96 well plate method, which can be used to measure chitinolytic activity in large number of samples. The test variability did not increase significantly by the use of reduced volumes (SD  $\leq$  5%). To avoid the interference due to insoluble coloured substrate, in reading the intensity of dye released, filtration based assay using multiscreen solubility plate may be developed.

In conclusion, the use of colloidal chitin prepared from Ostazin Brilliant Red

labeled chitin allowed the development of a new specific and sensitive method for the quantitative estimation of chitinases. The method is suitable for the screening of chitinolytic organisms.

Chapter 6

**Conclusion** 

A variety of cereals, oil seeds, pulses, vegetables and horticultural crops are cultivated in India. The food grain production in the country has substantially increased since the Green Revolution of 1980s. However, in recent years agricultural production suffered 15-50% losses in yields due to soil borne fungal pathogens such as *S. rolfsii*, *F. oxysporum*, *R. solanii* and insect pests like *H. armigera*, *S. litura*, *P. xylostella*, *C. lanigera* and others. The chemical fungicides and insecticides currently being used for the control of fungi and insect pests face the problems of resistance development. Moreover their use is not ecofriendly, they cause destruction of natural enemies and affect non-target population through bio-magnification in the environment. Thus, for the sustainable agriculture, there is a need to use novel biological approaches for the control of fungal pathogens and insect pests.

Chitin is the unique structural polymer, which is present in the protective coverings of both fungi and insects while absent in vascular plants and mammals. The glucans and proteins are other structural components in fungal cell wall while insect cuticle contains proteins and lipids. Mycoparasitic fungi like *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladium* are known to degrade fungal cell wall using mycolytic enzyme complex, ME comprising of chitinase, glucanase and protease. While entomopathogenic fungi secrete cuticle degrading enzyme complex, CDE (chitinase, protease and lipase) for the penetration into insect host. The, major interest in the present studies was to understand whether a fungus secreting high amounts of CDE/ME can be used to develop a biocontrol formulation with dual action, against fugal pathogens and insect pests.

*M. verrucaria*, a saprophytic fungus known to produce high amounts of CDE/ME activities was selected for the present studies. Attempts were made to develop mycopesticide comprising of living propagules and/or CDE/ME components of *M. verrucaria* to control fungal pathogens and insect pests.

During present studies, unicellular growth of *M. verrucaria* was observed for the first time in a synthetic medium containing sucrose and ammonium sulphate (Chapter 3). The medium pH was found to be the important morphological trigger favouring H-Y reversible transition. The conditions were optimized for the production of yeast-like cells that can be used for slow release of mycolytic enzymes for the control of plant pathogenic fungi. Under the optimized conditions (sucrose, 2%; ammonium sulphate, 0.46%; initial pH, 4.0) for the production of yeast-like cells: with conidia or yeast (5%) as inoculum, maximum yeast biomass ( $4.6 \pm 0.4$  g/l wet wt) was obtained under shaking conditions (200 rpm) at 28°C within 72 h (Chapter 4A).

Attempts were also made to optimize conditions for the production of *M*. *verrucaria* conidia using solid state fermentation. Under the optimized conditions, sorghum grains as solid substrate, initial moisture content adjusted using 25 ml distilled water per 50 g substrate, 10% mycelial inoculum and incubation temperature 28°C, highest yield of conidia ( $2x10^9$  conidia/g of substrate) was obtained (Chapter 4A).

The production of cuticle degrading/mycolytic enzymes of *M. verrucaria* was studied in shake flask as well as in 15 l capacity stirred tank fermenter. Under shake flask conditions chitinase production was significantly enhanced with chitin as a sole source of carbon. The production of chitinase in stirred tank fermenter was significantly affected by agitation and aeration. The agitation rate 300 rpm and aeration rate 0.5 vvm were found to be optimum for the chitinase production. Under optimized conditions, chitinase (1.32 U/ml),  $\beta$ -1,3 glucanase (0.13 U/ml), protease (0.011U/ml) and lipase (0.945 U/ml) were produced in a fermenter within 5 d. The enzyme productivities at fermenter level were comparable to those in shake flask conditions. However, to improve the chitinase production in the fermenter, the studies on effect of controlled pH and effect of morphology (pelleted/dispersed) may prove helpful (Chapter 4 B).

The conidia and yeast-like cells were formulated with different carriers for use in soil application to control soil-borne fungal pathogens (Chapter 5). *M. verrucaria* conidia retained >80% and >50% viability after 6 and 18 months storage at room temperature respectively when stored with rice bran alone or supplemented with chitin as carrier. The yeast-like cells were immobilized in alginate matrix with and without chitin. The storage at room temperature significantly affected the viability of immobilized yeast-like cells. The yeast-like cells retained >80% viability after 2 months storage at room temperature. The supplementation of chitin with carriers help in inducing chitinase production after soil application, however it did not significantly enhance the shelf-life of conidia with rice bran or immobilized yeast-like cells. For the use of CDE/ME enzyme preparation to control fungal pathogens or insect pests, the major constraint was its volume, which was affecting storage and transportation. Using combination of ultrafiltration and freeze drying, 10 l enzyme preparation was concentrated to powder form (32 g) which retained >70% of the initial chitinase activity.

The bio-efficacy of different formulations were carried out to control rot of peanut caused by *S. rolfsii*, under green house conditions. Rice-bran +chitin formulation of conidia and yeast-like cells immobilized with chitin significantly reduce the incidence of pre-emergence rot in peanut. The biocontrol efficacy of these propagules was correlated with the slow release of chitinolytic enzymes in soil. Significant increase in % peanut seed germination in *S. rolfsii* infested soil was observed when mycolytic enzyme preparation (10-20 U chtinase / pot) was applied to soil at weekly interval.

CDE preparation was found effective against the insect pests *H. armigera*, *S. litura*, *P. xylostella* and *C. lanigera* under bioassay conditions. The insect mortality was observed within 72 h. The bioassay results suggest that CDE preparation, (Chitinase 2 U/ml) in combination with entomopathogenic fungi may be used to increase %
mortality, decrease in the killing time due to hydrolysis of cuticle to facilitate penetration process and the decrease in the load of conidia sprayed in the field. The efficacy of the CDE preparation (chitinase 6 U/ml) to control *H. armigera* in chickpea under field conditions was at par with the coventional chemical (Endosulfan) and biological (HaNPV) treatments. Lastly, the toxicity studies revealed that application of living propagules or CDE/ME preparation may be considered safe as in these preparations oxynitrlase (mandelonitrile lyase) activity (producing HCN from cyanoglycosides) was not detected.

For the screening of chitinolytic organisms a rapid and sensitive method based on the use of Ostazin red labeled colloidal chitin as substrate for the quantitative estimation of chitinase was developed (Appendix 1).

In conclusion, *M. verrucaria*, organism itself and extracellular hydrolytic enzymes can be effectively used to control plant pathogenic fungi as well as insect pests. The use of enzyme mixture in combination with an insect pathogenic fungus will be useful in an integrated approach to control insect pests. *M. verrucaria* is being considered as a scheduled organism by Central Insecticide Board. This will indeed facilitate the use of organism itself and/or extracellular hydrolytic enzymes for the control of plant pathogenic fungi and insects. Of course, the increased shelf-life and cost effective production of the enzyme mixture are the major concerns. Chapter 7

**References** 

Abott W.S. (1925) J. Econ. Entmol. 18: 265-268.

Adams D.J., Causier B.E., Mellor K.J., Keer V., Milling R. and Dada J. (1993) In: *Chitin Enzymology*, R.A.A. Muzzarelli (ed.), pp: 15-25, European Chitin Society, Ancona.

Ait-Lahsen H., Soler A., Rey M., De La Cruz J., Monte E. and Llobell A. (2001) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **67**: 5833-5839.

Alexander K.C. and Vishwanathan R. (1996) 67: 19-23.

Altre J.A., Vandenberg J.D. and Cantone F.A. (1999) J. Invertbr. Pathol. 73: 332-338.

Amin A., Joshi M. and Deshpande M.V. (2004) Ant. van Leeuwenhoek 85: 327-334.

Amiri-Besheli B., Khambay B., Cameron S., Deadman M.I. and Butt T.M. (2000) *Mycol. Res.***104**: 447-452.

Anderson S.O. (2002) Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 32: 1077-1087.

Anderson, J.G. (1978) In: *Fungal Dimorphism with emphasis on fungi pathogenic for humans*, Smith J.E. and Berry D.R. (eds.), pp: 358-375, Arnold, London.

Andrews J.H., Harris R.F., Spear R.N., Lau G.W. and Nordheim E.V. (1993) *Can. J. Microbiol.* **40**: 6-17.

Anitha R. and Murugesan K. (2005) J. Basic Microbiol. 45: 12-19.

Antal Zs., Manczinger, L., Szakacs Gy., Tengerdy R.P. and Ferenczy L. (2000) *Mycol. Res.* **104**: 545-549.

Assante G., Maffi D., Saracchi M., Farina G., Moricca S. and Ragazzi A. (2004) *Mycol. Res.***108**: 170-182.

Babujee, L. and Gananamanickam, S.S. (2000) Curr. Sci. 78: 248-257.

Baek J.M., Howell C.R. and Kelerny C.M. (1999) Curr. Genet. 35: 41-50.

Bailey B.A. and Lumsden R.D. (1998) In: *Trichoderma and Gliocladium: Enzymes, Biological Control and Commercial Applications*, pp. 185-204, Harman G.E. and Kubicek C.P. (eds.), Taylor & Francis, Bristol, PA.

Baptiwale H. (2004) In: *Proceedings of The international workshop on entomopathogenic fungi a valuable alternative to fight against insect pests*, pp. 185-206, Deshpande, M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Barathova H., Betina V. and Ulicky L. (1977) Folia Microbiol. 22: 222-231.

Barnet, H.L. and Hunter B.B. (1987) In: *Illustrated Genera of Imperfect Fungi*, 4<sup>th</sup> ed., MacMillan Publishing company, New York.

Bartnicki-Garcia S. and Nickerson W.J. (1962) J. Bacteriol. 84: 829-840.

Basha S. and Ulganathan K. (2002) Curr. Sci. 82: 1457-1463.

Batta Y.A. (2004) Crop Prot. 23: 103-108.

Bauer M., Libantova J., Moravcikova J. and Bekesiova E. (1998) *Biologia, Bratislava* **53**: 749-758.

Baum J.A., Johnson T.B. and Carlton B.C. (1999) In: *Biopesticides, use and* delivery, pp 189-210, Hall F.R. and Menn J.J. (eds), Humana Press, NJ, USA.

Beffa R. (2004) Pflanzenschutz-Nachrichten Bayer 57: 46-61.

Belanger R.R., Labbe C. and Jarvis W.R. (1994) Plant Dis. 78: 420-424.

Benhamou N., Rey P., Picard K. and Tirilly Y. (1999) *Phytopathology* 89: 506-517.

Bernfeld, P. (1951) In: *Advances in Enzymology*, vol. XII, Nord, F.F. (ed.), pp. 379-428, Interscience Publishers, New York.

Bidochka M.J., Kamp A.M., Lavender T.M., Dekoning J. and Amritha de Croos J.N. (2001) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **67**:1335-1342.

Binod P., Pusztahelyi T., Nagy V., Sandhya C., Szakacs G., Pocsi I. and Pandey A. (2005) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **36**: 880- 887.

Blum H., Beier H. and Gross H.J. (1987) Electrophoresis 8: 93-99.

Bosch A. and Yantorno O. (1999) Proc. Biochem. 34: 707-716.

Brimmer T.A. and Boland G.J. (2003) Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 100: 3-16.

Brown A.J.P. and Gow N.A.R. (1999) Trends Microbiol. 7: 333-338.

Buck K.W. (1998) Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London B 318-1189.

Burdon K.L. (1946) J. Bacteriol. 52: 665-678.

Butt T.M. and Copping L.G. (2000) Pesticide Outlook - October 2000 pp. 186-191.

Butt T.M., Jackson C.W. and Magan N. (2000) In: *Fungi as biocontrol agents: progress, problems and potential*, pp. 1-8, Butt T.M., Jackson C.W. and Magan N. (eds.), CABI Publishing.

Calvet C., Pera J. and Barea J.M. (1989) Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 29: 59-65.

Campbell W.P. (1956) Can. J. Bot. 34: 163-166.

Carrutheres, R.S. and Onsager, J.A. (1993) Environl. Entomol. 22: 885-903.

Carsolio C., Benhamou N., Haran S., Cortes C., Gutierrez A., Chet I. and Herrera-Estrella A. (1999) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **65**: 929-935.

Charnley A.K. (1989) In: *Biotechnology of fungi for improving plant growth*, pp: 85-117, Whipps J.A. and Lumden R.D. (eds.), Cambridge University Press, UK.

Chavan S., Kulkarni M. and Deshpande M.V. (2006) *Annu. Rev. Pl. Pathol.* **4**: (In press).

Cheeke P.R. (1995) J. Anim. Sci. 73: 909-918.

Chen Y.C., Eisner J.D., Kattar M.M., Rassonlian-Barret S.L., LaFe K., Yarfitz S.L., Limaye A.P. and Cookson B.T. (2000) *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 38: 2302-2310.

Claydon N., Allan M., Hanson J.R. and Avent A.G. (1987) *Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc.* 88: 503-573.

Cole G.T., Seshan K.R., Phaneuf M. and Lynn K.T. (1991) Can. J. Microbiol. 37: 37-646.

Cook R.J. (1988) Am. J. Alter. Agric. 3:51-62.

Cook R.J., Bruckart W.L., Coulson J.R., Goettel M.S., Humber R.A, Lumsden R.D., Maddox J.V., McManus M.L., Moore L., Meyer S.F., Quimby P.C., Stack J.P. and Vaughn J.L. (1996) *Biol. Control* 7: 333-351.

dal Soglio F.K., Bertagnolli B.L., Sinclair J.B., Yu G.Y. and Eastburn (1998) *Biol. Control* **12**: 111-117.

Dalla Santa H.S., Sousa N.J., Brand D., Dalla Santa O.R., Pandey A., Sobotha M., Paca J. and Soccol C.R. (2004) *Folia Microbiol.* **49**: 418-422.

Dana M.D., Limon M.C., Mejias R., Benitez T., Pintor-Toro J.A. and Kubicek C.P. (2001) *Curr. Genet.* 38: 335-342.

Davis B.J. (1964) *Ann. Y.Acad.Sci.* **121** : 404-427. de Azevedo M.C., De Marco J.L., Felix C.R. (2000) *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **188**: 171-175.

DE la Cruz J., Pintor-Toro J.A., Benitez T., Llobell A. and Romero L.C. (1995) *J. Bacteriol.* **107**: 168-175.

de Nobel H., van den Ende H. and Kils F.M. (2000) Trends Microbiol. 8: 344-345.

De Waard M.A., Georgopoulos S.G., Hollomon D.W., Ishii H., Leroux P., Ragsdale N.N. and Schwinn (1993) *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **31**: 403-421.

Deane E.E., Whipps J.M., Lynch J. M. and Peberdy J.F. (1999) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **24**: 419-424.

Delgado-Jarana J., Rey M., Pintor-Toro J.A., Llobell A. and Benitez T. (1996) *Fungal Genetics Newsletter* 43: B Supplement 82-85.

Dennehy T.J. and Williams L. III (1997) Pesticide Sci. 51: 398-406.

Deshpande M.V. (1992) World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 8: 242-250.

Deshpande M.V. (1998a) In : *Microbes : For Health, Wealth and Sustainable Environment* pp. 241-252, Verma A. (ed.), Malhotra Publishing House, New Delhi.

Deshpande M.V. (1998b) Novel Biopesticides. CSIR Golden Jubilee Series, CSIR, New Delhi.

Deshpande M.V. (1999) Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 25: 229-243.

Deshpande M.V. (2005) In: Proceedings of ICAR-CABI Workshop on biopesticide formulations and application, pp. 150-158, Rabindra R.J., Hussaini S.S. and Ramanujam B. (eds.), PDBC Bangalore, India.

Deshpande M.V. and Tuor U. (2002) In: *Proceedings of the III Asia Pacific Crop Protection Conference*, Suchak's Consultancy Services (ed.), pp. 56-59, New Delhi, India.

Deshwal V.K., Dubey R.C. and Maheshwari D.K. (2003) Curr. Sci. 84: 443-448.

Dethe M.D. (2001) In: *Proceedings of the III Asia Pacific Crop Protection Conference*, Suchak's Consultancy Services (ed.), pp. 107-110, New Delhi, India.

Diekman M.A. and Green M.L. (1992) J. Anim. Sci. 70: 1615-1627.

Domsch K.H., Gams W. And Anderson T.-H. (1980) In: *Compendium Of Soil Fungi*, Vol. 1, pp. 485-487, Academic Press.

Donzelli B.G.G., Ostroff G. and Harman G.E. (2003) Carbohydr. Res. 338: 1823-1833.

Donzelli B.G.G., Siebert K.J. and Harman G.E. (2005) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **37**: 82-92.

Dorta B., Bosch A., Arcas J.A. and Ertola R.J. (1990) *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **33**: 712-715.

Dubios E. and Grenson H. (1979) Mol. Gen. Genet. 175: 67-76.

Dunne C., Delany I., Fenton A., Lohrke S., Moenne-Loccoz Y. and O' Gava F. (1996) In: *Biology of Plant-Microbe Interactions* Stacey G., Mullin B. and Gresshoff P.M. (eds), IS-MPMI, St. Paul, Minn.

Duzhak A.B., Salganik R.I., Shternshis M.V., Ermakova N.I., Tsvetkova V.P., Andreeva I.V. and Kushnikova T.A. (1991) *Siberian J. Ecol.* **5**: 457-461.

Elad Y. (2000) Crop Prot. 19: 709-714.

Elad Y., Chet I., Boyle P. and Henis Y. (1983) Phytopathology 73: 85-88.

El-Katatny M.H., Hetta A.M., Shaban G.M. and El-Komy H.M. (2003) *Food Technol. Biotechnol.* **41**: 219-225.

El-Sayed G.N., Coudron T.A. and Ignofo C.M. (1989) *J. Invertebr. Pathol.* 54: 394-403.

Eyal J., Baker C.P., Reeder J.D., Devane W.E. and Lumsden R.D. (1997) *J. Ind. Microb. Biotechnol.* **19**: 163-168.

Fadare T.A. and Amusa N.A. (2003) African Journal of Biotechnology 2: 425-428.

Falk S.P., Gadoury D.M., Pearson R.C. and Seem R.C. (1995) Plant Dis. 79: 483-490.

Fang W., Leng B. Xiao Y., Jin K., Ma J., fan Y., Feng J., Yang X., Zhang Y. and Pei Y. (2005) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **71**: 363-370.

Fargues J., Ouedraogo A., Goettel M.S. and Lomer C.J. (1997) *Biocontrol Sci. Technol.* 7: 345-352.

Fargues J., Smits N., Vidal C., Vey A., Vega F., Mercadier G. and Quimby P. (2002) *Mycopathologia* **154**: 127-38.

Felse P. and Panda T. (2000) Biochem. Eng. J. 4: 115-120.

Felse P.A. and Panda T. (1999) Proc. Biochem. 34: 563-566.

Feng K.-C., Rou T.-M., Liu B.L., Tzeng Y.-M. and Chang Y.-N. (2004) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **34**: 22-25.

Fenice M., Leuba J-L. and Fedrici F. (1998) J. Ferment. Bioeng. 86: 620-623.

Ferguson A.R. and Sims A.P. (1974) J. Gen. Microbiol. 80: 173-185.

Ferron P. (1981) In: *Microbial Control of Pests and Diseases* pp. 465-482, Burges H.D. (ed.), Academic Press, London.

Flores A., Chet I. and Herrera-Estrella A. (1997) Curr. Genet. 31: 30-37.

Fravel D.R., Lewis J.A. and Chittams J.L. (1995) Phytopathology 85: 165-168.

Gagiano M., Bauer F.F. and Pretorius I.S. (2002) FEMS Yeast Res. 2: 433-470.

Ganassi S., Moretti A., Stornelli C., Fratello B., Pagliai A.M., Logrieco A. and Sabatini A. (2001) *Mycopathologia* **151**: 131-138.

Gerlagh M., Goossen-van de Geijn H.M., Fokkema N.J. and Vereijken P.F.G. (1999) *Phytopathology* **89**: 141-147.

Ghormade V., Joshi C. and Deshpande M.V. (2005b) J. Mycol. Pl. Pathol. 35: 442-450.

Ghormade V., Lachke S.A. and Deshpande M.V. (2000) Folia Microbiol. 45: 231-238.

Ghormade V., Sainkar S., Joshi C., Doiphode N. and Deshpande M.V. (2005a) *J. Mycol. Pl. Pathol.* **35**: 1-11.

Ghormade V.S. and Deshpande M.V. (2000) Naturwissennschaften 87: 236-240.

Gibbs P.A., Seviour R.J. and Schmid F. (2000) Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 20:17-48.

Goettel M.S and Inglis G.D. (1996) In: *Mannual of techniques in insect pathology*, pp. 213-249. Sandiego, USA: Academic Press, USA.

Goldman M.H.S. and Goldman G.H. (1998) Genet. Mol. Biol. 21:ISSN 1415-1457.

Goldsmith J., Livoni J.P., Norberg C.L. and Segel I.H. (1973) 52: 362-367.

Good T.A. and Bessman S.P. (1964) Anal. Biochem. 9: 253-262.

Gooday G.W. (1995) In: *The growing fungus*, pp.43-62, Gow N.A.R. and Gadd G.M. (eds.), Chapmann & Hall, London.

Govindsamy V., Gunratna K. R. and Balsubramanian R. (1998) *Can. J. Plant. Pathol.* **20**: 62-68.

Graeme-Cook K.A. and Faull J.L. (1991) Can J. Microbiol. 37: 659-664.

Green A.T., Healy M.G. and Healy A. (2005) J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 80: 28-34.

Grover A. and Pental D. (2003) Curr. Sci. 84: 310-320.

Gullino M.L., Leroux P. and Smith C.M. (2000) Crop Prot. 19: 1-11.

Guo J.H., Qi H.Y., Guo Y.H., Ge H.L., Gong L.Y., Zhang L.X. and Sun P.S. (2004) *Biol. Control* **29**: 66-72.

Gupta A.K., Kohli Y. and Summerbell R.C. (2000) J. Clin. Microbiol. 38: 1869-1875.

Gupta C.P., Dubey R.C., Kang S.C. and Maheshwari D.K. (2001) Curr. Sci. 81: 91-94.

Gupta P.K. (2004) Toxicology 198: 83-90.

Hajek A.E. and St. Leger R.J. (1994) Annu. Rev. Entomol. 39: 293-322.

Hall M.J. and Kolankaya N. (1974) J. Gen. Microbiol. 82: 25-34.

Handelsman J. and Stabb E.V. (1996) *Plant Cell* 8: 1855-1869.

Haran S., Schickler H., Oppenheim A. and Chet I. (1996) Phytopathology 86: 980-985.

Harman G.E. (2006) Phytopathology 96: 190-194.

Harman G.E. (2000) Plant Dis. 84: 377-393.

Harman G.E. and Bjorkman T. (1998) In: *Trichoderma and Gliocladium: Enzymes, Biological Control and Commercial Applications*, pp. 131-151, Harman G.E. and Kubicek C.P. (eds.), Taylor & Francis, Bristol, PA.

Harman G.E., Hayes C.K., Lorito M., Broadway R.M., Di Pietro A., Peterbauer C. and Tronsmo A. (1993) *Phytopathology* **83**: 313-318.

Hassani, M. (2000) Development and proving of biocontrol methods based on *Bacillus thuringiensis* and entomopathogenic fungi against the cotton pests *Spodoptera littoralis*, *Helicoverpa armigera* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and *Aphis gossypii* (Homoptera: Aphididae). A Ph. D. thesis submitted to Justus-Liebig-University, Giessen, Germany.

Hebbar K.P., Lumsden R.D., Poch S.M. and Lewis J.A. (1997) *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **48**: 714-719.

Hegedus D.D., Bidochka M.J. and Khachatourians G.G. (1990) *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **33**:641-647.

Henderson C.F. and Tilton E. W. (1955) J. Econ. Entomol. 48: 158-161.

Horaczek A. and Viernstein H. (2004) Biol. Control 31: 65-71.

Horak J. (1997) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1331: 41-79.

Horowitz A.R. and Ishaaya I. (1992) J. Econ. Entomol. 85: 318-324.

Horsch M., Mayer C., Sennhauser U. and Rast D.M. (1997) *Pharmacol. Ther.* **76**: 187-218.

Howard R.J. and Valent B. (1996) Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 50: 491-512.

Howell C.R. (2003) Plant Dis. 87: 4-10.

Howell C.R., Stipanovic R.D. and Lumsden R.D. (1993) *Biocontrol Sci. Technol.* 3: 435-440.

Howitt R.L.J., Beever R.E., Pearson M.N. and Forster R.L.S. (1995) *Mycol. Res.* **99**:1472-1478.

Hua L. and Feng M. (2003) FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 227: 311-317.

Huang H.C., Bremer E., Hynes R.K. and Erickson R.S. (2000) *Biol. Control* 18: 270-276.

Ignoffo C.M., Putter B., Martson N.L., Hostetter D.L. and Dickerson C. (1975) *J. Invertbr. Pathol.* **25**:135-137.

Inbar J., Menendez A. and Chet I. (1996) Soil Biol. Chem. 28: 757-763.

Inglis G.D., Goettel M.S., Butt T.M. and Strasser H. (2000) In: *Fungi as Biocontrol Agents: Progress, Problems and Potential*, pp.22-68, Butt T.M., Jackson C.W. and Magan N. (eds.), CABI Publishing.

Inglis G.D. and Kawchuk L.M. (2002) Can. J. Microbiol. 48: 60-70.

Inyang E.N., Mc Cartney H.A., Oyejola B., Ibrahim L., Pye B., Archer S.A. and Butt T.M. (2000) *Mycol. Res.* 104: 35-41.

Issaly N., Chauveau H., Aglevor F., Fargues J. and Durand A. (2005) *Proc. Biochem.* **40**: 1425-1431.

Jackson C.W., Heale J.B. and Hall R.A. (1985) Ann. Appl. Biol. 106: 39-48.

Jackson M.A., Mcguire M.R., Lacey L.A. and Wraight S.P. (1997) *Mycol. Res.* 101: 35-41.

Jackson M.A., Whipps J.M. and Lynch J. M. (1991) *Enzyme Microb. Technol*.13:636-642.

Jadubansa P., Lethbridge G. and Bushell M.E. (1994) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* 16: 24-28.

Jassim H.K., Foster H.A. and Fairhurst C.P. (1990) Ann. Appl. Biol. 117:187-196.

Jenkins N.E. and Goettel M.A. (1997) *Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada* **171**: 37-48.

Jenkins N.E., Heviefo G., Langewald J., Cherry A.J. and Lomer C.J. (1998) *Biocontrol / News and Information* **19**:21N-31N.

Jones E.E., Weber F.J., Oostra J., Rinzema A., Mead A. and Whipps J.M. (2004) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **34**: 196-207.

Joshi S. and Viraktamath C.A. (2004) Curr. Sci. 87: 307-316.

Jsten P., Paul G.C., Nienow A.W. and Thomas C.R. (1996) *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **52**: 672-684.

Kang S.W., Lee S.H., Yoon C.S. and Kim S.W. (2005) Biotechnol. Lett. 27: 135-139.

Kapoor M. and Grover A.K. (1970) Can. J. Microbiol. 16: 33-40.

Kassa A., Stephan D., Vidal S. and Zimmermann G. (2004) Mycol. Res. 108:93-100.

Keller S. (2004) In: *Proceedings of The international workshop on entomopathogenic fungi a valuable alternative to fight against insect pests*, pp. 185-206, Deshpande, M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Khale A., Srinivasan M.C. and Deshpande M.V. (1992) J. Bacteriol. 174: 3723-3728.

Khale A., Sriniwasan M.C., Deshmukh S.S. and Deshpande M.V. (1990) Ant. van Leeuwenhoek 57: 37-41.

Khale-Kumar A. and Deshpande M.V. (1993) J. Bacteriol. 175: 6052-6055.

Krammer K.J. and Muthukrishanan S. (1997) Insect Biochem. Mole. Biol. 27: 887-900.

Krauss U., Martinez A., Hidalgo E., ten Hoopen M. and Arroyo C. (2002) *Mycol.Res.* **106**: 1449-1454.

Krauss U. and Soberanis W. (2001) Biol. Control 22: 149-148.

Krauss U., Bidwell R. and Ince J. (1998) Biol. Control 13: 111-119.

Krieger de Moraes C., Schrank, A. and Vainstein, M.H. (2003) *Curr. Microbiol.* **46**: 205-210.

Kullnig C., Mach R.L., Lorito M. and Kubicek C.P. (2000) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **66**: 2232-2234.

Kumar A. (2005) Spice India 18: 28-31.

Kopecek P. and Raclavsky V. (1999) Folia. Microbiol. 44: 397-400.

Kuranda M.J. and Robbins P.W. (1991) J. Biol. Chem. 266: 19758-19767.

Kuroki G.W. and Conn E.E. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86: 6978-6981.

Lacey L.A., Frutos R., Kaya H.K. and Vail P. (2001) Biol. Control 21: 230-248.

Larena I., De Cal A. and Melgarejo P. (2004) Int. J. Food Microbiol. 94: 161-167.

Latge J.P. and Soper R.S. (1977) Biotech. Bioeng. XIX: 1269-1274.

Latorre B.A., Agosin E., San Martin R. and Vasquez G.S. (1997) Crop Prot. 16: 209-214.

Laycock M.V., Thurman D.A. and Boulter D. (1964) Clin. Chim. Acta 11: 98-100.

Leija A., Ruiz-Herrera J. and Mora J. (1986) J. Bacteriol. 168: 843

Leroux P. (1996) Pestic. Sci. 47: 191-197.

Leroux P. (2003) C. R. Biol. 326: 9-27.

Lewis J.A. and Papavizas G.C. (1987) Plant Pathol. 36: 438-446.

Li G Q., Huang H.C., Kookko E.G. and Acharya S.N. (2002) *Bot. Bull. Acad. Sin.* **43**: 11-218.

Lima L.H.C., DE Marco J.L., Uloha C.J. and Felix C.R. (1999) *Folia. Microbiol.* 44: 45-49.

Limon C.M., Llobel A., Pintor-Toro J.A. and Benitez T. (1996) In: *Chitin Enzymology*, Vol. 2, Muzzarelli R.A.A. (ed.), pp. 245-251, Atec Edizioni, Italy.

Limon M.C., Pintor-Toro J.A. and benitez T. (1999) Phytopathology 89: 254-261.

Liu B.L., Chen J. W. and Tzeng Y.M. (2000) Biotechnol. Prog. 16: 993-999.

Liu B.-L., Kao P.-M., Tzeng Y.-M. and Feng K.- C. (2003) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **33**: 410-415.

Loganathan M., Sundara Babu P.C. and Balsubramanian G. (2000) Ind. J. Ent. 62: 53-59.

Lorito M., Farkas V., Rebuffat S., Bodo B. and Kucibek C.P. (1996) *J. Bacteriol.* **178**: 6382-6385.

Lott T.J., Burns B.M., Zancope-Oliveira R., Elie C.M. and Reiss E. (1998) *Curr. Microbiol.* **36**: 63-69.

Lowry O.H., Rosebrough N.J., Farr A.L. and Randall R.J. (1951) *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**: 265-275.

Lu Z., Tombolini R., Woo S., Zeilinger S., Lorito M. and Jansson J.K. (2004) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **70**: 3073-3080.

Madi L., Katan T., Katan J. and Henis Y. (1997) Phytopathology 87: 1054-1060.

Maier-Greiner U.H., Obermaier-Skrobranek B.M.M., Ester-maier L.M., Kammerloher W., Freund C., Wulfing C., Burkert U.I., Matern D.H., Breuer M., Eulitz M., Kufrevioglu, O.I. and Hartmann G.R. (1991) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **88**: 4260-4266.

Mallikarjuna N., Kranthi K.R., Jadhav D.R., Kranthi S. and Chandra S. (2004) *J. Appl. Entomol.* **128**: 321-328.

Maresca B. and Kobayashi G.S. (1989) Microbiol. Rev. 54: 186-209.

Markovich N.A. and Kononova G.L. (2003) Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 39: 341-351.

Martinez-Espinoza A.D., Ruiz-Herrera J., Leon-Ramirez C.G. and Gold S.E. (2004) *Curr. Microbiol.* **49**: 274-281.

Mathivanan N., Kabilan V. and Murugesan K. (1997) Ind. J. Exp. Biol. 35

Matsumoto Y., Saucedo-Castaneda G., Revah S. and Shirai K. (2004) *Proc. Biochem.* **39**: 665-671.

McCabe P.M., Pfeiffer P. and Van Alfen N.K. (1999) Trends Microbiol. 7: 377-381.

McCoy C.W. (1990) Entomogenous fungi as microbial pesticides. In: *New Directions in Biological Control*, pp. 139-159, Baker R.R. and Dunn P.E. (eds.), Alan R. Liss, New York.

McQuilken M.P., Whipps J.M. and Cooke R.C. (1990) Plant Pathol. 39: 452-462.

Mejia-Saules J.E., Waliszewski K.N., Garcia M.A. and Cruz-Camarillo R. (2006) *Food Technol. Biotechnol.* **44**: 95-100.

Mendosa E.S., Vartak P. H., Rao J. U. and Deshpande M. V. (1996) *Biotech. Lett.* 18: 373-376.

Migheli Q., Gonzalez-Candelas L., Dealessi L., Camponigara A. and ramon-Vidal D. (1998) *Phytopathology* 88: 673-677.

Milner R. J. (2004) In: Proceedings of International Workshop on entomopathogenic fungi: a valuable alternative to fight against insect pests, pp. 3-15, Deshpande, M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Milner R.J. (1994) Agric. Ecosys. Environ. 49: 9-13.

Mitchell J.I., Roberts P.J. and Moss S.T. (1995) Mycologist 9: 67-75.

Morissette D.C., Driscoll B.T. and Jabaji-Hare S. (2003) Fungal Genet. Biol. 39: 276-285.

Morton A.G. and Macmillan A. (1954) J. Exp. Bot. 5: 232-252.

Mostafa, M.M. (1993) *Cryptogamie Mycologie* 14: 287-295 (From CAB Abstracts, Vol.6, Brunet, J.A. ed., 1995)

Nagrajkumar M., Bhaskaran R. and Velazhahan R. (2004) Microbiol. Res. 159: 73-81.

Nahar P., Ghormade V. and Deshpande M.V. (2004) J. Invertbr. Pathol. 85: 80-88.

Nahar, P., Kulye, M., Yadav, P., Hassani, M., Tuor, U., Keller, S. and Deshpande, M.V. (2003) *J. Mycol. Pl. Pathol.* **33**: 372-377.

Nampoothiri K.M., Baiju T.V., Sandhya C., Sabu A., Szakacs G. and Pandey A. (2004) *Proc. Biochem.* **39**: 1583-1590.

Naseby D.C., Pascual J.A. and Lynch J.M. (2000) J. Appl. Microbiol. 88: 161-169.

Nava I., Gaime-Perraud I., Huerta-Ochoa S., Favela-Torres E. and Saucedo-Castaneda G. (2006) *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **81**: 1760-1766.

Nelson P.E., Desjardins A.E. and Plattner, R.D. (1993) *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **31**: 233-252.

Nielsen M.N., Sorensen J., Fels J. and Pedersen C. (1998) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **64**: 3563-3569.

Nigam S.K., Karnik A.B., Chattopadhyay P., Lakkad B.C., Venkaiah K. and Kashyap S.K. (1993) International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, **65**, A193.

Niranjana S.R. (2004) J. Mycol. Pl. Pathol. 34: 714-723.

Nitoda T., Usuki H., Kurata A. and Kanzaki H. (2003) J. Pesticide Sci. 28: 33-36.

Odds F.C. (1985) Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 12: 45-93.

Onte E., Gomez M.J., Guerra I., Llobell A. and Bautista J. (2003) *Bulletin of Polish Academy of Sciences: Biological Sciences* **51**: 25-34.

Paau A.S. (1988) *TIBTECH* 6:276-279.

Pandey A. (2003) Biochem. Eng. J. 13: 81-84.

Parameswaran B., Pusztahelyi T., Nagy V., Sandhya C., szakacs G., Pocsi I. and Pandey A. (2005) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **36**: 880-887.

Patibanda A.K., Upadhyay J.P. and Mukhopadhyay A.N. (2002) *J. Biol. Control* **16**: 57-63.

Patil M.B. and Rane M.S. (1982) Pesticides 16: 23-24.

Patil R.S., Deshpande A.M., Natu A.A., Nahar P., Chitnis M., Ghormade V., Laxman R.S., Rokade S. and Deshpande M.V. (2001) *J. Biol. Control* **15**: 157-164.

Patil R.S., Ghormade V. and Deshpande M.V. (2000) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* 26: 473-478.

Pearson R.C., Riegel D.G. and Gadoury D.M. (1994) Plant Dis. 78: 164-158.

Peters J. and Sypherd P.S. (1979) J. Bacteriol. 137: 1134-1139.

Pereira R.M. and Roberts D.W. (1991) J. Eco. Entomol. 84: 1658-1661.

Picard K., Tirilly Y. and Benhamou N. (2000) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **66**: 4305-4314.

Pignede G., Wang H., Fudalei F., Gaillardia C., Semon M. and Nicaud J.M. (2000) J. Bacteriol. **182**: 2802-2810.

Pokharkar, D. (2004) In: *Proceedings of The international workshop on entomopathogenic fungi avaluable alternative to fight against insect pests*, pp. 61-66, Deshpande, M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Poole A.R. and Whitaker G. (1997) J. Agric. Food Chem. 45: 249-152.

Prasad R. (2004) In: *Proceedings of The international workshop on entomopathogenic fungi a valuable alternative to fight against insect pests*, pp. 135-138, Deshpande, M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Prasad R.D. and Rangeshwaran R. (2000) Pl. Dis. Res. 15: 38-42.

Prasad R.D., Rangashwaran R. and Sreeramkumar P. (1999) *J. Mycol. Pl. Pathol.* **29**: 184-188.

Pu X.Y., Feng M.G., Shi C.H. (2005) Crop Prot. 24: 167-175.

Punja Z.K and Utkhede R.S (2003) TRENDS Biotechnol. 21: 400-407.

Quesada\_Morga E. and Vey A. (2003) *Biocontrol Sci. Technol.* **13**: 323-340. Ramakrishnan G., Nakkeeran S., Chandrasekar G. and Doriswamy S. (2001) In: *Proceedings of the III Asia Pacific Crop Protection Conference*, Suchak's Consultancy Services (ed.), pp. 20-39, New Delhi, India.

Rajamohanan, P. R., Ganapathy, S., Vyas, P. R., Ravikumar, A., Deshpande, M. V. (1996) *J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods* **31**: 151-163.

Ramirez, M. G., Rojas Avelizapa, L. I., Rojas Avelizapa, N. G. and Cruz Camarillo, R. (2004) *J. Microbiol. Meths.* **56**: 213-219.

Ramot O., Cohen-Kupiec R. and Benitez T. (2000) Mycol. Res. 104: 415-420.

Rangeshwaran R., Prasad R.D. and Anuroop C.P. (2001) J. Biol. Control 15: 165-170.

Rast D.M., Horsch M., Furter R. and Gooday G.W. (1991) *J. Gen. Microbiol.* 137: 2797-2810.

Rattanakit N., Plikomol A., Yano S., Wakayama M. and Tachiki T. (2002) J. Biosci. Bioeng. 93: 550-556.

Rawat R.L. and Shukla A. (2001) J. Biol. Control. 15: 171-176.

Reddy, K.V.S. and Zehr, U.B. (2004) In: *Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Crop Science*, Brisbane, Australia.

Redinbaugh M.G. and Campbell W.H. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 3380-3385.

Reissig J.L., Strominger J.L. and Leloir L.F. (1955) J. Biol. Chem. 217: 959-966.

Reynolds S.E. (1987) Pestic. Sci. 20: 131-146.

Rogalski J., Krasowska B., Glowiak G., Wojeik W. and Targonski Z. (1997) Acta Microbiol. Pol. 46: 363-375.

Rotem Y., Yarden O. and Sztejnberg A. (1999) Phytopathology 89: 631-638.

Ruiz-Herrera J. and Sentandreu R. (2002) Mycol. Res. 178: 477-483.

Ruiz-Herrera J., Leon C.G., Guevara-Olvera L., and Carabez-Trejo A. (1995) *Microbiology* **141**: 695-703.

Sadana, J. C., Shewale, J. G. and Deshpande, M. V. (1979) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **38**: 730-733.

Sahai A.S. and Manocha M.S. (1993) FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 11: 317-338.

Saju K.A., Anandraj M. and Sarma Y.R. (2002) Indian Phytopath. 55: 277-281.

San-Blas G.and San-Blas F. (1985) In: *Fungal Dimorphism with emphasis on fungi pathogenic to humans*, Szaniszlo P.J. (ed.), pp: 93-120, Plenum Publishing Corp., New York.

Sandhya C., Adapa L.K., Nampoothiri K.M., Binod P., Szakacs G. and Pandey A. (2004) *J. Basic Microbiol.* **44**: 49-58.

Sandhya C., Binod P., Nampoothiri K.M., Szakacs G. and Pandey A. (2005) *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **127**: 1-15.

Sarhy-Bagnon V., Lozano P., Saucedo-Castaneda G. and Roussos S. (2000) *Proc. Biochem.* **36**: 103-109.

Schmidt-Tiedemann A., Friedrich L., Takehiko F., Zebitz CPW. and Arn H. (1999) *IOBC wprs Bulletin* **22** (9)

Screen S.E., Hu G. and St. Leger R.J. (2001) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 78: 262-266.

Selvakumar R., Srivastava K.D., Agarwal R., singh D.V. and Dureja P. (2000) *Indian Phytopathol.* **53**: 185-189.

Serrano-Carreon L., Balderas-Ruiz K. and Galindo E. (2002) *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **58**: 170-174.

Shaban G.M and El-Komy H.M. (2001) Mycopathologia 151: 139-146.

Shah P.A., Aebi M. and Tuor U. (1998) Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64: 4260-4263.

Shaikh S.A. and Deshpande M.V. (1993) World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 9: 468-475.

Sharma K.C. and Bhargava M.C. (2004) *Resistant Pest Management Newsletter* 14: 16-18.

Shindia A.A., El Hawa M.I. Abou, Shalaby K. El- S.M. (2001) *Egyptian J. Microbiol.* **36**: 119-134.

Shternshis M. (2005) J. Agric. Technol. 1: 1-18.

Shternshis M.V., Beljaev A.A., shpatova T.V., Bokova J.V. and Duzhak A.B. (2002a) *Biocontrol* **47**: 696-706.

Shternshis M.V., Ovchinnikova L.A., Duzhak A.B. and Tomilova O.G. (2002b) *Arch. Phytopathol. Plant Prot.* **35**: 161-165.

Simberloff D. and Stiling P. (1996a) *Ecology* 77: 1965-1974.

Simberloff D. and Stiling P. (1996b) Biol. Conserv. 78: 185-192.

Singh R.K. and Dwivedi R.S. (1988) Pesticides 22: 20-23

Singh U.S. and Zaidi N. W. (2005) In: *Proceedings of ICAR-CABI Workshop on biopesticide formulations and application*, pp. 150-158. Rabindra R.J., Hussaini S.S. and Ramanujam B. (eds.), PDBC Bangalore, India.

Sivan A. and Chet I. (1993) Crop Prot. 12: 380-386.

Smirnnoff W. A. (1973) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 21:116-118.

Smirnnoff W. A. (1974) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 24: 344-348.

Soll D.R. (1985) In: *Fungal Dimorphism with emphasis on fungi pathogenic to humans*, Szaniszlo P.J. (ed.), pp.167-195, Plenum, New York.

Somogyi M. (1952) J. Biol. Chem. 195: 19-23.

Sosa-Gomez D.R., Boucias D.G., Nation J.L. (1997) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 69:31-39.

Soytong K. and Rattanacherdchai K. (2005) J. Agric. Technol. 1: 19-32.

Soytong K., Srinon, W., Rattanacherdchai K. and Kanokmedhakul S. (2005) *J. Agric. Technol.* **1**: 33-41.

Spadaro D. and Gullino M. L. (2005) Crop Prot. 24: 601-613.

Srinivasan R. and Uthamsamy S. Shah A.H. (2001) In: *Proceedings of the III Asia Pacific Crop Protection Conference*, Suchak's Consultancy Services (ed.), pp. 111-114, New Delhi, India.

St Leger R.J., Cooper R.M. and Charnley A.K. (1986) J. Gen. Microbiol. 132: 1509-1517.

St. Leger R.J., Joshi L., Bidochka M. J. and Roberts D.W. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.USA 93: 6349-6353

St. Leger R.J., Stapls R.C. and Roberts D.W. (1993) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 61: 81-84.

Stephens R. (2002) NGIA-The Nursery Papers 14: 1-2.

Strasser H., Vey A. and Butt T.M. (2000) Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 10: 717-735.

Strasser H. (2003) In: Entomopathogens and insect parasitic nematodes: Current research and perspectives in pest biocontrol, *IOBC wprs Bulletin*, Papierok B. (ed.), **26**: 5-8.

Sugimoto M., Koike M., Hiyama N. and Nagao H. (2003) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 82:176-187.

Sugita T., Nakajima M., Ikeda R., Matsushima T. and Shinoda T. (2002) *J.Clin.Microbiol.* 40:1826-1830.

Sullivan P.A., McHigh N.J., Romana L.K. and Shepherd M.G. (1984) *J. Gen. Microbiol.* **130**: 2213-2218.

Sundheim L. and Krekling T. (1982) Phytopathol. Z. 104: 202-210.

Suresh P.V. and Chandrasekaran M. (1999) Proc. Biochem. 34: 257-267.

Szabo R. and Stofanikova V. (2002) FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 206: 45-50.

Szabo, R. (1999) Folia. Microbiol. 44:19-24.

Tanaka H., Ogasawara N., Nakajima T. and Tamari K. (1970) J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 16: 39-60.

Tengerdy R.P. (1985) Trends Biotechnol. 3: 96-99.

Thangavelu R., Palaniswami A. and Velazhahan R. (2004) *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **103**:259-263.

Thirumalachar M.J. (1956) In: *Antibiotics*- A Symposium held at HA (Pimpari), pp. 21-23.

Thomas K.C., Khachatourians G.G. and Ingledew W.M. (1987) *Can. J. Microbiol.* **33**:12-20.

Tikar S.N., Nimbalkar S.A., Satpute N.S., Moharil M.P. and Rao N.G.V. (2004) *Resistant Pest Management Newsletter*, **14**: 5-8.

Torres R., Usall J., Teixido M. and Vinas I. (2003) J. Appl. Microbiol. 94: 330-339.

Tsror L., Barak R. and Sneh B. (2001) Crop Prot. 20: 145-150.

Uma Devi K., Murali Mohan C.H., Padamavathi J. and ramesh K. (2003) *Biocontrol Sci. Technol.* **13**:367-371.

Uma Maheshwari M.P., Muthusamy M. and Alice D. (2002) J. Biol. Control 16: 135-140.

Urquhart E.J. and Punja Z.K. (2002) Can. J. Microbiol. 48: 219-229.

Valadares-Inglis M.C. and Azevedo J.L. (1997) Brazil. J. Genet. 20: 171-175.

Vey A., Hoagland R.E., Butt T.M. (2001) In: *Fungi as biocontrol agents: progress, problems and potential*, pp. 311-346, Butt T.M., Jackson C.W. and Magan N. (eds.), CAB Publishing Co., UK.

Viaud M., Couteaudier Y. and Riba G. (1998) Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64: 88-96.

Vimala Devi P.S. (1994) J. Invertbr. Pathol. 63: 145-150.

Vimala Devi P.S. and Prasad Y.G. (1996) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 68: 91-93.

Vimala Devi P.S., Chowdary A. and Prasad Y.G. (2000) Mycopathologia 151: 35-39.

Vimala Devi, P.S., Prasad, Y.G., Chowdary, D.A., Rao, L.M. and Balkrishnan, K. (2003) *Mycopathologia* **156**, 365-373.

Vyas, P.R. and Deshpande, M.V. (1989) J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 35: 343-350.

Wahab, S. (2004) In: *Proceedings of The international workshop on entomopathogenic fungi a valuable alternative to fight against insect pests*, pp. 185-206, Deshpande M.V. (ed.), National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Wang C., Skrobek A. and Butt T.M. (2004) J. Invertebr. Pathol. 85: 168-174.

Wang S.-L. and Huang J.-R. (2001) Enzyme Microb. Technol. 28: 376-382.

Wendland J., Klaus B.L. and Kothe E. (1996). Fungal Genet. N. Lett. 43: 54-55.

Whipps J.M. (1997) In: *Modern Soil Microbiology*, pp. 525-540, Van Elass J.D., Trevors J.T. and Wellington E.M.H. (eds.), Marcel Dekker, New York.

Whips J.M. and Lumsden R.D. (2000) In: *Fungi as Biocontrol Agents, Progress, Problems and Potential*, pp. 9-22, Butt T.M., Jackson C.W. and Magan N. (eds.), CABI Publishing.

WhiteT.J., Bruns T., Lee S. and Taylor J. (1990). In PCR Protocols: A Guide to Methods and Applications, Chapter 38, pp. 315 – 322, Academic Press Inc.

Wilson M. (1997) J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 19: 188-191.

Wong S.S.Y., Ho T.Y.C., Ngan A.H.Y., Woo P.C.Y., Que T.-L. and Yuen K.-Y. (2001) *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **39**: 1416-1421.

Woo J.H., Kitamura E., Myouga H. and Kamei Y. (2002a) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **68**: 2666-2675.

Wraight S.P., Jackson M.A. and de Kock S.L. (2001) In: *Fungi as biocontrol agents*, pp. 253-287, Butt T.M., Jackson C. and Magan N. (eds.), CABI Publishing.

Ye S.D., Ying S.H., Chen C. and Feng M.G. (2006) Biotechnol. Lett. 28: 799-804.

Zaldivar M., Velasquez J.C., Contreras I. and Perez L.M. (2001) *Electronic J. Biotechnol.* **4**: 160-164.

Zang K.-B., Wang X.-G. and Huang M.-Z. (2001) In: *Proceedings of the III Asia Pacific Crop Protection Conference*, Suchak's Consultancy Services (ed.), pp. 2-7, New Delhi, India.

Zeilinger S., Galhaup C., Payer K., Woo S.L., Mach R.L., Fekete C., Lorito M. and Kubicek C.P. (1999) *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **26**: 131-140.

Zhang J., Cai J., Wu K., Jin S., Pan R. and Fan M. (2004) *Yingyong Shengtai Xuebao* **15**: 863-866.

Zhang W.M. and Watson A.K. (1997) Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 7: 75-86.

Zhang Z. and Yuen G.Y. (2000) Biol. Control 18: 277-286.

Zheng Z. and Shetty K. (1998) Proc. Biochem. 33: 323-329.

Zimmermann G. (1986) J. Appl. Entomol. 102: 213-215.

Zindarsic P., Marosek N. and Pavko A. (1999) Folia Microbiol. 44: 557-560.

Zindarsic P. and Pavco A. (2001) Food Technol. Biotechnol. 39: 237-252.

Zohar-Perez C., Chernin L., Chet I. and Nussinovitch A. (2003) *Radiat. Res.* **160**: 198-204.

## List of Research Papers and Reviews / Patents / Presentations

## **Research Papers and reviews**

F. Shirazi, <u>M. Kulkarni</u> and M.V.Deshpande (2006) A rapid and sensitive method for screening of chitinase inhibitors using Ostazin Brilliant Red labeled chitin as a substrate for chitinase assay. In: Letters in Applied Microbiology (In Press)

S. Chavan, <u>M. Kulkarni</u> and M.V. Deshpande (2006) Status of Microbial Pesticides in India In: Annual Review of Plant Pathology, Vol. 4, (ed. S.M. Reddy and H.N. Gour) (In press).

S. Chavan, M. Kulye, <u>M. Kulkarni</u>, and M.V. Deshpande (2006) *Myrothecium verrucaria*: A potential biocontrol agent for the control of insect pest. In : Proceedings of the National Symposium of Biomanagement of Insect pests, Annamalainagar, (In Press).

## Patents

M.V. Deshpande, S. Chavan and M. Kulkarni.

A composition for controlling wooly aphid infestation and a method of treatment thereof. Indian patent has been filed in 2004, File No. NF 414/2004.

M.V. Deshpande, <u>M. Kulkarni</u>, M. Chitnis and R. Patil. A method for preparation of mycolytic enzymes containing mainly chitinase. Indian patent has been filed in 2001, File No. NF116/93, Application No. 110.DEL.2001.

## Presentations

N. Doiphode, C. Joshi, N. Sriniwas, <u>M. Kulkarni</u>, R. Meti, V. Ghormade and M.V. Deshpande. (2005) Fungal dimorphism and antifungal strategies.
A poster was presented in Feb. 2005 Research Student Meet, NCL, Pune.

M. Kulye, P.Nahar, S. Chavan, <u>M. kulkarni</u> and M. V. Deshpande. (2002)

Fungi and fungal products as a potential biocontrol agents.

A poster was presented at Asian Congress of Mycology and Plant pathology, University of Mysore, Mysore.

<u>M. Kulkarni</u>, R. Patil and M. V. Deshpande. (1998) Influence of different morphological forms of *Myrothecium verrucaria* on chitinase production in submerged fermentation.

A poster was presented at National Conference on: Frontiers in Biotechnology, Aurangabad.